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Chairman’s Statement

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

Since the beginning of the year, the real estate industry as a whole
still faced severe downward pressure. Under this background,
the meeting of the Political Bureau on 30 April set the direction of
property market policies, proposing “to coordinate research on
policies and measures to digest housing inventory and optimize
incremental housing”. A meeting chaired by the State Council on 17
May released a “package” of new real estate policies for “stabilizing
the market and destocking”. Following the implementation of a
number of policies, the second-hand housing transactions in some
core cities have shown initial signs of improvement, but the overall
new housing market has not improved significantly, and it still takes
time for the policies to take effect.

Faced with severe challenges of the industry, the Group has always
adhered to the corporate vision of “becoming a city builder for a
better life” and carried forward the corporate culture of “integrity,
pragmatism, simplicity and efficiency”, setting goals for 2024,
uniting in its efforts and making proactive response. Firstly, the
Group strengthened its marketing efforts and balanced quantity with
price. We formulated targeted and different marketing strategies
and methods according to market differentiation to proactively
respond to market changes, and enhanced inventory clearing and
cash collection management, striving to achieve our sales targets.
We enhanced the construction of marketing system, innovated
online marketing methods, and at the same time carried out
external channel cooperation to expand online and offline sources of
customers. Through internal training on marketing, we strengthened
market prediction and enhanced marketing capability. Secondly,
we reduced costs and ensured financial stability by means of cost-
saving and cost control. The scope of control has been expanded
from construction work to marketing and administration, etc.,
leveraging the advantages of centralized purchase to reduce
procurement costs. We proactively optimized our debt structure
and financing costs to ensure the safety of cash flow. Thirdly, the
Group focused on core business and accelerated cash collection
to support cash flow. Fourthly, the Group constructed with
craftsmanship and ensured quality delivery. We made continuous
improvement in construction control and established a whole
process quality control system covering from material quality, site
management and construction inspection to delivery evaluation.
During 2024, the Group in total delivered properties amounting to
approximately RMB8,254 million, with an area of approximately
753,249 sg.m..
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EEHE(E)

As residents’ income expectations and expectations of housing
price declines have not improved significantly, it is expected
that in the 2025, China’s real estate market will continue to face
adjustment pressure, and the new housing market may still be in
the bottom stage. For real estate enterprises, how to survive is
still their first priority. Under the circumstance in which the supply
and demand relationship of real estate has reversed, the key for
survival and development of real estate enterprises lies in reinforcing
internal strengths, improving operational capacity, enhancing
product capability, and continuing to create value for customers.
The Group will focus on product building and customer services
based on customers’ needs, and ensure delivery as well as quality.
We will strictly control three major expenses, keep expenditure
within the limits of revenues and focus on cash collection to ensure
cash flow. We will adjust our financing structure to further reduce
financing expense and continue to conduct talent review to keep
the organization streamlined and flexible. We will also identify
excellent talents with potential, strengthen incentives and adhere to
performance orientation to ensure operating results. At the same
time, we will actively fulfill social responsibility and enhance the
comprehensive brand strength.

The Group will continue to proactively respond to market
opportunities and challenges, and continue to create value as a
token of appreciation to our customers and shareholders for their
continued support for and trust in the Group.

Lui Ming

Chairman
28 March 2025
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

BERENmED I

General Overview

Ganglong China Property is an established property developer in China.
The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code:
6968.HK) by way of the Global Offering on 15 July 2020. This marked
an important milestone in the development of the Company.

Headquartered in Shanghai, the Group is a real estate developer in
China. Adhering to our core value of “striving for innovation, building
with integrity”, the Group believes that we have developed splendid
reputation in our market for constant innovation, excellent quality of our
various products and credibility.

Despite the supportive policies introduced by the PRC Central
Government, the Group had experienced another very difficult year in
2024. Nevertheless, the Group managed to achieve contracted sales of
approximately RMB5,409 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

In the coming year, the Group will continue to find opportunities. We will
make progress in the development of the business development of the
Group to reward our shareholders.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Business Review

The Group derives its revenue primarily from sales of properties. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately RMB8,254 million.

Contracted sales

For the year ended 31 December 2024, including those of joint ventures
and associates, the Group recorded unaudited contracted sales of
approximately RMB5,409 million. Contracted gross floor area (“GFA”)
sold was approximately 529,789 sq.m. The average selling price (“ASP”)
of our contracted sales for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately RMB10,210 per sg.m.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had contract liabilities of
approximately RMB2,746 million.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Sales of properties

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised the
revenue from sales of properties of approximately RMB8,254 million.
The Group recognised total GFA of approximately 753,249 sqg.m.

The following table sets out the recognised sales and GFA sold by type
of properties and city for the year ended 31 December 2024:

E SRS

HZE2024F12A31 B ILFE - AEEHERES
EWNZOARES 254 BT - NEBFERAESL
M E4753,249F /3K o

TREHEE2024F12 A31 B It FERYEER
IR T FERR A S S 5B MR R TIAS

Recognised Recognised Recognised
GFA ASP revenue
[=FiE X5
EEEE FHEE R E
sqg.m. RMB/sg.m. RMB’000
FHK ARE S FHAK ARETTT
Residential, retail and commercial ~ (£F  EERF %

Shaoxing 48 107,053 13,009 1,392,679
Huaian EZ 96,293 9,779 941,620
Taizhou BN 77,472 10,925 846,355
Yancheng B3, 83,039 8,470 708,368
Wuhu #EH 83,741 7,446 623,559
Fuyang B85 66,249 8,903 589,799
Nanjing BR 49,849 11,067 551,669
Hefei e 51,868 10,599 549,757
Foshan 135 1L 33,355 13,447 448,523
Yangzhou I 44,999 8,645 389,002
Suzhou BN 21,948 13,450 295,202
Haian NoEey 22,042 12,148 267,762
Huangshan =1 15,341 10,596 162,546

Car parks and garage/storage and (2545 e /&~ (TR R A M
other remaining units JEEE 492,356
Total et 753,249 10,958 8,254,197
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Land reserves

As of 31 December 2024, the Group (together with its joint ventures
and associates) had 55 projects with land reserves amounting to
approximately 4,018,441 sq.m., of which 48 projects were located in
cities in the Yangtze River Delta region.

The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the total land reserve
of our Group by provinces or cities as of 31 December 2024

T Hh A

R2024F 128310 - A5BE(EREGE D
E¥RBenn)EASSHEIER - LHHEELS
4,018,441 753K - HA48EAEE K= Aib&
KIS ©

TREFIHA2024F12 A31 B AREBIZA DM T
2o H Lt EAEELETBERMA -

Total land Percentage of

reservet! total land bank

Provinces/Cities T it 1L ih B AR

B3 WH o WEDL

(sq.m.) (%)

(FFFK) (%)

Guangdong = 1,606,729 40

Jiangsu JLER 1,216,102 30

Anhui 2 592,186 15

Guizhou =0\ 267,212 7

Zhejiang AT 154,747 4

Henan A 140,176 3

Sichuan gl 26,504 1

Shanghai & 14,785 0

Total @t 4,018,441 100
Notes: BtsE -

(1)  Total land reserve equals to the sum of (i) total GFA available for sale
and total leasable GFA for completed properties; (ii) total GFA for
properties under development; and (i) total GFA for properties held for
future development.

(2)  For projects developed by our subsidiaries, joint ventures or associated

companies, 100% of total GFA are accounted for the respective
projects.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Financial Review

Overall performance

During the year ended 31 December 2024, total revenue of the Group
was approximately RMB8,254 million. Gross loss and net loss of the
Group were approximately RMB125 million and RMB982 million, for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately RMB8,254 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 56%. The decrease was primarily attributable
to lower contracted sales and recognition of properties sold.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales of the Group mainly represents the costs incurred
directly for sale of properties, which comprised construction costs, land
costs, capitalised interest and impairment recognised for properties
under development and completed properties held for sale.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of sales of the Group
was approximately RMB8,380 million (2023: RMB15,190 million),
including a provision for impairment recognised for properties under
development and completed properties held for sale of approximately
RMB610 million (2023: RMB671 million).

Gross loss

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross loss of the Group
was approximately RMB125 million. Gross profit margin was primarily
affected by the selling prices, the construction costs and land costs of
our properties delivered. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recorded a gross loss margin of approximately 2% as compared
to gross profit margin of approximately 14% in 2023. The change in the
margin was mainly due to the decrease in selling prices of our properties
delivered.

Bt 7% [E] 8
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ARHEB254FHETT - H E2024F 12 A31H LLF
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Other income and other gains, net

The Group had other income of approximately RMB11 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to income of
approximately RMB27 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, it primarily consisted of
rental, management and consulting service income of approximately
RMB26 million netted off by charges for tax payment extension of
approximately RMB8 million and compensation in relation to delivery of
properties of approximately RMB9 million (2023: rental, management
and consulting service income of approximately RMB40 million netted
off by loss on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately RMB13 million).

The management and consulting services mainly comprise the
assignment of staff and personnel to support the operation of the
relevant project companies including but not limited to services with
respect to managerial, operational, financial and marketing aspects and
are provided exclusively to the Group’s joint ventures and associates in
relation to the property development projects.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses decreased by
approximately 50% year-on-year from approximately RMB368 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB184 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024. The decrease was attributable
to the decrease in recognition of properties sold and sales commission,
the better control measures in marketing and advertising costs and the
reduction in staff costs.

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses decreased by
approximately 32% year-on-year from approximately RMB312 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB213
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The decrease in general
and administrative expenses was primarily due to further organisation
streamlining to lift efficiency at a lower cost.

Fair value loss on investment properties

The Group develops and holds certain retail units for rental income and/
or capital appreciation. The fair value loss on investment properties
amounted to approximately RMB15 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB30 million).

Provision for impairment of financial assets

For the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment of financial assets
amounted to approximately RMB45 million, which was mainly due to
the Group’s provision for other receivables and balances with associates
and joint ventures after the assessment of expected credit losses by
considering historical loss experiences, existing market conditions and
forward looking information (2023: RMB56 million).

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Finance costs — net

Net finance costs of the Group increased by approximately 13% year
on-year from approximately RMB79 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB89 million for the year ended
31 December 2024. The increase was due to the lower average cash
balances to generate finance income.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates

The Group accounts for the results of joint ventures and associates using
the equity method, which mainly represent the share of profits related to
the projects delivered during the relevant period that have been offset
by losses incurred by other joint ventures and associates.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates was approximately
a loss of RMB19 million and RMB24 million for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, respectively. The change was in line with the
decrease in revenue from sales of properties of the joint ventures and
associates.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses decreased by approximately 63% from
approximately RMB828 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB303 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
which was in line with the decrease in revenue from sales of properties.

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year
The Group’s loss and total comprehensive expenses was approximately
RMB982 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: profit and
total comprehensive income of RMB718 million). The loss attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately RMB658 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: profit attributable to owners of the
Company of RMB148 million).

The basic and diluted loss per share of the Company was RMBO0.41 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: basic and diluted
earnings of RMBO0.09 per share).
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group has always pursued a prudent treasury management policy
and actively manages its liquidity position to cope with daily operation
and demands for capital for future development.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had mainly
financed its working capital, capital expenditure and other capital
requirements primarily through cash generated from operations,
including proceeds from the pre-sale and sales of our properties.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had total cash (including restricted
cash, pledged time deposits and cash and cash equivalents) of
approximately RMB839 million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
RMB1,836 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate new
borrowings obtained by the Group amounted to approximately RMB208
million and repayment of borrowings was approximately RMB480
million. As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s total bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB4,552 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 6% as compared to approximately
RMB4,824 million as of 31 December 2023. Amongst bank and other
borrowings, approximately RMB2,921 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately RMB2,797 million) will be repayable within one
year and approximately RMB1,631 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately RMB2,027 million) will be repayable after one year. An
aggregate principal amount of approximately RMB193 million of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings had not been repaid according
to their scheduled repayment dates, triggering (a) an event of default
for senior notes of approximately RMB1,282 million; and (b) certain
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB932
million becoming repayable on demand. Details of the going concern
basis and plans and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and
financial position are disclosed in Note 2(c) in the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Senior notes

On 6 November 2023, all of the outstanding senior notes of
approximately principal amount of US$145 million was redeemed in full,
and the redemption price was paid in kind with new notes issued in an
aggregate principal amount of US$164,411,875 which bear interest at
a fixed rate of 9.5% per annum, payable annually in arrears (the “2024
Senior Notes”).
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On 18 November 2024, all of the outstanding 2024 Senior Notes was
redeemed in full, and the redemption price was paid in kind with new
notes issued in an aggregate principal amount of US$180,551,641
which bear interest at a fixed rate of 9.5% per annum, payable semi-
annually in arrears.

As at 31 December 2024, an aggregate principal amount of
approximately RMB193 million of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings had not been repaid according to their scheduled repayment
dates, triggering an event of default for senior notes. The Group has
been actively negotiating with the major noteholder of the Group’s
senior notes, who is interested in 89.7% of the Group’s outstanding
senior notes, with a view to waiving the event of default resulted from
the non-payment of an onshore loan. As at date of this annual report,
the Company has not received any acceleration notice in connection
therewith from the trustee and holders of its senior notes.

Key financial ratios

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s net gearing ratio (calculated as
the total borrowings net of restricted cash, pledged time deposits and
cash and cash equivalents divided by total equity) was 46% (as at 31
December 2023: 26%). As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s liabilities
to assets ratio after excluding contract liabilities was approximately
61% (as at 31 December 2023: 50%). As of 31 December 2024, the
Group’s total cash to short term debt ratio (calculated as cash and
bank balances divided by short term bank and other borrowings) was
0.3 times (as at 31 December 2023: 0.7 times). The Group will continue
to manage its working capital efficiently through working capital
management policies and continue to utilise the Group’s available
financial resources including proceeds from sales and pre-sales of
property projects, draw down of banking facilities and other borrowings
and optimise the payment schedule to contractors through negotiation
based on the latest construction progress.

The Group’s current ratio is calculated based on its total current assets
divided by its total current liabilities as of the respective dates. The
Group’s current ratio had decreased from approximately 1.67 times as
of 31 December 2023 to approximately 1.62 times as of 31 December
2024. The current ratio was maintained at a stable level throughout the
years.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates its business in China. Other than the
offshore senior notes which are denominated in USD, the Group did not
have any other material direct exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations
for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Directors expect that any
fluctuation of RMB’s exchange rate will not have any material adverse
effect on the operation of the Group.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from its borrowings. Except for
the offshore senior notes the interest rate of which is fixed, most of the
Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB, and their interest rates
on the Group’s borrowings are primarily affected by the benchmark
interest rates set by the People’s Bank of China. The Group manages
its interest rate risk by closely monitoring the trend of interest rate
fluctuation and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk exposure, as
well as regulating the debt portfolio of the Group.

Pledge of assets

As of 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings were secured by its pledged time deposit, equity interests of
group companies, properties under development, completed properties
held for sale and investment properties with total carrying values of
approximately RMB13,060 million (31 December 2023: RMB9,815
million).

Commitments
As of 31 December 2024, the Group had commitments that are
contracted but not provided for as follows:

=B

R ER B O M) 2 LB 2 B B SR o BRI 2K Bl E RO B =
BEZEIN  AEBREDEFTAAREEHE
AEBERON XTI E2ZHEARRITRENE
EREZE  ARBBATESRNENSBE
RESAEENERRNTZE  URERAKE
EBEE AEREFERR o

EEIKE

M2024512A31H - AEEME TRITREME
FEEREEREANAREA13,060H &L (20234F
128318 : ARM9815F & L) BRI T T
FoEEQRNBRAER - FAERYE - FED
ENERTYERIEEMERBER -

A
202412 A31H » AEB BT HEEREEN
HGENT

31 December 2024
2024%F12H31H

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR¥FT) (AR¥FT)
Contracted but not provided for EHESEEESET:] 3,733,793 4,245 972

The amount represented capital commitment for construction contracts
and agreed proposed development contracts determined based on
current estimated budgets.

Financial guarantees and contingent liabilities
As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s total financial guarantees are as
follows:

ZEBERBEMGAREECNERAORG
ERRFE A W BAAGE

BB ERENEEE
M2024F12A318 » AEBERBIHBERNOT :

31 December 2024
2024%F12H31H

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR¥F ) (AR¥ETFIT)
Guarantee in respect of mortgage ARETEERENLBRE
facilities for certain purchasers EH R 6,042,682 7,653,612
Guarantee provided for the borrowings A& & ¥ E IR MR
of joint ventures IR 234,170 234,170
Total st 6,276,852 7,887,782
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had arranged for
bank financing for certain purchasers of our properties and provided
guarantees to secure obligations of such purchasers for repayments.
Such guarantees periods start from the date of grant of mortgage, and
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership
certificate to the purchaser; or (ii) the satisfaction of mortgage loans
by the purchasers of our properties. Pursuant to the terms of these
guarantees, upon default of mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the bank may demand us to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
of the loan together with accrued interest owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks. Under such circumstances, the Group are
entitled to forfeit the relevant purchaser’s deposit and resell the property
to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the bank. The Directors
consider that the likelihood of default of payments by the purchasers is
minimal and the Group’s credit risk is significantly mitigated.

The Group also provided guarantee for borrowings of the Group’s joint
ventures and associates from time to time in proportion to its equity
interests. The relevant borrowings were primarily from banks to finance
property development projects of these joint ventures and associates,
whereby the land use rights of the joint ventures and associates were
pledged to the banks and our guarantees were provided in addition
to the pledges. The Directors consider that the likelihood of default in
payments by the joint ventures and associates is minimal and therefore
the financial guarantees measured at fair value is immaterial and no
liabilities was recognised.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Future plans for material investments

The Group will continue to invest in its property development projects
and acquire suitable land parcels, if it thinks fit. These investments
would be funded by internal resources and/or external borrowings. Save
as disclosed above, the Group did not have any future plans for material
investments as of the date of this report.

Human resources

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 299 employees
(81 December 2023: 402 employees). Total expenditure on salary and
welfare of the Group’s employees for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately RMB111 million (for the year ended
31 December 2023: approximately RMB202 million). The Group has
adopted a system of determining the remuneration of employees based
on the performance of employees. In general, the Group provides
competitive remuneration packages to employees, which include
basic salaries, performance-based rewards and year-end bonus. The
Group also pays social security insurance for the Group’s employees,
including medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, endowment
insurance, maternity insurance, unemployment insurance and housing
funds. In terms of employee training, the Group provides consistent and
systematic training to employees based on their positions and expertise
in order to enhance their expertise in real estate and their related fields.

Future Outlook

“Houses are not for speculation” determines that the overall keynote
of the property market shall be of stability. Whether it is stabilizing land
prices, housing prices, or expectations, it is all for the stable and sound
development of the real estate market, and for the people to have a
home to live in.

The real estate industry has undergone profound changes but is
still facing considerable challenges. The market has become more
demanding than ever in terms of quality, professionalism and services.
The only way we can survive the new cycle is to stay united, pragmatic,
aggressive and hardworking. With gratitude and the concept of open to
mutual benefit, we will work together with property owners, employees,
investors and suppliers to create common prosperity.

Summary of property development

The Group’s land reserve represents the sum of (i) total GFA available
for sale or lease for completed properties which also includes completed
GFA that have been pre-sold but not yet delivered, (ii) total planned
GFA for properties under development, and (jii) total estimated GFA for
properties held for future development. The total land reserve of the
Group represents the total land reserve of projects developed by the
Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.
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The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the total land reserve
of the Group by geographical location as of 31 December 2024

TREHNEE2024F 12 A31 HIRMH BN B £ D 55
BRAEE L E AR R ERERA

Completed
GFA available Planned GFA Total land % of total
Property projects developed Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of  land reserve
by the Group's subsidiaries® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Group!  of the Group
AfHE/ AEE
AR RGN RREH REH 1t
sl EREERELER HEHE CAIREER BEER HREUREER  IHEGERY B2NESM
(insq.m.) (insq.m.) (insq.m.) (insq.m,)
(FAX) (FAX) (FAX) (F7K)
Anhui ZH Fuyang =1 1 408,933 - - 408,933 10%
Hefei & 1 2,211 28,559 - 30,830 1%
Huangshan £l 1 47,063 - - 47,063 1%
Wuhu -3 1 9,562 95,798 - 105,360 3%
Guangdong ER Guangzhou B 1 - 183,371 631,314 814,685 20%
Huizhou U 1 4,386 - - 4,386 1%
Foshan il 1 2,987 136,331 - 139,318 3%
Guizhou BN Panzhou BN 1 - 33,060 234,152 267,212 7%
Henan e[ Luoyang B 1 21814 118,362 - 140,176 3%
Jiangsu iIE Changshu BH 2 13,842 - - 13,842 0%
Changzhou M 7 35,810 - - 35,810 1%
Funing 8% 1 44,390 119,513 . 163,903 4%
Haf'an 8% 3 33,402 - - 33,402 1%
Haimen st 1 7,158 - - 7,158 0%
Huai'an i3 2 34,611 11,089 - 45,700 1%
Jingjiang B 1 = 111,928 - 111,928 3%
Lianyungang BEE 1 602 - - 602 0%
Nanjing R 2 41812 3,055 - 4,867 1%
Nantong il 1 - 81,919 - 81,919 2%
Taizhou ZN 1 - 130,045 - 130,045 3%
Yancheng By 3 18,951 49,068 - 68,009 2%
Yixing HE 1 17,230 - - 17,230 0%
Yizheng & 1 18,076 109,33 - 102,441 3%
Shanghai s Shanghai o 1 14,785 - - 14,785 0%
Sichuan )l Chengdu i 1 26,504 - - 26,504 1%
Zhejiang i Huzhou M 2 18,700 - 130,208 148,903 4%
Shaoxing pakd 2 5,000 - - 5,000 0%
Sub-total NGt 42 822,889 1,211,423 995,669 3,029,981 75%
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Completed
GFA available Planned GFA Total land % of total
Property projects developed Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of land reserve
by the Group’s joint ventures® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Group  of the Group
ARAE/ hE5E
LA LSRGk RRER r£H 1ibitE
KEERELEFHRNNEERR FEHE CATREER BEER RUREEE IihRELEY  S30EAM
(in'sq.m.) (insq.m.) (insq.m.) (in'sq.m.)
(FAX) (FAX) (FAX) (FAK)
Jiangsu & Changshu B3 2 6,465 - - 6,465 0%
Haimen il 1 301 - - 301 0%
Nanjing AR 1 33,503 107,718 - 141,221 4%
Nantong G 3 23,984 135,081 - 159,665 4%
Taixing Z8 1 13,768 - - 13,763 0%
Zhejang i Huzhou it 1 844 - - 844 0%
Sub-total Nt 9 78,950 243,399 - 322,349 8%
Completed % of
GFA available Planned GFA Total land total land
Property projects held by the Group's Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of reserve of
associated companies® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Group! the Group
AithE/ tx5E
LA Rl AR REH TG
REEBE N RFHRNNEERR EEREE CHIREER BEERE RUREEE DHRES%Y  S3MESH
(insq.m,) (insq.m,) (insq.m,) (insg.m.)
(%) (FAK) (FAK) (FAK)
Jiangsu TE Changshu B 1 8,204 - - 8,204 0%
Haimen helis 1 2,791 - - 2,791 0%
Lianyungang EE) 1 6,776 - - 6,776 0%
Guangdong ER Guangzhou B 1 - - 648,340 648,340 17%
Sub-total Nt 4 17,771 - 648,340 666,111 17%
Grand Total by 55 1,919,610 1,454,822 1,644,009 4,018,441 100%
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The following table sets forth a summary of our property and project TREHFRFPINEHEERD MEMEEE e
phases developed, including projects and project phases held for future T BIEE 2024512 A31 B ER KR IA

developments as of 31 December 2024. B &IEHE Bg -
Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER B BELE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRY LikGeY
(sq.m) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)
Anhui 2
Fuyang Gang Long Mei Di Yun Zhu South Side of Runhe Road Under Development 571% 218,655 Apri-27 408,933
8B BEENZL and East Side of Funan e 27E4f
Road, Yingzhou District,
Fuyang City, Anhui Province
ZHESHMENEETY
R
Hefei Chen Guang Ya Yuan Southwest of the Junction Completed 60% 66,068 April-24 30,830
A 5% of Guohe West Road BRI 2UF4R
and Zhanghuatai Road,
Shuangdun Town,
Changfeng County, Hefei
City, Anhui Province
THERETREEESE
ATAREEZEAERN
il
Huangshan Gang Long Jun Wang North Side of Beihai Road, Completed 70% 46,780 May-23 47,063
&Il BREZ Tunguang Town, Tunx BRT 23557
District, Huangshan City,
Anhui Province
THEBLMEER LA
JLERILA
Wuhu Hu Shan Ying North to Fushan Road, Under Development 60% 132,596 June-25 105,360
i L South to Longtang Bi%h 256

Road, West to Planning
Branch Road and East to
Longhu Road, Sanshan
District, Wuhu City, Anhui
Province
THEEETZILRLEY
WE - BERER - AR
MBS - RERMH%
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Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries ~ Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BELE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BRIRY thREEY
(sq.m) (sa.m)
(FAX) (FAX)
Guangdong ER
Guangzhou Zeng Cheng Shi Tan West Side of Nanbei Under Development 60% 196,435 Tobe assessed 814,685
BN g Avenue, Shitan Town, Figh A
Zengcheng District,
Guangzhou City
BNmSHEREERL
KEmh
Huizhou Gang Long Zi Yu Hua Ting No. 9 Shangluo Road, Completed 51% 30,507 November-22 4,386
B BELERE Chenjiang Street, BRT 205118
Huicheng District,
Huizhou City
BimEARRIGE
BRI
Foshan Foshan Shunde Project Plot on the west side of national - Under Development 100% 40,848 September-25 139,318
il PRILIE=IER highway 105 south of Shunde ~ B 25%971
Waterway, Lunjiao Street,
Shunde District Foshan City
FlTIEERRHEEIRE
IENE 105 EER B
Guizhou BN
Panzhou Park Mansion Wetland Park District, Under Development 100% 116,101 May-26 267,212
B HHR Panzhou City, Guizhou i 26%5A

Province

ENEEMDRMAERE
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Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BENE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRH TiHRBEY
(sa.m) (sam)
(FAX) (FAX)
Henan am
Luoyang Mansion Grand Intersection of Luoji Under Development 100% 95,168 Apri-26 140,176
et E b Expressway and Chanhe e 2647
Bridge, Chaoyang Town,
Mengjin County, Luoyang City
AT a2ERGERS
RREETERXA
Jiangsu TH
Changshu Tang Yue Ming Zhu South Side of Tongjiang Completed 35% 62,585 August-22 13,754
B wha% Road and West Side of BRI 2248 A
Taishan Road (currently
known as Yanghong
Road), Longteng District,
Changshu City
EAmERARETREE
S (RBIR A
Xiang Yu Hua Ting No. 159 Haitang Road, Completed 100% 60,221 April-20 88
ERER Haiyu Town, Changshu Gity 23T 20444
EAMEEEERE155
Changzhou Yan Shan Ying 180 meters Northwest of Completed 35% 61,021 December-22 6,203
il L the Intersection of the BRT 2F12A
Side Road of Chengdong
Avenue and Jinhui Road,
Liyang City, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province
TEE BN ERTHR
AEFRESERIND
FI 180K
Ganglong Bauhinia Residence ~ North Side of Dongfang Completed 100% 43,510 November-14 4,434
R Road and East Side BRI 14511A
of Huafeng Road,

Changzhou City, Jiangsu
Province

THREBNTRA LA
ZERRA

BETHRBEREARIR FH2024
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Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries ~ Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BRfE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BRIRY thREEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)

Ganglong Hua Ting North Side of Xinggang Completed 100% 23,900 January-11 3,087
BREE Avenue and West Side of BAT &1
Chahua Road, Zhonglou
District, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province
IHAENTEERSE
REILH - FAEAEH
Ganglong Shang Ceng North Side of Tongjiang Completed 100% 8,090 June-11 4,905
BEEE South Road, Zhonglou BRT 164
District, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province
TEERNTEERR
STARILE
The Hong Kong Masterpiece West of Dongcheng Road Completed 100% 132,460 July-20 2,230
i and North of Dongfang BT 204T7R
No. 2 Road, Changzhou
City, Jiangsu Province
ITERE BMERRIAAE
BB
Ziyu Mansion East Side of Shuntong Completed 100% 24,312 November-20 568
E<: i Road and South Side BT 205117
of Gongyuan Road,
Economic Development
Zone, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province
TEERINTERE
JEBERE - R
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Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries ~ Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BENE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRH TiHRBEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)
Qin Hu Chun Qiu Hua Yuan East Side of Renmin Road, Completed 50% 42,605 May-23 14,433
ILHENTER North Side of Jiacheng Road, BT 23%5A
Jiaze Town, Wijin District,
Changzhou
ENREEEEBEARE
R SR
Funing Wen Lan Fu East Side of Shanghai Road Under Development 40% 67,454 June-25 163,903
BE e i and South Side of Suzhou Bk 25%6H
Road, Chengnan,
Funing County
2ENE LAY
R BMEER
Hai'an Hanlin Capital No. 8 Hebin East Road, Completed 70% 57,633 December-21 574
E7 BifEmn Hai'an City BRI 1512
BRI ERASH
Taoyuan Li South Side of Hebin East Road  Completed 28% 49,314 April-23 12,293
ikEE and West Side of Xin'an Road, 2T 23547
Hi-tech Zone, Hal'an,
Nantong City
BATERT AR
R AR
Tian Cui Ge North Side of Huanghai Avenue,  Completed 24% 23,960 January-24 20,535
x2H West Side of Tongyu Road, ~ 3#T 2441
Ha'an City, Jiangsu Province
THEsRRE LA -
ERARE
Haimen Nature Image Intersection of Beijing Completed 26% 47,078 January-23 7,158
st ARRE Middle Road and BT 231

Jianghai Road, Haimen
District, Nantong City,
Jiangsu Province
TEEmRTEMELR
PRETERIXA
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries ~ Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BELE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BIRE LihEEEY
(sam) (sam)
(FAX) (FAX)
Hua'an Sunac Plaza West Side of Tianjin Road Completed 26% 188,564 June-24 24,872
R BAIEE and South Side of Yan'an BT L)
East Road
RERER - ERREEH
Dong Wang Fu West Side of Tieyun Road Completed 100% 50,476 August-24 20,828
REJF and North Side of BRI 2487
Shanyang Avenue,
Huai'an City, Jiangsu
Province
IHEERTHERAN
WAL
Jingjiang Jun Yuan Ya Ju Land parcel 02 and 03, Under Development 34% 70,210 December-25 111,928
B YEEE North Side of Yongyi Road, g 0510
Jingjiang City
BImAGRIER02 03
Lianyungang Jing Shan Xiu Shui South of Haining Road and Completed 100% 53,063 QOctober-19 602
BE =IE West of Yuzhou Road, BRI 19810
Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City
EEETANREERE
BMAR
Nanjing River of Mansion Land Parcel 01, South of Completed 50% 28,188 January-22 8,711
R BitAA Puwu Road and West of BRT 2F1A
Nanwan Street, Qiaolin
Town, Pukou District,
Nanjing City
AR A0 REREE SR
PN - EAIARO 1
Tang Yue Fu North of Wenchang East Under Development 60% 28,483 May-25 36,156
EH Road and West of Figd 25%5A

Hospital of TCM Hospitdl,
Yongyang Street, Lishui
District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province

Ny U
EXERAML - R B
i

26 Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
EEENELT BB /it
RS I BB BENE BEAR rEEEGER  HEER RIRY Likkey
(sqm) (sqm)
(¥7K) (¥7K)
Nantong Long Xi Hua Yuan Intersection of Xiting Haiping Under Development 40% 35723 Tobe assessed 81,919
3 BEVE Highway and Shijn Highway, B e
Tongzhou District,
Nantong City
HATANERESETRE
REBRAR
Taizhou Shang He Feng Hua Yuan West Side of Qingnian Road, Under Development 34% 67,035 September-25 130,045
eS| LiRER North Side of Renmin East B 2594
Road, Hailing District
ARESFAREE
AREHLE
Yancheng Chun Xi Ji East Side of Fangong Road Under Development 51% 44,485 May-25 49,058
] BEE and North Side of e 25555
Wei'er Road, Economic
Development Zone
Dongtai City, Jiangsu
Province

THER AT AR
ERBRE BRLA

BETHRBEREARIR FH2024
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
EEENELT BB /thit
RS L BB BELE BERR rEEEGER  HEER BIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (F7K)
Guan Tang Fu No. 8 Yanzhen Road, Yandu Completed 34% 69,049 March-22 13,399
B District, Yancheng City BRT 2F3f
B mESRETRR
Jun Qi Hua Yuan East Side of Kaifang Avenue Completed 51% 43,865 January-24 5,552
EHE and South Side of Dongjn -~ E%T 24F1A
Road, Yannan Gaoxin District,
Yancheng City,
Jiangsu Province
IHE BT ERSHE
RHCERE . RERREE
Yixing Ganglong Lakeside Mansion Opposite to the South Gate Completed 100% 66,626 July-23 17,230
BE Yoy edii of Dongjeo Garden C Zone, BT 23T
Qiting Street,
Yixing City, Jiangsu Province
Lakeside Mansion
IHLHEMIRSEE
RSEECERFHE
iy
Yizheng Han Yuan North Side of Zhenzhou East Under Development 60% 54,966 December-25 122,411
&H HE Road, East Side of Jiangcheng % 25F12A
Road, South Side of Wuyi
Huayuan, Yizheng City,
Jiangsu Province
THREEIMENRALE -
DHRRE - A—TEEER
Shanghai s
Shanghai Shan Shui Shi Jian Lanhai Road, Chongming Completed 50% 86,590 June-21 14,785
5 ILkiA T District, Shanghai City BRT 21%6A

LEmEHRESH
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD T (&)
Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
EEENELT BB /it
RS I BB BENE EAHRR rEEEGER  HEER RIRY Likkey
(sqm) (sqm)
(¥7K) (¥7K)
Sichuan mll
Chengdu Ganglong-Midea-Wei Lai Ying  Groups 2 and 4, Gemo Completed 55% 50,514 May-23 26,504
mi# EEENF R Community, Dongsheng BRT 23558
Street, Shuangliu District,
Chengdu, Sichuan Province
RllERATEREREE
ERrR-RmA
Zhejiang L
Huzhou Jiangnan Taoyuan No. 328 Qianwan Road, Completed 25% 73,237 June-22 8,144
o THHE Woxing Distict, Huzhou Gy~ &L 2565
HNTRERA 265
Zha Xi Taoyuan No. 1789, 1919, Shiquangjao  Under Development 25% 176,013 Tobe assessed 140,759
ZEHR Road, Wuxing District, el Bt
Huzhou City
MNTRERAREHR
1789% - 19195
Shaoxing Ganglong - Bo Yue Fu Land parcel 39-1, North of Completed 70% 80,568 June-21 4875
el ety Shangyu City, Shaoxing BRT 21%6A
B FEFI30-1
Jun Wang Mei Ting Land parcel J6, Shangyu Completed 50% 92,923 December-23 125
EOER Economic and Technological BRI 23128
Development Zone, Shaoxing
REFERERIRYE
Jpitsk
Sub-total Nt 3,006,879 3,029,981
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Property held by Interest
the joint ventures attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEERELYE BB /thit
T b BB BELE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE BIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)
Jiangsu ik
Changshu Shine Time South Side of Shenzhen Road, ~ Completed 50% 56,936 September-21 4,840
we BURE West Side of Nansha Road, 23T 21%9A
Changshu City
ERTAIBEE mO%
il
The Asia Mansion East of Green Belt, West Completed 33% 65,378 June-21 1,625
LEER of Planning Taishan BRI 21F6A
Road, South of Planning
Jinghai Road and North
of North Third Ring Road,
Changshu City
EAMSIENE 53
RIEIE - REEES
A - =R
Haimen Run Yuan South of Nanjing Road, Completed 30% 63,285 November-19 391
st BE East of Jialingjiang Road, BRI 195117
Haimen District, Nantong
City, Jiangsu Province
IEERRTEMRAREE
ERIER
Nanjing Lan Wan Jiu Zhu Longrui Road, Liuhe District, Under Development 25% 60,138 Tobe assessed 141,221
B BuEpa Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province B T

(approximately 150 meters
north of Chengwang Qlinan
Garden)

TEERRT AR
(RELERTEL
4150%)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property held by Interest
the joint ventures attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEEAELE BB /thit
BElNE BB BELE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRH TiHRBEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)
Nantong Metropolis North of Zhangyuan Road, Completed 13% 109,890 September-20 4,564
[k Hie South of Yanshou (West BRI 20494
of Hongxi Kindergarten),
Core Area of Yinhe New
District, Jinsha Town,
Tongzhou
BHEDERTHERD
BE KRR T
W (IR RER)
Starry Bay Land parcel R2017-028, Completed 33% 56,868 September-19 13,004
BaE South Side of Jiangjing BRI 19594
Garden, West Side of
Hantong Road,
Tongzhou District, Nantong City
BRnENRERREN
IRIEERE
R2017-0281115%
The Garden of Time Groups 3, 4, 5 and 6 Section Under development 25% 61,164  Tobe assessed 142,097
EtBEE of Chengbel Communtty, Bi%h T
Chengbei Street, Rugao City
MR R
34 R6MER
Talxing Majestic Mansion East Side of Zhenhai Road, Completed 33% 125,306 December-20 13,763
ZE HE North Side of Chengjiang BRT 20F12A
Road, Taixing City
RETRERRA
BRI

Zhejiang L
Huzhou Eastern Mansion Land parcel 2017-49, Completed 60% 57,734 November-20 844
il KHRE South unit, Tahu Lake Resort, E%T 206114
Huzhou City
N AHE RERET
2017-49% 4054

Sub-total it 665,699 322,349
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property held by Interest
the associates attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEBELNT BB /thit
BENNE BB BELE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BRIRY thREEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)
Jiangsu ik
Changshu Brown Stone Life South of Fuchunjiang Road and ~ Completed 25% 53,530 November-20 8,204
B BREZ North of Xiangehun Road, BRI 20F11A
Changshu
EREHIRIE - BERML
Haimen Romantic Bay Henan, Haimen District, Hexi, Completed 30% 52,569 November-19 2,791
et Bl Dongzhou, Nantong Cty, BRI 195117
Jiangsu Province
THEmamarETg -
BMAR
Lianyungang Feng Huang Yuan Zhu Haininggen South, Completed 20% 56,593 September-21 6,776
BEE EEEE Fenghuang Avenue BRI 21598
East, Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City
EEATANREERE
BERER
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Property held by Interest

the associates attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land

of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve

REEBELNT BB /thit

BElNE BB ERfE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRH TiHRBEY

(sa.m) (sam)

(FAX) (FAX)

Guangdong ER

Guangzhou Huangpu Project Wangcun Vilage, Longhu Held for future 20% 170455 Tobe assessed 648,340

EM EIRIER Street, Huangpu District, development Sy

Guangzhou City HIERREE
BMTESEENGEER

Sub-total it 333,147 666,111

Grand total @ 3,995,725 4,018,441

Notes: PiisE

1)

Total land reserve equals to the sum of (i) total GFA available for sale
and total leasable GFA for completed properties; (ii) total GFA for
properties under development and (i) total GFA for properties held for

future development.

For projects developed by the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures
or associated companies, 100% of total GFA are accounted for the

respective project.

() *THEEBEHRSNIEEIYVENTHEES
BEEBERATHBAREEE (R HE
EARFREETETE - RIS ER R MEN B
SEEEZ -

@) BARENBAR - AEBENEE QRN
BRIAETE - ARA R RE 2 EREER

FIR ©
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEAREEENBERE

Board of Directors

Our Board consists of 8 Directors, of whom 3 are executive Directors,
2 are non-executive Directors and 3 are independent non-executive
Directors. Our Board is responsible for and has general powers for the
management and conduct of our business.

Executive Directors

Mr. Lui Ming (& BA), aged 62, is one of the executive Directors, one of
the founders of the Group, chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Group. He is responsible for formulating and overviewing
the strategic planning of the Group. Since the establishment of the
Group, he has over 16 years of experience in the property development
industry. He has also served as a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates
the business in Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally
engaged in trading of textile product from March 1993 to June 2005 as
a director. He was appointed an executive Director on 8 October 2018.

Mr. Lui completed EMBA courses in Nanjing University of Science and
Technology in Nanjing in 2013.

Mr. Lui is the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing

Nam, both non-executive Directors, and the uncle of Mr. Lui Chi Chung
Jimmy and Mr. Lui Jin Ling, both executive Directors.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEERNBEREA)

Mr. Lui Jin Ling (B35), aged 42, is one of the executive Directors
and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for overseeing
the cost planning and management functions of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui joined Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited
in April 2006 as a marketing manager and was responsible for its
daily operation and marketing; and he remained involved in customer
relationship management on part-time basis since shifting his business
focus to the Group in July 2007. Since the establishment of the Group,
Mr. Lui has over 16 years of experience in the property development
industry. Mr. Lui has also served as a director of various subsidiaries of
the Group. He was appointed an executive Director on 8 October 2018.

Mr. Lui studied Computer Engineering at the University of California,
Irvine from January 2004 to March 2005.

Mr. Lui is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-executive Director, the
nephew of Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director and Mr. Lui
Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive Director, and the cousin
of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director.

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (2 %88), aged 44, is one of the executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overseeing the risk management functions of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui joined Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited from
January 2005 as a marketing manager and was responsible for its
daily operation and marketing; and he remained involved in customer
relationship management on part-time basis since shifting his business
focus to the Group in July 2007. Since the establishment of our Group,
Mr. Lui has over 16 years of experience in the property development
industry. Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy has served as the director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. He was appointed an executive Director on 8
October 2018.

Mr. Lui obtained a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration in
January 2005 from Chapman University in the United States of America.

Mr. Lui is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director, the
nephew of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-executive Director and Mr. Lui
Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive Director, and the cousin
of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive Director.

BEZELE 425 AHP—RBRTEBERAE
BEP—ZEPA - HEEEBEASBENKAR
B R EB AL - BIPIAEBR - =S ER 20065
ARMAREITHBRARDRETTSEREL
- BEAEEERMISHEE  WHN2007F7 A
HREBEREAEERURBEELEESH
FREBETIE - AAREERUR - BEEREL
ERBTERER16FER - akENTRAEE
ZEMBARIMNES - FR2018F10A8HEZR
EARITES -

200441 B E 200593 A HAR © B L EENFIE
ERAREBEN D RBGEE#TIEEE -

BEEREKKELECGEAITER)NREF » axX
MAECGFTER) Baflit(EEgIFER
WITER)NER  RaERELEMITES)NE
E

BERLLE 445 RHA—RBRTESRASE
EHA—FEWA  HEEEELAEENRRE
IBEEAE o B AREEAT - & L ER 200591 A
AEBETHBRERAFEITTSHEELE 8
EREEERMIBHERE - WH2007F7 AR
BEHEAEEBURBHEE2HRFPHEEER
TE- BAREBMIMAR  5EEREHEME
TEHEABI6FLR - BELENEAEEZREH
BRARMNES - HN2018FE10AsHELZ T AH
TEE-

BEAER2006F1 AEXBERSEESARTH

ERRERLRY -
B RBKBAEGHITERHRT - BX

EEECGHTER) EaREE(EFEETRERH
TEF)NER  2EREEBITES)NER -
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEENBEREE)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lui Wing Mau (2K %), aged 72, is one of our non-executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for
advising on strategy and overall development of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates the business in Kin
Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally engaged in trading
of textile products, from March 1993 to June 2005 as a director and
remained responsible for the overall business strategy and business
direction thereafter. He was appointed as a Director on 8 October 2018
and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 17 September 2019.

Mr. Lui completed his secondary education in the PRC in the 1960s.

Mr. Lui is the father of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive Director, the elder
brother of both Mr. Lui Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director, and the uncle
of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director.

Mr. Lui Wing Nam (& k), aged 69, is one of the non-executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for
advising on strategy and overall development of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates the business in Kin
Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally engaged in trading
of textile products, from March 1993 to June 2005 as a director and
remained responsible for the overall business strategy and business
direction thereafter. He was appointed as a Director on 8 October 2018
and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 17 September 2019.

Mr. Lui completed his secondary education in the PRC in the 1970s.

Mr. Lui is the father of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director,
the elder brother of Mr. Lui Ming, chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-
executive Director and the uncle of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive
Director.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERSREERNEBESREA)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Pak Hung (& #&78), aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 February 2022. He is
responsible for providing independent advice to the Board. He is also
the chairman of the audit committee, and a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Board.

Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance,
compliance, auditing, and company secretarial fields. He is currently the
company secretary of Shanghai Dongzheng Automotive Finance Co.,
Ltd. (a company ceased to be listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since April 2024, former stock code: 2718). Mr. Chan served
as an independent non-executive director of JLogo Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8527) from June 2021 to March 2024. Mr. Chan had been
a manager of the listing division of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited and has worked in international accounting firms.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of Business Administration (Professional
Accountancy) from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2002.
He is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a CFA charterholder of the CFA Institute.

BYFHITES

FBRIGMB &L - 445% * R2022F 211 HEEZ T
BENIENTES - HEERNESSREBYE
R -BMAEESERZESER  hFHEE
ERIBEEEBGZKE -

FROECEHRABFHLERE - &4« Bif kA
AWEFAMNER - FRALSRERES R
BERAE(E2024F4 AR EREIE LT
BAT > BT REE - 2718) 2 AT E - Rk
HFR2021F6 8 £2024F3A AR MEZERABRA
BB ARER © 8527 ) B JEITES - ALY
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEENBEREE)

Ms. Tang Lo Nar (38 &), aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 June 2020. She is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board. She is also a member of the
audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of
the Board.

Ms. Tang has over 29 years of experience in accounting, tax, audit,
company secretarial and finance. She began her career by joining Ernst
& Young, an international accounting firm in September 1995 where she
last served as a Senior Staff Accountant Il. Ms. Tang then joined KPMG
Tax Limited, an international tax service provider in March 2001, where
she was involved in a wide range of tax compliance and advisory tasks
and left in August 2004 as a Tax Manager. Ms. Tang began her own
business by establishing TLN Co., Ltd. in Hong Kong in August 2004
to provide accounting, management consultancy, tax planning and
company secretarial services. Ms. Tang was the company secretary of
two Hong Kong Main Board listed companies, namely Asia Resources
Holdings Limited (stock code: 899) and Karce International Holdings
Company Limited (currently known as Starlight Culture Entertainment
Group Limited) (stock code: 1159), for the periods from December 2008
to April 2010 and from January 2009 to April 2010 respectively. She
was then the company secretary of Yueshou Environmental Holdings
Limited (currently known as China Gem Holdings Limited) (stock code:
1191), which is principally engaged in the provision of financial service,
from March 2012 to October 2014. Ms. Tang also took up the role as
the company secretary of ISP Global Limited (stock code: 8487) from
September 2018 to March 2021, a company principally engaged in the
sale of sound and communication systems and related services. Ms.
Tang joined Shuanghua Holdings Limited (stock code: 1241), a China-
based company principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of
auto air-conditioner parts and components, since May 2011 as the chief
financial officer and the company secretary, and she was re-elected as
an executive director in June 2015.

Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in October 1995. She further obtained
a master degree in English for the professions from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and another master degree in applied finance
from University of Western Sydney in November 2002 and September
2004 respectively. She is a Fellow of the Association of chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of Hong Kong Society of
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEERNBEREA)

Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (£ J§), aged 34, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2023. He is
responsible for providing independent advice to the Board. He is also
the chairman of the remuneration committee, and a member of audit
committee and nomination committee of the Board.

Mr. Wong has over 8 years of experience in capital markets advisory
at various investment banks, specialising in initial public offerings and
capital fund raising for companies in Hong Kong. He is a managing
director of ZMF Asset Management Limited since September 2023
and had been previously working in several corporate finance advisory
companies. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor degree in accounting and
finance from Lancaster University in the United Kingdom in 2013 and a
master degree in management from University College London in the
United Kingdom in 2015.

Senior Management

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management
of our business. The biography of each of our senior management
member is set out below.

Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong (3R ), aged 57, is the Group’s executive
vice president and he is primarily responsible for formulation of
corporate finance and financial strategy and investor relations. He joined
the Group in May 2020.

Mr. Cheung has over 30 years of experience in auditing, financial
accounting, initial public offerings, merger and acquisitions, corporate
finance activities and investor relations. Mr. Cheung joined the assurance
and business advisory services department of PricewaterhouseCoopers
in July 1994 and left as a manager in the corporate finance and recovery
department of PricewaterhouseCoopers in March 2003. From March
2003 to March 2008, Mr. Cheung served in Boto Company Limited,
a festival product manufacturing company, and held various positions
including chief financial officer and consultant. Mr. Cheung joined Kaisa
Group Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1638.HK) in July 2008 as the finance
director, and for the period from November 2009 to December 2014,
Mr. Cheung served as its chief financial officer, company secretary
and joint authorised representative. From January to March 2017, Mr.
Cheung served in Culture Landmark Investment Limited (stock code:
674.HK) as the company secretary and chief financial officer. From
March 2017 to March 2020, Mr. Cheung served in Harvest Property
Holdings Limited, a China-based property developer, and held various
positions including chief financial officer, vice president, joint authorised
representative and company secretary.
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From December 2011 to March 2022, Mr. Cheung served as an
independent non-executive director, and was the chairman of the audit
committee, of China Aluminium International Engineering Corporation
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2068.HK) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601068). Mr. Cheung has been an independent non-executive director
of Apex Ace Holding Limited (stock code: 6036.HK), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since September 2024.

Mr. Cheung was admitted as a member of the AICPA in August 1996.
He was designated as a Chartered Financial Analyst by the Association
for Investment Management and Research in the United States of
America in September 2000. Mr. Cheung obtained his bachelor’s
degree in science from the University of Hong Kong in December 1990
and his master’s degree (distinction) in quantum fields and fundamental
forces from Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine,
University of London in January 1992.

Mr. Chan Pui Tak (BR5M#), aged 35, is the vice president, chief
financial officer and company secretary of the Group. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He joined
the Group in April 2020 and is responsible for overseeing the corporate
finance, financial reporting, compliance, treasury and merger and
acquisition of the Group. Mr. Chan graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in business and
administration in professional accountancy in 2011. Mr. Chan has over
13 years of financial and accounting related experience. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Chan worked for an international public accountancy firm
and was involved in a number of audit and assurance, capital market
transaction and advisory projects advising corporate clients including
listed companies and conglomerates worldwide.
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Directors’ Report

ESHE

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Company Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8 October
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s ordinary shares (the “Shares”)
were listed on the Stock Exchange since 15 July 2020.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries
established in the PRC are primarily engaged in the development of real
estate projects in the PRC.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group’s revenue and net results for the year by principal activities is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. Those discussions form
part of this directors’ report.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance.
The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings
and development resources to the employees so that they can keep
abreast of the latest development of the market and the industry and,
at the same time, improve their performance and self-fulfilment in their
positions.
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The Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with customers and provide the products in a way that satisfy needs and
requirements of the customers. The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insight on the changing
market demand for the products so that the Group can respond
proactively. The Group has also established procedures in place for
handling customers’ complaints to ensure customers’ complaints are
dealt with in a prompt and timely manner.

The Group is also dedicated to developing good relationship with
suppliers and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure
stability of the Group’s business. We reinforce business partnerships
with suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication in a proactive
and effective manner so as to ensure quality and timely delivery.

Further details of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact on
the Group can be found in the “environmental, social and governance
report” which is available on the Company’s website of www.glchina.
group and on the website of the Stock Exchange. Those discussions
form part to this directors’ report.

Results and Dividend
The consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2024 are set out on pages 103 to 231 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Dividend Policy
The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
details of which are disclosed as follows:

Purpose

This Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines that the
Company will apply when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Principles and guidelines

The Board has the discretion to declare dividends to the shareholders of
the Company, subject to the Articles of the Association of the Company
(the “Articles”) and all applicable laws and regulations, taking into
account the factors set out below:

° financial results;

° cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

° capital requirements and expenditure plans;

° interests of shareholders;

° taxation considerations;

° any contractual, statutory and regulatory restrictions on payment
of dividends; and

° any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Review of the Dividend Policy
The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time to
time.
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Annual General Meeting and Closure of the

Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the 2025 AGM

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “2025 AGM”) is
scheduled to be held on Friday, 6 June 2025. The register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 June 2025 to Friday, 6
June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no share transfer
will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2 June 2025.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 232 of this annual report.

Principal Subsidiaries
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Reserves

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statements of changes in equity and Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Distributable Reserves

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium, retained
earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately following the
payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to RMB1,021 million (2023: RMB1,138 million).

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 32(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Borrowings from Bank and Other Financial
Institutions

Details of borrowings from bank and other financial institutions of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Loan and Guarantee

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management, the controlling shareholders of the
Company (“Controlling Shareholders”) or their respective associates
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)).
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares or other listed securities during
the year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lui Wing Mau
Mr. Lui Wing Nam

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Hung

Ms. Tang Lo Nar

Mr. Wong Tung Yuen

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Ms.
Tang Lo Nar will retire from office by rotation at the forecoming annual
general meeting, and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election.
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Biographical Details of the Directors and the
Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 34 to
40 in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr Lui Chi Chung Jimmy,
being the executive Directors, has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which has been renewed for a term of three years with
effect from 15 July 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party giving three months’ written notice to the
other party, subject to termination provisions therein.

Each of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, being the non-
executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which has been renewed for a term of three years with effect from
15 July 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless and until terminated
by either party giving three months’ written notice to the other party,
subject to termination provisions therein.

Ms. Tang Lo Nar, being the independent non-executive Directors, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which has
been renewed for a term of three years with effect from 15 July 2023
and shall continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either
party giving three months’ written notice to the other party, subject to
termination provisions therein. Mr. Chan Pak Hung and Mr. Wong Tung
Yuen, being an independent non-executive Director, have entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from 11 February 2022 and 1 December 2023,
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).
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Contracts with Controlling Shareholders

Other than disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at
the end of the year.

Director’s Interest in Transactions, Arrangement
or Contract of Significance

Other than disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity
connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Compensation of Directors and Senior
Management

The emoluments (including the discretionary bonuses) of the Directors
and senior management of the Group are decided by the Board
with reference to the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individual in the Group are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme as incentive
for Directors and eligible employees. Details of the said scheme are set
out under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual
report.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are
payable, for the year ended 31 December 2024, by the Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or
their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

Continuing Disclosure Obligations Pursuant to
the Listing Rules

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

Deed of Non-Competition

On 20 June 2020, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered into a
deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favor
of the Company, pursuant to which, among other things, each of the
Controlling Shareholders has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken,
jointly and severally given certain non-competition undertakings to
the Company. Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders
and non-competition undertaking — Deed of Non-competition” in the
Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with
the Deed of Non-competition during the year ended 31 December
2024. The independent non-executive Directors were delegated with
the authority to review, on an annual basis, the compliance with the
Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the relevant undertakings and were not aware of any
non-compliance of the Deed of Non-competition for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Management Contracts

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters
as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ service contracts”
in this annual report, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group was entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Material Legal Proceedings
The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Share Option Scheme

On 20 June 2020, the Company has conditionally adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
selected participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage selected participants to work towards
enhancing the value of our Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and shareholders as a whole. The Share Option Scheme will
provide the Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to
selected participants.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue on the day on which trading of the shares commence
on the Stock Exchange, such 10% limit represents 160,000,000
shares, accounting for approximately 9.87% of the issued shares of the
Company as at the date of this annual report, but excluding any shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of the over-allotment option.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group to each selected participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12 months period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date (i.e. it is to be expired on
14 July 2030 and the remaining life of the scheme is approximately
5 years and 3 months), but in all other respects the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted
prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the rules of the Share Option Scheme.

The amount payable for each share to be subscribed for under an
option in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined
by the Board but shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (i) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (i) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option.

In respect of any particular option, an option period will be determined
by the Directors, save that such period may not be later than 10 years
from the offer date of that option.

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer to
a grantee, a grantee is not required to hold an option for any minimum
period nor achieve any performance targets before the exercise of an
option granted.

No options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31
December 2024 and there were no outstanding share options under
the Share Option Scheme during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2024. The number of options available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme was 160,000,000 as at 1 January 2024 and as at
31 December 2024.

The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31
December 2024 divided by the weighted average number of shares in
issue for the year was nil.

Any individual, being an employee, director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor, customer,
supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture business partner or
service provider of any member of our Group or any affiliate who the
Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to have
contributed or will contribute to our Group is entitled to be offered and
granted options. However, no individual who is resident in a place where
the grant, acceptance or exercise of options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme is not permitted under the laws and regulations of such
place or where, in the view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance
with applicable laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or
expedient to exclude such individual, is eligible to be offered or granted
options.
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A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme has been set
out in the section headed “Statutory and General Information — E.
Other Information — 12. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V to the
Prospectus.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or Its
Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which
were required to be entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:
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Interests in Shares of the Company

AAND B RAD 2 S

Number of Shares
or underlying

Approximate
percentage of

Director/Chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest Sharestete)  shareholdingNote )
IR A% AR B FREA
B BETBAR B, EnttE IR A7 B & e ElagsdGial
Mr. Lui Ming Interest in controlled corporation 372,867,000 (L)Note2) 22.99%
=A% AE Rt EEE R (PtiE2)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy Interest in controlled corporation 313,125,000 (L)Neted) 19.31%
BEEEE Rt EE R (#E3)
Mr. Lui Wing Nam Interest in controlled corporation 318,125,000 (L)Note3) 19.31%
=K E S A RESEEE R (fize)
Beneficial owner 2,613,000 0.16%
BmEAA
Mr. Lui Jin Ling Interest in controlled corporation 217,643,000 (L)Note4) 13.42%
B L R EE R (Hizza)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau Interest in controlled corporation 217,643,000 (L)Note 4) 13.42%
Bk S A REGEEE R S
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Notes:

Q)

As at 31 December 2024, the Company issued 1,621,799,000 Shares.
The letter (L) denotes the entity’s long position in the relevant Shares.

These 372,867,000 Shares are held by Huaxing Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Huaxing”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by Mr. Lui Ming. Mr. Lui Ming is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Huaxing for the purpose of SFO.

These 313,125,000 Shares are held by Hualian Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Hualian”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI
and owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr. Lui Wing Nam and Mr. Lui Chi
Chung Jimmy respectively. Therefore, Mr. Lui Wing Nam and Mr. Lui
Chi Chung Jimmy are each deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Hualian for the purpose of SFO.

These 217,643,000 Shares are held by Hualong Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Hualong”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI
and owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Wing
Mau respectively. Therefore, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Wing Mau are
each deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Hualong for the
purpose of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had, or were deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying

shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations,
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and

Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Company, as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, the following persons, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the
Shares or underlying Shares:

Number of Shares
or underlying

FERRRHEMATRAQTR
D RRER G 2R RAR

3

20245612 A31H - AR FFTHAT ALK
ARIEBH TR THABRIN AR B A8
AR T B IRIRCE H S (551 )E5 33616 /B8 A
AP B RC M 2 5% K A RS -

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Sharesiete)  shareholding®ote 1)
IR 40 AR B FREA

REME ERME IR A7 B & (e Elagqbial

Ms. Chan Mei Kam Interest of spouseMote2) 372,867,000 (L) 22.99%

PREZLZ+ Pl (B i (at2)

Ms. Wong Sau Suet Interest of spouseMote3) 315,738,000 (L) 19.47%

BEAZERL P (B i o)

Ms. Wong Kwai Fa Interest of spouseMote4) 217,643,000 (L) 13.42%

EYER (A A (B M g (e

Huaxing Beneficial owner 372,867,000 (L) 22.99%

i BmEAA

Hualian Beneficial owner 318,125,000 (L) 19.31%

R BEmEAA

Hualong Beneficial owner 217,643,000 (L) 13.42%

£ BEnlEBA
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Notes:

Q)

@

As at 31 December 2024, the Company issued 1,621,799,000 Shares.
The letter (L) denotes the entity’s long position in the relevant Shares.

These 372,867,000 Shares are held by Huaxing, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Lui Ming and he is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Huaxing for the purpose of SFO. Ms. Chan Mei Kam is
the spouse of Mr. Lui Ming, therefore she is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares which Mr. Lui Ming is interested and deemed to be
interested for the purpose of SFO.

Among these 315,738,000 Shares, 313,125,000 Shares are held by
Hualian, a company owned as to 60% by Mr. Lui Wing Nam and he
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Hualian for the
purpose of SFO, and 2,613,000 Shares are directly held by Mr. Lui
Wing Nam. Ms. Wong Sau Suet is the spouse of Mr. Lui Wing Nam,
therefore she is deemed to be interested in all the Shares which Mr. Lui
Wing Nam is interested and deemed to be interested for the purpose
of SFO.

These 217,643,000 Shares are held by Hualong, a company owned as
to 40% by Mr. Lui Wing Mau and he is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Hualong for the purpose of SFO. Ms. Wong Kwai
Fa is the spouse of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, therefore she is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares which Mr. Lui Wing Mau is interested and
deemed to be interested for the purpose of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no time during
the year under review was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt
securities including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Major Suppliers and Customers

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customer accounted for
0.40% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 1.01% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
3.41% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 9.01% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or
the Group’s five largest customers.

Events after the Reporting Period

There are no significant events subsequent to 31 December 2024 which
would materially affect the Group’s operating and financial performance
as the date of this report.

Tax Relief and Exemption of Holders of Listed

Securities

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their respective holding of
the Company’s securities.
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Retirement Benefits Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the employees of the
Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are required to participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement
benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of
both Hong Kong and the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to this
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under
the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Group’s are set out in Note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this section, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
had not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

Related Party Transactions and Connected
Transactions

The significant related party transactions as disclosed in Note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute a “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be)
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that needs to
be disclosed or is not fully exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

Since the Listing, the Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code
of conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors and the Group’s senior management who, because of his/her
office or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2024. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by
the senior management of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the public float as required under
the Listing Rules.

Indemnity of Directors

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
for all Directors and senior management. These insurances provided
protection to the liability incurred from related cost, fees, expense and
legal actions resulting from corporate activities. Pursuant to Article 192
of the Articles, the Directors, managing Directors, alternate Directors,
auditors, secretary and other officers for the time being of the Company
and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, and their respective executors or administrators,
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any)
as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty, and
none of them shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or
defaults of any other of them, or for joining in any receipt for the sake of
conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys
or effects of the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody,
or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any
moneys of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or for any other
loss, misfortune or damage which may arise in the execution of their
respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto, except as the same
shall happen by or through their own fraud, dishonesty or recklessness.
The Company may take out and pay the premium and other moneys
for the maintenance of insurance, bonds and other instruments for the
benefit either of the Company or the Directors (and/or other officers) or
any of them to indemnify the Company and/or Directors (and/or other
officers) named therein for this purpose against any loss, damage,
liability and claim which they may suffer or sustain in connection with
any breach by the Directors (and/or other officers) or any of them of their
duties to the Company.

Corporate Strategy

The Group’s corporate strategy is to improve quality, reduce costs and
expenses, and enhance efficiency. By leveraging Hong Kong’s space
design concepts and incorporating local culture, the Group strives
to deliver properties of exceptional quality and ingenuity to meet our
customers’ need, creating social value to the communities.
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Corporate Culture and Value

The Company recognises the importance of corporate culture in
defining the qualities and behaviors of our people, who play a crucial
role in bringing our purpose to life. Our culture is shaped by our
vision of “becoming a city builder for a better life” and core value of
“striving for innovation, building with integrity”. The Group actively
instills and consistently reinforces its purpose, vision and core value
(including value of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly) across
the entire organisation. Taking into accounts of these measures, the
Board satisfied that the Group’s culture, purpose, value and strategy
are aligned. The Directors will continue to act with integrity, lead by
example, and promote the desired culture of the Group.

Corporate Governance

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance
for enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving
the interests of the shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code of the
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”), as its own code
to govern its corporate governance practices. Save for the deviation
in relation to the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
being the same individual, the Board considers that, the Company has
complied with, to the extent applicable and permissible, the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Lui Ming is currently the Chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Group, responsible
for strategic planning and managing of the Group’s overall business
and operations. Mr. Lui Ming has been responsible for the overall
management of the Group since the establishment of the Group. The
Board believes that the current structure enables the Group to make
and implement business decision swiftly and effectively which promotes
the Group’s development in line with other strategies and business
direction. The Board considers that the balance of power and authority,
accountability and independent decision making under the present
arrangement will not be impaired because of the diverse background
and experience of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors. Further, the audit committee of the Company, which
consists of a majority of independent non-executive Directors, has free
and direct access to the Company’s external auditors and independent
professional advisers when it considers necessary. Therefore, the
Directors consider that the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.
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The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 62
to 98 of this annual report.

Donations
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not make any
charitable and other donations.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management and
external auditor the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Company and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers has resigned as the auditor of the Company
on 4 December 2024. With the recommendation of the Audit
Committee, CCTH CPA Limited (“CCTH”) has been appointed as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 4 December 2024 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers.
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by CCTH. A resolution will be proposed at the
2025 AGM to re-appoint CCTH as the auditor of the Company.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company was in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company in all material aspects.
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Changes in the Board and the Directors’
Information

The new Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company were approved, adopted and effective on
7 June 2024 to, among other things, in order to update and bring the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company in line with
the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules in respect of the
electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuer
(effective from 31 December 2023).

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Lui Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report in the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
CG Code. For the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report, save for the deviation in relation to the Chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer being the same individual, the
Board believes that the Company has complied with the code provision
of the CG Code. The Company will continue to review and enhance its
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code.

The Board

(1) Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility for day-to-day management and operation
of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established three Board Committees including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith,
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

(2) Directors’ and senior management’s liability
insurance and indemnity
The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of the Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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(3) Board composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lui Wing Mau
Mr. Lui Wing Nam

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Hung

Ms. Tang Lo Nar

Mr. Wong Tung Yuen

Except that Mr. Lui Ming is the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing
Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam; the uncle of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy
and Mr. Lui Jin Ling, Mr. Lui Jin Ling is the son of Mr. Lui Wing
Mau and Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Nam,
there is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among the Board members.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the Board met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least
one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise and the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
Among the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan
Pak Hung and Ms. Tang Lo Nar have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(4) Board diversity policy

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the nomination
committee (or the board) shall have a policy concerning diversity
of board members, and shall disclose the policy on diversity or a
summary of the policy in the corporate governance report. The
board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) specifies that in designing the composition of the
Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
The appointment of Directors will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be evaluated against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The composition of the Board will be disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report every year and the Nomination Committee
will supervise the implementation of this policy. The Nomination
Committee will review the effectiveness of this policy, as
appropriate, discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval on an annual basis.

As at 31 December 2024, the diversity of the Board is illustrated
as below. Further details on the biographies and experience of the
current Directors are set out on page 34 to page 39 of this annual
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the membership,
structure and composition of the Board, and is of the opinion that
the structure of the Board is reasonable, and the experiences and
skills of the Directors in various aspects and fields can enable the
Company to maintain high standard of operation.

Measurable objectives
For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

()  Independence: The Board should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) so that
there is a strong element of independence in the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors shall be of sufficient
calibre and stature for their views to carry weight.

(i)  Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of
skills appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The Directors have a mix of finance, academic
and management backgrounds that taken together provide
the Company with considerable experience in a range of
activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the Board Diversity Policy has the
following objectives to comply with the Listing Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

3. atleast one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise; and

4. an appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with
reference to stakeholders’ expectations and international and
local recommended best practices.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the Board
Diversity Policy.

As at 31 December 2024, approximately 70% and 30% of the
Group’s total workforce were male and female respectively. While
all members of our senior management are male, the board of
directors of certain of our subsidiaries consisted of 50% female
directors as at 31 December 2024. The Company will continue to
enhance diversity in different levels of workforce.
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Confirmation of independence by the
independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines as
set out in the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring Directors to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments as well as their
respective identity of the public companies or organisations
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed
to disclose, and already disclosed their commitments to the
Company in a timely manner.

Induction and continuous professional
development

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, each newly
appointed Director should be provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
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For the year ended to 31 December 2024, all Directors have been HE2024F12AG1HILEFE - 28EEY
updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules Eiﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁ%%ﬁ R FTIB R R A
and other applicable regulatory requirements through reading FEERTHENEIERIEBEN - UER
materials to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of é%ﬁ&ﬁﬂfﬁiwﬁ%&ﬁﬂﬂ@i% EAE

good corporate governance practices.

The individual training record of each Director received during the BEEREE2024F 12 A31 H L FE AT
year ended 31 December 2024 is summarised below: Tz f R
Attended Attended
trainings trainings
organised organised by
by the professional Reading
Directors Company organizations materials
el SmEE
Bx By sZ I SRR IEI R AR
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman) v v
BRRSEE(EE)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling v v
EHESE S A
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy v 4
BEREE
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. Lui Wing Mau v v
BRI A
Mr. Lui Wing Nam v 4
BoKE R E
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Chan Pak Hung v v v
BRIAMG 4
Ms. Tang Lo Nar v v 4
BB+
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen v v v
ITRREE
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to paragraph C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer (“CEOQ”) should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Mr. Lui Ming is currently both the Chairman of the Board and
the CEO of our Group, responsible for strategic planning and
managing of our Group’s overall business and operations. Mr.
Lui Ming has been responsible for the overall management of our
Group since the establishment of our Group. The Board believes
that the current structure enables us to make and implement
business decision swiftly and effectively which promotes our
Group’s development in line with other strategies and business
direction. Our Board considers that the balance of power and
authority, accountability and independent decision-making
under our present arrangement will not be impaired because of
the diverse background and experience of our non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors. Further, our
Audit Committee, which consists a majority of independent non-
executive Directors, has free and direct access to our Company’s
external auditors and independent professional advisers when it
considers necessary. Therefore our Directors consider that the
deviation from paragraph C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In order to maintain
good corporate governance and to fully comply with paragraph
C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, our Board will regularly
review the need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles
of chairman and CEO separately.

The Board and the senior management, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals can ensure the balance
of power and authority. As at 31 December 2024, the Board
comprised three executive Directors, two non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Each of Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Chi Chung
Jimmy, being the executive Directors, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which has been renewed
for a term of three years with effect from 15 July 2023 and shall
continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party
giving three months’ written notice to the other party, subject to
termination provisions therein.
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Each of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, being the non-
executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which has been renewed for a term of three years
with effect from 15 July 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless
and until terminated by either party giving three months’ written
notice to the other party, subject to termination provisions therein.

Ms. Tang Lo Nar, being the independent non-executive Directors,
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
which has been renewed for a term of three years with effect
from 15 July 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party giving three months’ written notice to
the other party, subject to termination provisions therein. Mr. Chan
Pak Hung and Mr. Wong Tung Yuen, being an independent non-
executive Director, have entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
11 February 2022 and 1 December 2023, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit
himself/herself for election by shareholders at the first general
meeting of the Company after appointment and any new Director
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by the shareholders at the next following annual
general meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
monitoring and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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(10) Board meetings and committee meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Both the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee shall meet at least once every year and the Audit
Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Notices of not less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
committee members at least three days before the intended date
of the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting. When
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the chairman of the
Board or the committee members prior to the meeting. Minutes
of meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies
circulated to relevant Board or Board Committee for comments
and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the
Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Board or committee members
and dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting and committee meeting are sent to the relevant Board or
committee members for comments within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held. The minutes of the Board
meetings are open for inspection by Directors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, eight board meetings
were held and the attendance of the individual Directors at these
meetings is set out in the table below:

HE2024F12A31BIEFE - 8177 )UK
FEgen  [AREENZSEENERES
METIR TR

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BHE BERLE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman and Executive Director) 8/8
BREE(FERHNTEE)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling (Executive Director) 8/8
EESEE(HTEE)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (Executive Director) 8/8
AEREE(HITEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau (Non-executive Director) 8/8
KIS (FEBTTEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Nam (Non-executive Director) 8/8
Bk S (FEPTTEE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung (Independent Non-executive Director) 8/8
BRIAS L (B IHHTTEE)
Ms. Tang Lo Nar (Independent Non-executive Director) 8/8
BB L (HIFHTEE)
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (Independent Non-executive Director) 8/8

IRRELE(BUIHTEE)

(11) Model Code for Securities Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding dealings in
the securities of the Company by the Directors and the Group’s
senior management who, because of his/her office or employment,
is likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company or
its securities. Under specific enquiry, the Directors and the Group’s
senior management have complied with the Model Code during
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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(12) Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult
with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management on the Company’s
behalf.

(18) Corporate governance function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of Directors and has delegated the
corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee which
include:

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Group; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code from
time to time adopted by the Group and the disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report to be contained in the
Company’s annual reports.
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(14) Independent views and input

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
and at least one-third of its members being independent non-
executive Directors. Further, independent non-executive Directors
will be appointed to Board Committees as required under the
Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent
views and input are available. The Nomination Committee strictly
adheres to the independence assessment criteria as set out in
the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment
of independent non-executive Directors, and is mandated to
assess annually the independence of independent non-executive
Directors to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement. No equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objectivity and independence. A Director
(including independent non-executive Director) who has a material
interest in a contract or arrangement shall not vote or be counted
in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

Board Committees

1)

Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) comprised four
members, namely Mr. Lui Ming (chairman and executive Director),
Mr. Chan Pak Hung, Ms. Tang Lo Nar and Mr. Wong Tung Yuen
(each an independent non-executive Director). The majority of the
committee members are independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Lui Ming is the chairman of this committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
followings:

o to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individual(s) nominated for
directorship(s);

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board (if any) and
the chief executive;

to review the Nomination Policy and to ensure disclosure of
the same in the Corporate Governance Report, including the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
by the nomination committee to select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorship;

to review the Board Diversity Policy periodically and to ensure
disclosure of the same or a summary of it in the Corporate
Governance Report, including the measurable objectives that
the Committee has set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives; and

to ensure disclosure will be made in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting where the Board
proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an independent
non-executive Directors at the general meeting:

° the process used for identifying the individual and why
the Board believes the individual should be elected
and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent;

° if the proposed independent non-executive Directors
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, why the Board believes the individual
would still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board;

o the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

° how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent
on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put
to the Board for decision. Their written terms of reference are
available on the respective website of the Stock Exchange and the

REZBERIZME - &5 se 0 RETTE
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REBEEGRHTESSELRE - HEER
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Company.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting of the HE2024F12A31BHILFE @ REZE®
Nomination Committee was held and the attendance record of the BOIT—RE%  REZEENEHEZE
Nomination Committee members at this meeting is set out in the FERRESIN T RATR
table below:

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
BE EHE BEREE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman) 1/1
=A% E(EE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 11
BRIEIBSEAE
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 1/1
BBt
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen 1/1
TRREE

In this meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed and
discussed the policy, procedure and criteria for nomination of the
Directors, reviewed and discussed the Board Diversity Policy and
discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the policy
and the progress made towards meeting the measurable objective
in the policy, assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, considered the re-appointment of the retiring
Directors and reviewed the time commitment required from the
non-executive Director and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid.
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(2) Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted the following policy with regard to
nomination of Directors.

1. Objective
The Policy aims to:

o set out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company;

° ensure that the Board the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company; and

o ensure the Board’s continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

2. Scope
The Policy applies to the Directors and where applicable,
senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company.

3. Nomination and Appointment of Directors
3.1 Criteria
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship, the Nomination Committee shall consider
the following criteria in evaluating and selecting
candidates for directorships:

e  Character and integrity.

o Quialifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the business and corporate strategies
of the Company.

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

o Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge

duties as a Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments.
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° Requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

° Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee
for achieving diversity on the Board.

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to
the business of the Company.

3.2 Nomination Procedures
3.2.1Appointment of directors

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

The Nomination Committee identifies
individual(s) suitably qualified to become
Board members, having due regard to the
board diversity policy and the nomination
policy of the Company, and assesses the
independence of the proposed independent
non-executive director(s) as appropriate.

The Nomination Committee makes
recommendation(s) to the Board.

The Board considers the individual(s)
recommended by the Nomination
Committee, having due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy and the nomination policy of
the Company.

The Board confirms the appointment of the
individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends
the individual(s) to stand for election at a
general meeting. Individual(s) appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board will be subject to
re-election by Shareholders of the Company
at the next annual general meeting after initial
appointment in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company.
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(vi)

The chairman of the Nomination Committee
shall attend the annual general meeting of
the Company to answer the questions raised
by the shareholders on the nomination of
Directors and other matters in relation to the
Policy.

The Shareholders approve the election of
individual(s), who stand(s) for election at
general meeting, as Director(s).

3.2.2 Re-appointment of directors

U

(i)

(i)

The Nomination Committee shall review
the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including
his/her attendance of Board meetings and,
where applicable, general meetings, and the
level of participation and performance of the
Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review
and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in
3.1.

The Board considers each retiring
director recommended by the Nomination
Committee, having due regard to the board
diversity policy and the nomination policy of
the Company.

The Board recommends the retiring directors
to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles.

The shareholders approve the re-election of
directors at the annual general meeting.
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4. Review and Monitoring of the Policy
The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size,
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board on a regular basis at least annually and diversity of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
and experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
the requirements for the business of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall keep under review the
leadership needs of the Company, both executive and non-
executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the
Company to complete effectively in the marketplace.

The Nomination Committee shall keep up to date and fully
informed about strategic issues and commercial changes
affecting the Company and the market in which it operates.

(3) Remuneration Committee
As at 31 December 2024, the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) comprised three
members, namely Mr. Wong Tung Yuen, Mr. Chan Pak Hung
and Ms. Tang Lo Nar, all of them are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Wong Tung Yuen is the chairman of this committee.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
followings:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

° either (i) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management; or (i) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment. The Committee should consult
the Chairman and/or Chief Executive (if any) of the Company
about their proposals relating to the remuneration of other
executive Directors;
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° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

o to consider factors salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

o to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

° to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

o to ensure that no Directors or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

o to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has adopted a directors’ remuneration policy. It aims
to set out the Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid
to executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors.

The directors’ remuneration policy sets out the remuneration
structure that allows the Company to attract, motivate and retain
qualified Directors who can manage and lead the Company in
achieving its strategic objective and contribute to the Company’s
performance and sustainable growth, and to provide Directors
with a balanced and competitive remuneration. Such policy will be
reviewed and updated from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were
revised and adopted in December 2022 taking into account the
roles and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee set out
under the new requirements in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
which took effect in January 2023. The written terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the respective
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held and the attendance record of
the Remuneration Committee members at this meeting is set out
in the table below:

HZE2024F12A31HILFE  HFNLES
BITT—RGH M%Eﬁﬁﬂﬁf%
%\%ﬁWT%%m-

8 11]

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BHE BERHE
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (Chairman) 1/1
ITHRREEFE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 1/1
BRIAG &
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 1/1
B ERB L+

In this meeting, the Remuneration Committee discussed and
reviewed the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management of the Company, assessed performance of
executive Directors, made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid. No matters
relating to the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
were required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration
Committee.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statement of this annual report. Details of the
remuneration by band of the members of the senior management
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
below:

Ezegslt  FHZESmEAERNTAR
AEERSREEENHMEE - FETH
TEENERBEN  EEMNRTEERER
EREFHSE T EANESSEHTHER
R WETT BRERNBE - SHEEAR
IR B ERT BB FRABFE
BeETRUE -

EREEFINHBRERN AT REAME
WEAMEE7 - BE2024F12 831 B ILFER
NESAEERERERBEE S NWH S
ER il NE

Number of
Remuneration band individual(s)
FENEEE AE
RMB1,000,000 to RMB2,000,000 2

AR #1,000,00070 2 AR ¥2,000,0007T
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(4) Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) comprised four members, namely Mr.
Lui Wing Nam (a non-executive Director), Mr. Chan Pak Hung, Ms.
Tang Lo Nar and Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (each an independent non-
executive Director), the majority of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Chan Pak Hung is the chairman of this
committee. The main duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

Relationship with the external auditors

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the external auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
process commences;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditor shall include any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;
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Review of the Company’s financial information

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them. In
reviewing these reports before submission to the Board, the
Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

U

(i

(i)

(iv)

any changes in accounting policies and practices;

major judgmental areas;

significant adjustments resulting from audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards; and

compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

Regarding above:

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with
the Board and senior management and the Audit
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company'’s external auditor; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such report and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
external auditor.
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Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. The discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the external auditor to management
about the accounting records, financial accounts or systems
of control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in these terms of
reference;
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to review the Company’s statement on risk management and
internal control systems (where one is included in the annual
report) prior to endorsement by the Board;

to discuss problems and qualified opinion, if any, arising from
the half-year and annual audits, and any matters the external
auditor may wish to discuss (in the absence of management
where necessary);

to review arrangements which employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, risk management and
internal control or other matters. The Committee should
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters for appropriate
follow-up actions;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board from time
to time.

Corporate Governance Functions

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with and disclosure
under the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, four meetings of the Audit HZE2024F12R31BILFE  FZZEE
Committee were held and the attendance record of the Audit BT TIURESH  BERXEZEeREBHRZE
Committee members at these meetings is set out in the table SEMEEEIN N RN ¢
below:

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BEHE BEREE
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 4/4
BRIAVESEAE
Mr. Lui Wing Nam 4/4
EoKE A
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 4/4
e+
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen 4/4
FRIRSE

In those meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s
policies on corporate governance and discussed the same with
the Board, reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, internal control and risk management systems
(including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions)
and associated processes and the reappointment and new
appointment of the external auditors and fulfilled duties as required
aforesaid. The Board had not deviated from any recommendation
given by the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The Audit Committee also reviewed (i) the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2023 as well as the audited report prepared by the auditor relating
to accounting issues and major findings in course of audit; (i)
the interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the six
months ended 30 June 2024; and (jii) the audit scope and audit
plan prepared by the auditor relating to the audit for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

There are proper arrangements for employees, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control and other matters. The written terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are available on the respective website of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in Respect of Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 which give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of the
Group’s consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of
the Board with monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions
and prospects.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report in this annual
report.

Disclaimer of Opinion

The Company’s auditor (the “Auditor”), CCTH CPA Limited issued a
disclaimer of opinion (the “Disclaimer of Opinion”) on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, details of which are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Material Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As set out in Note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB982,156,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, (i) the Group’s total
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes amounted
to RMB4,551,940,000, out of which RMB2,921,418,000 will be due
for repayment within the next twelve months; while its total bank
balance and cash (including restricted cash and pledged time deposit)
amounted to RMB838,706,000; (i) an aggregate principal amount
of RMB192,991,000 of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
had not been repaid according to their scheduled repayment dates,
triggering (a) an event of default for senior notes of RMB1,281,556,000;
and (b) certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB931,740,000 becoming repayable on demand.
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These events and conditions, together with other matters described in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn.

The Directors have been undertaking plans and measures to improve
the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in
Note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of
the going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to material uncertainties including whether
the Company is able to (i) successfully negotiate with the major
noteholder of the Group’s senior notes, who is interested in 89.7% of
the Group’s outstanding senior notes, to obtain a waiver of event of
default; (i) successfully negotiate with the Group’s existing onshore
debt holders for the renewal or extension for repayment of the Group’s
bank and other borrowings; (i) successfully obtain additional new
sources of financing as and when needed; (iv) successfully carry out the
Group’s business strategy plan including the acceleration of the sales
of properties; (v) successfully implement measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs
and expenses; (vi) successfully resolve the claims and disputes with
construction contractors and other parties; and (vii) successfully dispose
of the Group’s equity interests in project development companies when
suitable.

However, the Auditor has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy themselves that the measures mentioned
above underpinning the cash flow forecast of the Group for going
concern assessment are reasonable and supportable, including but not
limited to the reasonableness of the management’s plan regarding on
obtaining the waiver of default from senior noteholders and obtaining
additional new source of financing as and when needed. As a result, the
Auditor is unable to satisfy themselves about the appropriateness of the
use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements by the management of the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned measures, it
might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.
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The Management’s Position, View and Assessment
on the Disclaimer of Opinion
In view of the uncertainties relating to going concern, the Directors

have undertaken a number of plans and measures (the “Measures”) to

improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, including:

@

the Group has been actively negotiating with the major noteholder
of the Group’s senior notes, who is interested in 89.7% of the
Group’s outstanding senior notes, with a view to waiving the event
of default resulted from the non-payment of an onshore loan. As at
date of this report, the Company has not received any acceleration
notice in connection therewith from the trustee and holders of
its senior notes. The management (the “Management”) of the
Group has held meetings with the major noteholder of the Group’s
senior notes in early 2025. Further negotiations are expected to
be conducted going forward for, among other things, obtaining
a waiver of event of default resulted from non-payment of an
onshore loan;

the Group has been actively negotiating with the Group’s existing
onshore debt holders to seek renewal or extension for repayment
of the Group’s bank and other borrowings. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group has successfully renewed the
onshore borrowings in the sum of approximately RMB1,435 million.
In the first quarter of 2025, the Group repaid the borrowings in the
sum of approximately RMB156 million. In respect of the Group’s
short-term bank borrowings due to mature in the fourth quarter of
2025, the Company will negotiate with onshore debt holders for
renewal or extension as and when appropriate;

the Group will continue to seek other alternative financing and
borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing financial
obligations and future operating and capital expenditures. The
Management has actively communicated with potential investors
to explore investment opportunities in the Company since the
fourth quarter of 2024;

EEERAHEREENLEG  ZAR

A
ENFEAABBESENTHRES - AARESE
[REZI: NSRS D2 AR ) AN S
mEE e RPN - B

@)

AEE-EHERGHASEELARENEEE
BRBANBERNEERERELEESLT%
ER)ER  EERERERIN—EEEE
FMEHRMELEN  c RARSEH - K
AR ABIREREEBEZEZTAR
BHEANEAMBREZTBA - AEEERE
([BEE ) ER2025F Y EAEEELEE
MEZZBFEARITER - BRI E
THE—FER - W(HFPRE) B EREE
EBEFERMSIBRMENEHRR

AEE-EEGRERNEENREEFEBLR
BAER - USRAEEBRTREMERD
EENERERE - H22024F12/8318 1-
FE - AEEXINEESBHARKE,435
AETTHERER - R2026FF—FEF © &
EEERERCEHNARKIS6EET © 5t
ZIS%@HﬂAQO%E%EﬂéE@JHﬂﬁ@%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BRmME - ARRBEREERESFEA
BB E;HLHﬁaEﬁTﬁﬁ

AEBREES REMBERBERER - A
XNRENPEEERARNEEREARL
o BT [E B 2024 F FIUEE EIER EE
REEBR  RAIARANERERS

BETHRBEREARIR FH2024

89



90

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

i

RERWE (&)

the Group has prepared a business strategy plan focusing on
the acceleration of the sales of properties. The Company has (i)
enhanced the sales incentive policies, including more attractive
commission structures and performance bonus to motivate the
sales team; (i) strategically focused sales resources on key areas
with stronger market demand for the Group’s projects; and (iii)
introduced more competitive discounts and flexible payment
plans for customers. In line with the aforementioned measures,
the Group’s contracted sales target for the full year of 2025
is projected to reach RMB4,800 million. In the first quarter of
2025, cumulative contracted sales amounted to approximately
RMB1,300 million, accounting for 27% of the annual sales target;

the Group has implemented measures to speed up the collection
of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs and
expenses. The Company has successfully reduced costs and
expenses over the last year by engaging more cost-efficient
auditors and optimising staffing levels through restructuring. The
Company will continue to streamline its human resource structure
to further reduce relevant costs and expenses in the second half
of this year, targeting a 10% reduction in the total number of the
Group’s employees;

the Group will continue to negotiate with construction contractors
and other parties to resolve any claims and disputes. The
Company is negotiating with contractors for repayment schedules
and/or settlement arrangements in respect of outstanding
payable construction fees. In the third quarter of 2024, the
Group progressively resolved a dispute with a main contractor
by termination of contract, and thereafter engaged a new main
contractor to resume the remaining construction work; and
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(@9 the Group will continue to seek suitable opportunities to dispose
of its equity interests in certain project development companies
in order to generate additional cash inflows. The Company has
been in ongoing discussions with a joint venture partner since early
2024 regarding the potential disposal of the Group’s interest in a
property project located in Zengcheng District, Guangzhou, and
these discussions are still at a preliminary stage.

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the Measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within twelve
months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the Directors consider
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, the Management admitted that significant
uncertainties exist as to whether the Management will be able to
implement the Measures. Should the Group fail to successfully
implement the Measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as
a going concern, and adjustments may have to be made to write down
the carrying values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of this report, the Measures are still ongoing, their
successful implementation is subject to material uncertainties, and the
Auditor has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy themselves that the Measures underpinning the cash flow
forecast of the Group for going concern assessment are reasonable
and supportable. As a result, the Auditor is unable to satisfy themselves
about the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
by the Management. Therefore, the Disclaimer of Opinion on going
concern has been concluded by the Auditor.

There was no disagreement between the Management and the Auditor
regarding the Disclaimer of Opinion, considering that the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared by the Management on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of
the Measures under Management’s assumptions, which are subject to
multiple uncertainties. In all other respects, in the opinion of the Auditor,
the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion
The Audit Committee had independently reviewed the Disclaimer of
Opinion, the Management’s position and its view on the Disclaimer
of Opinion and the Measures to address the related issue. The Audit
Committee concurs with the Management’s position and basis on the
Disclaimer of Opinion in relation to the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern based on the reasons above. The Audit Committee is
of the view that the Board should continue its efforts in implementing
the Measures with the intention of improving the Group’s liquidity and
financial position and removing the Disclaimer of Opinion.

Plan to address the Disclaimer of Opinion

The Company has been taking and will continue to implement and
optimise the Measures as set out above on an ongoing basis, and
discuss with the Auditor on an ongoing basis, in order to address the
uncertainties regarding going concern underlying the Disclaimer of
Opinion.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing
basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The management of the Group updates and reports the key risk areas,
including any remedial plans, if deemed necessary or appropriate, to the
Audit Committee for consideration. The identified key risk areas and the
appropriate risk mitigation strategies were reviewed and commented by
the Board at its meeting annually.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024, covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting
are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board. The Board is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 December 2024, the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company are effective and adequate.
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Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Company has established its enterprise risk management
framework in 2020. While the Board has the overall responsibility
to ensure that sound and effective internal controls are maintained,
management is responsible for designing and implementing an internal
control system to manage all kinds of risks (including ESG risks) facing
by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are
identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments. Our risk
management framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management
— Integrated Framework, which allows the Board and management to
manage the risks of the Group effectively. The Board receives regular
reports from the Risk Control Center and the Audit Committee. The Risk
Control Center is responsible for overseeing internal control and risk
management, and the Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing
the internal audit function.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate governance
structure with operational management and controls performed by
operations management, coupled with risk management monitoring
carried out by the finance and compliance team. The Group maintains a
risk register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The
risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management
with a profile of its major risks and records management’s action taken
to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon the
Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk owners
with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable,
at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has been performed.
This review process can ensure that the Group proactively manages
the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk owners have access to
the risk register and are aware of and alert to those risks in their area
of responsibility so that they can take follow-up action in an efficient
manner.
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Our risk management activities are performed by management on an
ongoing process. The effectiveness of our risk management framework
will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic management meeting
is held to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management
is committed to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily
business operation processes in order to align risk management with
corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company has an internal audit function which primarily carries
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the issuer’s risk management and internal control
systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at least, an annual
basis.

Handling of Inside Information

With a view to identifying, handling and disseminating inside information
in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), procedures including notification of
regular blackout period and securities dealing restrictions to relevant
Directors and employees, identification of project by code name and
dissemination of information to stated purpose and on a need-to-know
basis have been implemented by the Group to guard against possible
mishandling and/or unauthorised use of inside information within the
Group.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no fees are paid / payable to
the former external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers
(who resigned on 4 December 2024), in respect of audit services and
non-audit services.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, an analysis of the fee paid/
payable to the external auditor of the Company, CCTH CPA Limited (who
has been appointed as the auditor of the Company on 4 December
2024 following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers), in respect
of audit services and non-audit services is set out as follows:

S A

HE2024F 12 A1 B IEFE - RBAEF RIS KIE
FETIRIS AR RIATIMNEZ BN 2 R RUK B S5
Bl EFEFT (R 2024F 12 A4 B BHE) X4/ TE
B -

HZE2024F 12 A1 B ILFE - BBEFHRS MIEE

RGBS EA A AR RSINEZEM P ERES

FTRNERR A Rl (R ERUK B SRR B ATEH T -

HR2024F 12 4B EZE AR R RIZEEN) M E
RAr&EyImT

Fees Paid/Payable

et EAER
Service Category RMB’000
B A% Bl ARBEFTT
Audit services 1,020
FiT IR
Non-audit services -
IEEF IR
Total 1,020
st

Company Secretary
Mr. Chan Pui Tak is the company secretary of the Company. Please
refer to the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management — Senior Management” in this annual report for the
biography of Mr. Chan Pui Tak.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan Pui Tak
undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update their skills and knowledge during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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General Meeting
During the year ended 31 December 2024, an annual general meeting
was held on 7 June 2024 and the attendance of the Directors is as

RERRE
HZE2024F 12 A31BIEFE - 1202456 A7H
BRA—NAFHRERE - @ZNLREROT

below:

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
55 BHE BERLE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman and Executive Director) 1/1
BRSE(LERHTEF)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling (Executive Director) 1/1
BESEE(HTEE)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (Executive Director) 1/1
BEREE(HITEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau (Non-executive Director) 1/1
BRI (R TTEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Nam (Non-executive Director) 1/1
BoKE S (FEBTTEE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung (Independent Non-executive Director) 1/1
BRIEMRSE & (B HETTEE)
Ms. Tang Lo Nar (Independent Non-executive Director) 1/1
BRI L (F VIR TEE)
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (Independent Non-executive Director) 1/1

IRREE (BB TEE)

Communication with Shareholders and Investor

Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of
the shareholders and potential investors on the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the informed investment
decisions.

The annual general meeting provides opportunity for shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board,
the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the annual general
meeting to answer shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of
the Company will also attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report and auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
shareholders and maintains a website at www.glchina.group, where
up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available for public access. Shareholders and
investors may at any time contact the Company’s Investor Relations
Department at 852-5587 9653 or email to ir@ganglong.net.cn. The
Board will review the shareholders’ communication policy regularly to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders communication policy, including the communication
channels for shareholders in place and the steps taken to handle
shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that the shareholders
communication policy has been properly implemented and effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each substantially
separate issue at shareholder meetings, including nomination and
election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each shareholder meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting
In accordance with Article 64 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 64 of the Articles for requisitioning an
extraordinary general meeting and including a resolution at such
meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article 64 of the
Articles are set out above.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests

to the Company as follows:

Address: Unit 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building, 302-308 Hennessy
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Attention: Investor Relations Department
Tel: 852-5587 9653

Fax: 852-2688 0030

Email: ir@ganglong.net.cn

Enquiries will be dealt with in a timely and informative manner.

Change in Constitutional Documents

The new Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company were approved, adopted and effective on
7 June 2024 to, among other things, in order to update and bring the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company in line with
the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules in respect of the

electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuer
(effective from 31 December 2023).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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.\ CCTH CPA LIMITED
BIE K&y G Bl A PR 2 H

To the Shareholders of Ganglong China Property Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OPINIONS

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Ganglong China Property Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 103 to 231, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement and comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As set out in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB982,156,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, (i) the Group’s total
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes amounted
to RMB4,551,940,000, out of which RMB2,921,418,000 will be due
for repayment within the next twelve months; while its total bank
balance and cash (including restricted cash and pledged time deposit)
amounted to RMB838,706,000; (i) an aggregate principal amount
of RMB192,991,000 of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
had not been repaid according to their scheduled repayment dates,
triggering (a) events of default for senior note of RMB1,281,556,000;
and (b) certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB931,740,000 becoming repayable on demand.

These events and conditions, together with other matters described in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(Continued)

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out
in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of
the going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to material uncertainties and we are
unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to substantiate including
whether the Company is able to (i) successfully negotiate with the major
noteholder of the Group’s senior notes, who is interested in 89.7% of
the Group’s outstanding senior notes, to obtain a waiver of event of
default; (i) successfully negotiate with the Group’s existing onshore
debt holders for the renewal or extension for repayment of the Group’s
bank and other borrowings; (iii) successfully obtain additional new
sources of financing as and when needed; (iv) successfully carry out the
Group’s business strategy plan including the acceleration of the sales
of properties; (v) successfully implement measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs
and expenses; (vi) successfully resolve the claims and disputes with
construction contractors and other parties; and (vii) successfully dispose
of the Group’s equity interests in project development companies when
suitable.

However, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves that the measures mentioned above
underpinning the cash flow forecast of the Group for going concern
assessment are reasonable and supportable, including but not limited
to the reasonableness of the management’s plan regarding on obtaining
the waiver of default from senior noteholders and obtaining additional
new source of financing as and when needed. As a result, we are
unable to satisfy ourselves about the appropriateness of the use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements by the management of the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned measures, it
might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEERE (&)

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion with a material uncertainty related to
going concern paragraph on those statements on 28 March 2024.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and
Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEERE (&)

OTHER MATTER (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report, solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

Lau Tat Ki
Practising Certificate Number: PO8160

Unit 1510-1517, 15/F, Tower 2
Kowloon Commerce Centre

No. 51 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung
New Territories, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEEEWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 | #{£2024F12 A31H L FE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
st ARETT AREFTT
Revenue WA 8,254,197 17,579,219
Cost of sales SHEE PR AR 6 (8,379,528) (15,190,430)
Gross (loss)/profit E(18) 7 (125,331) 2,388,789
Other income and other gains, net E AU B B 5 SRR 8 10,560 27,058
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RE A 6 (184,024) (368,347)
General and administrative expenses —RITHFA 6 (213,403) (311,782)
Fair value loss on investment properties BEMEAR(BEEIE 14 (14,500) (30,020)
Provision for impairment of financial assets & gt & EsHERE 3(b) (44,780) (56,145)
Operating (loss)/profit B (|BR),wmE (571,478) 1,649,553
Finance income EEUWA 9 4,493 12,738
Finance costs BB R A 9 (93,631) (92,125)
Finance costs, net BhE R AR R 9 (89,138) (79,387)
Share of results of joint ventures and JEIEEE RS AR EE
associates 15 (18,996) (24,029)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETSHLAT (E18) 8RR (679,612) 1,546,137
Income tax expenses P HiRsZ 10 (302,544) (827,694)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive F R (E1E) HFIR
(expenses)/income for the year 2E(BIX),WEHHEE (982,156) 718,443
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive LA~ A (L (E1E), %5
(expenses)/income attributable to: R2E(EX) WEHEAHE
Owners of the Company ARaEA A (658,244) 147,972
Non-controlling interests JEIEAR RS (323,912) 570,471
(982,156) 718,443
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to 7~ R H A E{LE IR
owners of the Company (B518) BR
(expressed in RMB per share) (BB AREDIR)
— Basic and diluted —EARREE 11 (0.41) 0.09
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be 4R A B E U S IR R BRRE B F A — OFBE o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARRE

At of 31 December 2024 | 722024512 A31H

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARET T AREETFIT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NMRE 12 56,828 70,991
Investment properties EME 14 138,500 153,000
Investments accounted for using RS A BRI E
the equity method 15 1,321,238 1,340,234
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSBIEE 16 173,504 249,301
1,690,070 1,813,526
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development B 17 11,082,948 17,705,994
Completed properties held for sale FIEHEMNE R T 17 2,794,819 3,509,779
Trade and other receivables and & 5 N H h FEURIE A K2
prepayments EARE 18 2,452,882 2,308,387
Amounts due from associates i NE E S 29 131,078 124,229
Amounts due from joint ventures TEU & B ERIE 29 248,624 155,181
Amounts due from non-controlling interests & Y JE1% A% 8 5 F0E 25 3,827,435 3,317,373
Tax recoverable AT e R A 247,422 837,770
Restricted cash SIRHIR S 19 572,918 1,120,284
Pledged time deposits [REAEEIN-IYER /4 19 11 145,711
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRESEEY 19 265,777 570,167
21,623,914 29,794,875
Total assets EEMAEE 23,313,984 31,608,401
Equity xR
Capital and reserves attributable to the Z<Q F#HE AEILE AR
owners of the Company L f#E
Share capital A& 20 14,838 14,838
Reserves i 21 3,420,602 4,078,846
3,435,440 4,093,684
Non-controlling interests FEIERRAES 4,642,701 7,254,502
Total equity RSB 8,078,141 11,348,186
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

mREPBAARR R (E)

At of 31 December 2024 | 722024512 A31H

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
st AR®T T AREFTT
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Borrowings B 22 1,630,522 2,027,230
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSH A G 16 214,469 291,945
Lease liabilities HEBE 13 39,587 48,200
1,884,578 2,367,375
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables, bills payables and other B EMNFIE - EREE R
payables HihpE A 23 3,469,824 2,793,683
Lease liabilities HEAE 13 8,613 8,018
Contract liabilities AHEE 5 2,746,401 8,694,513
Amounts due to associates FETEE N B I8 29 690,272 736,644
Amounts due to joint ventures ENEEPDERIA 29 554,774 532,942
Amounts due to non-controlling interests ~ fE{F3E1E IR 425 2018 25 2,506,995 1,918,756
Tax payable FESHEIE 452,968 411,657
Borrowings = 22 2,921,418 2,796,627
13,351,265 17,892,840
Total liabilities BEHE 15,235,843 20,260,215
Total equity and liabilities ERRBEEE 23,313,984 31,608,401
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read FitisR A B RS AR 3% FE BARE MY s —OF R0, o

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 231 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and were signed

on its behalf.

F£103£231 EMERE VB MK S M2025F3 A28

REEEgiE YRREFSEE -

Mr. Lui Ming
BHEE
Director

EF

Mr. Lui Jin Ling
BESEE
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 | #{£2024F12 A31H L FE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Z‘S/AﬂﬁﬁAﬁg{E Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserves  reserves  earnings  Subtotal interests Total
Bx  RHEE  iERE  EtRE  REEA Nt FERER &t
RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note20)  (Note21)  (Note21)  (Note 21)
(War20)  (MfEen)  (W&1) (21
Balance at 1 January 2024 202451 A1 R &ER 14,838 1,448,564 379,417 284,235 1,966,630 4,093,684 7,254,502 11,348,186
Loss and total comprehensive expenses  EREBR2EHET
for the year o = = - - (658,244)  (658,244)  (323912)  (982,156)
Transactions with owners: REBANRS
Appropriation to statutory reserve ERTITEE - = 91,455 - (91,459) = - -
Capital injection from FEfERTE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - 57,000 57,000
Capital reduction from FERERRE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - (2,344,889) (2,344,889
Total transactions with ownersin -~ EEEA (LEEBFEA
their capacity as owners HERNRREE - - 91,455 - (91,455) - 2287889 2,287,889
Balance at 31 December 2024 2024512731 B &8 14,838 1,448,564 470,872 284235 1216931 3435440 4,642,701 8,078,141

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

REEZSBR(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 | #£2024F12 A31H L FE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share Share  Statutory Other  Retained controling
capital premium reserves reserves eanings Subtotal interests Total
BA RIVEE  ATRE  HHEE  RERA N FERER &
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREBTR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note20) ~ (Note 21) (Note21)  (Note 21)
(s20)  (Wskot)  (WiEor)  (W3E21)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023E1 B 1R S 14,838 1,448,564 240,268 289,095 1,957,807 3950572 7176974 11,127,546
Proftt and total comprehensive income  ERETI R E LS
for the year - - - - 147972 147972 570,471 718,443
Transactions with owners: REBANRS
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 31) HE-BHEAT
(Frsx3t) - - - - - - (345633 (345633
Effect of equity interest swap (Note 30)  FES#eZ/2(Hi330) - - - (4.860) - (4860 (147310  (152,170)
Appropriation to statutory reserve ERTETEE - - 139,149 - (139,149 - - -
Total transactions with ownersin -~ EEBA (LEEBHFEA
their capacity as owners EGEEE - - 139,149 (4.860)  (139,149) (4860)  (492943)  (497,803)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023E 12731 REEER 14,838 1,448,564 319417 284235 1,966,630 4,093,684 7,254,502 11,348,186

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv_\ é EE: % 5)2|i % %

For the year ended 31 December 2024 | #{£2024F12 A31H L FE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR¥TR AREETFIT
Cash flows from operating activities KEFHFEBRERE
Cash generated from operations KERTSIRS 24(a) 622,393 1,217,003
Income tax paid 2RISR (172,564) (298,677)
Net cash generated from operating activites &4 EBIFT1SIR &% 58 449,829 918,326
Cash flows from investing activities RETEMBRERE
Payments for purchase of property, BEYE  BERREAR
plant and equipment 12 (8,822) (1,965)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEMZE - HEKEE
plant and equipment FriS#E 24(b) 1,267 3,077
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HERAABEFEZEAEE
at fair value through profit or loss FABENEREENGE
HIg - 4,191
Cash outflow on Equity Interests Swap fEiEEBRAMR SR - (59)
Cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary L b — R B A R IR &7 = (70,714)
Net advances to associates MR R BFCFRE (5,596) (720)
Net advances to joint ventures M&EEhERER (95,381) 7,650
Net advances to non-controlling interests MIEE IR R B SO R (510,062) 423,507
Interest received [=AL &IPS 4,493 12,738
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (A, Fifs
investing activities R& 55 (614,101) 377,705
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 | #{£2024F12 A31H L FE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BfaE ARET T AREETFIT
Cash flows from financing activities BETEFESRERE
Net advances from associates Bt N R B TR ER 24(c) (46,372) 82,933
Net advances from joint ventures BEPEIATFRE 24(c) 21,832 (147,557)
Net advances from non-controlling interests ~ JE1E A& 25 B0 T H 58 24(c) 588,239 452 770
Proceeds from borrowings BT RIE 24(c) 92,459 426,562
Repayment of borrowings EEER 24(c) (480,104) (2,288,639)
Payment of principal portion of lease BEEHEaBEASHY
liabilities 24(c) (8,018) (8,250)
Payment of interest portion of lease EEHEBENSHD
liabilities 24(c) (3,921) (4,558)
Interest paid EAFE (304,233) (411,316)
Net cash used in financing activities REEEFTAIRE 58 (140,118) (1,898,0595)
Net decrease in cash and cash RERBREEBYRDFE
equivalents (304,390) (602,024)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ¥R & R LEEY
the year 570,167 1,172,191
Cash and cash equivalents at R2024F12A31BRER
31 December 2024 ReZEY 19 265,777 570,167

The above consolidated statement of cashflows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Lt AR REREEBEMME—G3E
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General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8
October 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church
Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is located at
No. 11 Building, PortMix South District, No. 2177 Shenkun Road,
Minhang District, Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is located at Unit 1201, 12/F, CC Wu Building, 302-308
Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the development of real estate projects
in the PRC. The Company’s shares were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15
July 2020. The ultimate holding companies of the Company are
Huaxing Development Co. Ltd., Hualian Development Co., Ltd
and Hualong Development Co. Ltd., which are incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issued by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company on
28 March 2025.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622 (“HKCO”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except as modified by financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties which
are measured at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

(@ Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for current year
In current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BB BRELRFE165R ZIEFTA
Amendments to HKAS 1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()
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REBNGEAMBRRIIBEFLGEA
(AR EFMAE )RHNFEMBRE
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2 ERAREEAEEEEHABRY
EREEMAAABEENREMEME
FIERRIN

RET AT BMBREEROG S BRE
B EERA TERG A - KEAASK
B BURE - BERE NS RS A
W REE A SRR O8RS
TR A B R R R A AT A0 #OR R ER O MY
EZN

(a) ANEERHERNEBIEIR
EHER ZIBET AR
RAFE - REERRELLE I HERE
HNERAR2024F1 A1 Hk 28 FtA
BFEHRARI AR BB AE
([BEGHMAE D)BMEIATEE &
SR BB E %R -

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERMARFHHERE
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BASFHERIE 1R 2EETA

Amendments to HKAS 1

BERGTHERIE 1R ZIEETA

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

ARG ERIETR RE BV BIREER
ENG AP

The adoption of the above new and amendments to
standards did not have significant financial impact on the
consolidated financial statements, except for the adoption of
HKAS 1 as stated in Note 2(d).

BESERRBKIERE A REEZRBELR(2020) 2 A8HIER]
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

M REEEERE BE

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HERmRE b

SRAN AT AT R ARS AT RS S A A
BBRRELEANBYE  HRA
E BB ELAIE BRI (2T
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2 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue

but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BB BRELERIFET KRB BT BRE
AR ET7IR 2 AEF] A
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

EEMEREEIE105F LEE ST
AR 285R ZEF] AR
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards
BAVBMEL G ER ZEFTR
Amendments to HKAS 21
BEAGHERAE2 2 EFTR
HKFRS 18
BB EREAE 1855

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2 mREE(E)
(b) EREMEREREN ZHET R
BRI BB BRELER
AR SR B3 AR PR LA T E AL 5
R RIS TR TS Rt
Al

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
HEeMTAMNDERFTEMEE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

BREEREBENRIAELRCMEELEIEE

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 113

EEVBHEE e ERFENE - F 1150

Lack of Exchangeability?

R A H AR

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements*

MIEHmER M 27 R FR

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to ! RFFTE B #isk 2 18 M6 & 6 2 B
be determined. AR o

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 R2025F1 A1B 2 B FABNFE
2025. HARRIAE R ©

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 HR2026F1 A1ARZ AR FE
2026. HAR AR o

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 4 HR2027F1 A1 AR BRI EE
2027. BRI AR -

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to
accounting standards and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2024

BETERMGHOFTETER - SR ERMNEBET
FEREBAEREE2024F12 A31 B L& ]
4 HAR SR IR AN - R AL BRI F R

reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the SR (BETRRE - BT EER) ~ 85T

Group. These standards, amendments or interpretations are
not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the

BN EASRRRERA TS HER
ARANARRGELEATE @ HERNE

current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future 78 B 7% sl 5 22 B S5 18 51 B o (4N BT 7 2(e) T
transactions, except for the adoption of HKFRS 18 as stated i) o
in Note 2(e).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B P RRMEE (R)

2 Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2 mEEE(E)

(c) Going concern basis

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB982,156,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, (i)
the Group’s total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and senior notes amounted to RMB4,551,940,000, out of
which RMB2,921,418,000 will be due for repayment within
the next twelve months, while its total bank balance and
cash (including restricted cash and pledged time deposit)
amounted to RMB838,706,000; (i) an aggregate principal
amount of RMB192,991,000 of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings had not been repaid according to their
scheduled repayment dates, triggering (a) an event default
for senior note of RMB1,281,556,000; and (b) certain
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB931,740,000 becoming repayable on demand.

The above conditions indicated the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In view of
such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
undertaken a number of plans and measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, including:

(@ the Group has been actively negotiating with the
major noteholder of the Group’s senior notes, who is
interested in 89.7% of the Group’s outstanding senior
notes, with a view to waiving the event of default
resulted from the non-payment of an onshore loan. As
at date of this report, the Company has not received
any acceleration notice in connection therewith from the
trustee and holders of its senior notes;

(b) the Group has been actively negotiating with the
Group’s existing onshore debt holders to seek renewal
or extension for repayment of the Group’s bank and
other borrowings;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

2 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

(c) the Group will continue to seek other alternative
financing and borrowings to finance the settlement of
its existing financial obligations and future operating and
capital expenditures;

(d) the Group has prepared a business strategy plan
focusing on the acceleration of the sales of properties;

(e) the Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses;

()  the Group will continue to negotiate with construction
contractors and other parties to resolve any claims and
disputes; and

(@ the Group will continue to seek suitable opportunities
to dispose of its equity interests in certain project
development companies in order to generate additional
cash inflows.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking
into account the above plans and measures, the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the following twelve months from 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

2 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether the management of the Group will be able to
implement the aforementioned plans and measures. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate
financing and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully negotiate with the major noteholder of the
Group’s senior notes, who is interested in 89.7% of the
Group’s outstanding senior notes, to obtain a waiver of
event of default;

(i) successfully negotiate with the Group’s existing onshore
debt holders for the renewal or extension for repayment
of the Group’s bank and other borrowings;

(i)  successfully obtain additional new sources of financing
as and when needed;

(iv) successfully carry out the Group’s business strategy
plan including the acceleration of the sales of properties;

(v) successfully implement measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses;

(vi) successfully resolve the claims and disputes with
construction contractors and other parties; and

(vii) successfully dispose of the Group’s equity interests in
project development companies when suitable.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the carrying
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

2. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(d) Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The 2020 Amendments provide clarification
and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument applying
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

2. Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2 mEEE(E)

(d) Impacts on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that
only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on
or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date, even if compliance with the
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an entity
must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants)
do not affect the classification of a liability as current or non-
current at the reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to
defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period. This would include information about the covenants,
the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and
circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may have
difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2. Basis of Preparation (Continued)
() HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments
to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings
per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management
3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Market risk

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group principally operates in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB.
With minor operation in Hong Kong, the Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk with respect to
the Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$”) and United States
dollar (“USD”). Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions and recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency
that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The exposure to foreign exchange
risk related to HKD is not material to the Group.

At 31 December 2024, if USD had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against the RMB with all
other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year then ended would have
been approximately RMB64,077,000 (2023:
RMB58,289,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of the foreign exchange difference on translation
of USD denominated cash and cash equivalents
and borrowings.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-
term borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group closely monitors trend of interest rate
and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk
exposure. The Group currently has not used any
interest rate swap arrangements but will consider
hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@ Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, bank and other
borrowings of the Group which were bearing
at floating rates amounted to approximately
RMB1,904,022,000 (2023: RMB1,824,430,000).
If interest rates on borrowings at floating rates had
been 50 basis points higher or lower with all other
variables held constant and without taking into
account interest capitalisation, interest charges
for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
have been RMB9,520,000 higher/lower (2023:
RMB9,122,000 higher/lower).

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and cash equivalents, pledged time deposits, restricted
cash, trade and other receivables, amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling interests
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position, which represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
Management has credit policies in place to monitor the
exposures to these credit risks on an ongoing basis.

()  Risk management
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, in order to
manage this risk, the Group’s bank deposits are
mainly deposited with reputable banks which
are all high-credit-quality financial institutions
incorporated in the PRC.

For the trade receivables arising from sales
of properties, the Group closely monitors the
collection of progress payments from customers
in accordance with payment schedule agreed
with customers. The Group has policies in place
to ensure that sales are made to purchasers with
an appropriate financial strength and appropriate
percentage of down payments.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

3

B 5

P EIE ()

3.1 PEREE ()

(@)

(b)

sk (&)

(i)  SMNEREE(E)
R2024F 12 831 H » &
EEZEZBEFEGFTEHER
TREMERNBARYE
1,904,022,0007T (2023 4F
AR #1,824,430,0007T) °
SERATBEEMEERET
g BTETRFBERE -
BIRF BRI EF BRI E KA
KR AR50 E 2
HZE2024F 12 A31 B 1L
ERFEERAGSIM
A B # 9,520,000 7T ( 2023
FooEMRmLARE
9,122,0007T) °

FERR

AEENEERRTIEXRALEA
MBMRAKRMBRE NREF
EBY  SEBEREFR - XR
e BHREMERIR - &
W N R - AR RERIFER
RS TR - Bl R AR B P E
HESREEABNEANEER
% BEEECHEEERRSE

ERZEEERR

() [EfREE
72024 £ 2023412 A 31
B AEEZEAR  ~EE
RERITERETEERNEE
REFRRTT - ZFRITEA
REBESENFMA IS E
BEE SRS -

MHEMERELENE SR
HAEME - AEERBERP
RATA A RE Bl E ) BE R
MEPNRHERIBFR ° &
SEDFIEBCR @ BRAHE
BEEMBRENNERNE
EENARELOBETHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

()

Risk management (Continued)

Meanwhile, the Group has the right to cancel the
contracts once repayment from the customers
is in default; it also has monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up actions are taken to recover
overdue balances. In addition, the Group regularly
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade receivables to ensure that adequate
impairment provisions are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk with exposure spread
over a number of counterparties and customers.

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of the Group’s property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. Detailed disclosure of
such guarantees is made in Note 28. If a purchase
defaults on the payment of its mortgage loan
during the guarantee period, the bank holding the
guarantee may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding principal of the loan and any interest
accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the
Group is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and
resell the property to recover any amounts paid by
the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is mitigated.

For other receivables and amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, management of
the Group makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability based on credit quality of
the counterparties by taking into account their
financial position and credit history, and also
available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. Management also regularly
reviews the recoverability of these receivables and
follow up the disputes or amounts overdue, if any.
The directors are of the opinion that the risk of
default by counter parties is low.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Risk management (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:

o external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the counterparty’s
ability to meet its obligations

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the customer

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the customer,
including changes in the payment status of
customer in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

()

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment.

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments
within 90 days of when they fall due.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit losses
on a timely basis. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical
loss rates for each category of receivables and
adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables
from third parties.

The Group overall considers the shared credit risk
characteristic and the days past due of the trade
receivables to measure the expected credit loss.
Based on management assessment, the expected
credit losses of the financial assets mentioned
above are not significant. The loss allowance
provision for these balances was not material as at
31 December 2024 (2023: same).

3

RS EE (E)
3.1 BREkEEZE(E)

(b)

FEJ‘LF’%(”;)
(0 /_l/ff%

(i)

E LXE’J $EQD1T  fiWfE
ﬁ‘%/\ﬁﬁﬁiﬁm HIFRIEB B

30R - AEEEERB AR
0 e

CREENENEHETER
HFITEARFHIR0A N
RS HNREER

INER [H35 R R s TR R
E%E@ﬂa SHREEARHEER
FEBARR - RETHETEAEE
Eﬂ%i—feﬁq CREBEZEERE
JEWFRIERBAEER - I
IRIERIE 1 R B B R
1THEE -

EHEERE
B 5 WA

REBRAEEU B RS L
AR EMNEERTE
HEEEBRRERE

u/<—v—
Al r B REE=FH
B S EWGIEFE A2 HER
B IR -
BETEREERE A%

ExEZEEERKRAKLR
BB 5 e IGRIE /) 18 P
HE - BERENG - £t
CRMEENEREEEEY
TEK - ZEEHAEER
HBR2024%E 12 A31 B 3k
BEA(20234F : HHE) °

BETHRBEREARIR FH2024

123



124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

B 5

FA

[a]s)
rA

B (E)

3.1 HHEEREZE (&)
fEE R ()

(b)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised costs

For other receivables and amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and related parties
and financial guarantees provided to customers,
the measurement of the expected credit losses
has been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The closing
loss allowance provision for other receivables,
amounts due from associates and joint ventures
as at 31 December 2024 reconcile to the opening
loss allowance for that provision as follows:

(i)

LA ERE (E)
REERART R B S Bt
BE

T 5Lt LR TR % Uit
naE - BETERBE AR
HRRHTEP O EER
mE - BEMEERIENGE
ERBEEREERRBREE X
BEIREGETT 0 4 - 72024
F12A318 » EfhEY R
IH -~ BREE R RAEED
FFIE R BB R AR
ZEEZEBERBHEREN
T

Amounts
Amounts  due from
Other  due from joint
receivables associates ventures Total
HitfEl  EREE EkeE
FE  ARRE LERE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥TrR ARETR AR¥TxR
At 1 January 2023 R2023%181AR - N N N
Provision for impairment of EREBEIDAA
financial assets 41,552 6,467 8,126 56,145
At 31 December 2023 H2023F12H31H 41,552 6,467 8,126 56,145
Provision/(reversal) for impairment SREEHR/
of financial assets (BD)RiME 44,095 (1,253) 1,938 44,780
At 31 December 2024 72024%12H31H 85,647 5,214 10,064 100,925

All of these financial assets are considered to
have low credit risk and thus the impairment
provision recognised was based on 12 months
expected losses. Management considered other
receivables, amount due from associates and joint
ventures to be low credit risk as they have a low
risk of default and the issuer has strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B P RRMEE (R)

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and cash equivalents or have available funding
through proceeds from pre-sale of properties and an
adequate amount of available financing including short-
term and long-term borrowings and obtaining additional
funding from shareholders. Due to the dynamic nature
of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains
flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate amount of
cash and cash equivalents and through having available
sources of financing.

The Group has a number of alternative plans to mitigate
the potential impacts on anticipated cash flows should
there be significant adverse changes in economic
environment. These include reducing land acquisition,
adjusting project development timetable to adapt
the changing local real estate market environment,
implementing cost control measures, promotion of
sales of completed properties, accelerating sales with
more flexible pricing and seeking joint venture partners
to develop projects. The Group will pursue such options
basing on its assessment of relevant future costs and
benefits. The directors consider that the Group will be
able to maintain sufficient financial resources to meet its
operation needs.

The table below sets out the Group’s financial liabilities
by relevant maturity grouping at each balance sheet
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 HKEMEEGE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIEMEZE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) FBESRE(E)
On Lessthan Over
demand 1year 1-2years  2-5years 5years Total
BER 15[/ 1225 2E5F BB5F @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TR AR¥TR AR%TR AR®TR AR¥TR
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12831H
Borrowings R - 3,072,619 1,159,108 648,562 - 4,880,289
Trade payables, bills payablesand ~ Z5ENZIE - BNZE
other payables (excluding payroll LEMENTIE - TRE
payable and other taxes payable)  EfTHE A BN TR - 3,342,382 - - - 3342382
Amounts due to associates BB AT IE 690,272 - - - - 690,272
Amounts due to joint ventures AR ERT 554,774 - - - - 554,774
Amounts due to non-controlling FERT IR RS TAIE
interests 2,506,995 - - - - 2,506,995
Lease liabilities HEAR - 12,825 12,392 35,189 = 60,406
3,752,041 6,427,826 1,171,500 683,751 - 12,035,118
On Less than Over
demand 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total
®’E% 1ER 1226 2F5EF HBR5F @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETE ARETT AR%®TR ARETRT ARETR
At 31 December 2023 M2023£12831H
Borrowings E& - 3,161,430 1,970,248 268,719 - 5,400,397
Trade payables, bils payablesand & S ER A « i Z4
other payables (excluding payroll REMENTIE - TEE
payable and other taxes payable) ~ J& ﬁ%ﬁ%‘&ﬁ’rﬂﬁgﬁﬁlﬁ 2,704,044 o - - 2,704,044
Amounts due to associates e AR 736,644 - - - - 736,644
Amounts due to joint ventures ERE “ﬁ% 532,942 - - - - 532,042
Amounts due to non-controlling A Wéﬁnmlﬁ
interests 1,918,756 £ . = =1 119181756
Lease liabilities HEAR - 11,939 11,913 33,828 12,193 69,873
3,188,342 5,877,413 1,982,161 302,547 12,193 11,362,656
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group also provides guarantees to secure
repayment obligations of certain purchasers of the
Group’s property units and the principal of borrowings
of the joint ventures, associates and third parties, which
will have contractual cash flows only if the guaranteed
purchasers, joint ventures, associates or third parties
default the repayment (Note 26).

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for the owner and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt. Except for the compliance of certain financial
covenants for maintaining the Group’s banking facilities
and borrowings, the Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. The management monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio of the Group. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings, amounts due to third
parties, amounts due to associates and joint ventures and
non-controlling interests and lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus
net debt.

3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

IR EIE ()
3.1 I EREE ()

(c) w"BESREMRE)
REEMREERABREAER
MEBMNNETERNEREL
REBLE BMERARKRE=H
MERAS  HEBESERN
BER - SEGE BERRNE
ZHEREFNBERT  ALE
F£a4EeRE(HE26)

2 EXEMERE

AEENEARER B RARERE B
BIEMBE S - e RE AREAMF]
=R IR MR FaE - RIS 5
BENEBIAREEARAE

REFRRHRENGE  AREXEH
EXNTFREROBRESSHE - MBRERE
BN BITHBRRHEEENRDE
1% o BRAETE T2 REZONERAS
BEIRTTRIE RERSN  REETZ(E
{AISNERSR AV E AR ESKEVHIR © BIEE
REAEENEEBBLREEER -
AR TIRERF R E A BERE -
B FRIIRETEE - BNFE=TTR
A BNBERRRAERETIR B
IR EERREEERERRER
ReFEWE - BRNEENRGEEY
BRI PR B0 [ #E 2k | RS F BB At

= o
FTe

BETHRBEREARIR FH2024

127



128

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 HEEKREE(E)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 3.2 EXREMEE (&)

As at 31 December

M12H831H

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETF T

Borrowings (Note 22) B (Hi5E22) 4,551,940 4,823,857

Amounts due to associates (Note 29) FETEE &N B R IE (B 3E29) 690,272 736,644

Amounts due to joint ventures (Note 29) FEfTE S ERIE (KT:E29) 554,774 532,942

Amounts due to non-controlling interests FET IEIERR M 25 TR H

(Note 25) (Fg5E25) 2,506,995 1,918,756

Lease liabilities (Note 13) HEBE(HES) 48,200 56,218

Total borrowings R L 8,352,181 8,068,417
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 19) B ReRIReEEY

(Mi5E19) (265,777) (570,167)

Net debt B 55 8,086,404 7,498,250

Total equity B 8,078,141 11,348,186

Total capital BEARLBRE 16,164,545 18,846,436

Gearing ratio BEAGBLE 50.0% 39.8%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

(a)

Fair value hierarchy

This note explains the judgements and estimates made
in determining the fair values of investment properties
that are recognised and measured at fair value in
the consolidated financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its non-
financial assets into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs).

3 BERARER(E)
3.3 DAEEME
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DIREEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M EEmRME (&)
3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 ﬁ%ﬂf‘ﬁ =18 (48)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) D REEMF ()
(@) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AREEER(E)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial and non TRARNEER AL EBEIED
financial instruments carried at fair value by level of the SRNIESHMITAKAERAARE
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair BERTANBEDEZNE ABER
value: TEHBI DA -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1 F21 £33 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR T AR TT ARBTT
At 31 December 2024 72024512H31R
Investment properties B - - 138,500 138,500
At 31 December 2023 72023512H31H
Investment properties B - - 153,000 153,000
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and REBOBEABERNIRE R
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end HAREBEERERNEA K
of the reporting period. e
There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 for B E2024F12 A31 B L5 [Z B
recurring fair value measurements during the year - F1 - F2R R BIRPEE
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same). MAnBEFEZHETEER

(20234 : #[) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b)

()

Valuation techniques used to determine level 3
fair values

The directors determine a property’s value within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. Fair values
of the Group’s completed investment properties are
derived using the income capitalisation approach. This
valuation method takes into account the net rental
income of a property derived from its existing leases
and/or achievable in the existing market with due
allowance for the reversionary income potential of the
leases, which have been then capitalised to determine
the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

All resulting fair value estimates for investment
properties are included in level 3.

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)

Detailed disclosures of the changes in level 3 items
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 for
recurring fair value measurements are disclosed below.

3

B E e R (48)
3.3 AAEEMF(E)
b) BEEIRARBEAANGE

(©

Tk

EEHEAEMNAR BEMGTHE
NHEEWEMNEE - AEEND
% TR EYED R EESE AR
BRI ERE - RARSHEA
A EEZMERNERAM
BR/UIEERTISRAERD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(d) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs
used in recurring level 3 fair value measurements. See (b)
above for the valuation techniques adopted.

71 BREREE(E)
3 AREEME(E)

(d)

HEBARBREAAEEN
TREGREEEFEIR DA BER
EFEANERTITERG AR
BEONE{ER - ARAMRAHM
B F2HLEX () °

Fair value at 31 December

R12A31HNAAREE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
Investment properties LAY 138,500 153,000
Range of unobservable inputs
As at 31 December
M2AM BT BRRARBNEERE
Properties status Unobservable inputs 2024 2023
MEMR THBREEAHE
Investment properties Capitalisation rate 5.50% 5.25%
wEME B &
Monthly rental
(RMB/sg.m./month) 53-97 36-103

AlE

(AR¥ 3K/ A)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:

—  The higher capitalisation rate, the lower the fair

value;

—  The higher monthly rental, the higher the fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(d)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
(Continued)

Based on the valuation results, a fair value loss on
investment properties of RMB14,500,000 (2023:
RMB30,020,000) was recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

The Group’s investment properties were valued by an
independent professionally qualified valuer, Cushman &
Wakefield, who holds a recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the locations
and segments of the investment properties valued. For
all investment properties, their current use equates to
the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance department has a team to review
the valuations performed by the independent valuer for
financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly
to the executive directors. Discussion of valuation
processes and results are held amongst the executive
directors, the valuation team and the valuer at least
once every six months for the Group’s interim and
annual reporting process.

At each reporting period end, the finance department:

° Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation report;

° Assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior period valuation report; and

. Holds discussions with the independent valuer.

3 ﬁﬁHA”ﬁuJ

3 AAEBEMFT(E)

(d FEBABBEREALAEEN
R (E)
ERNEELER  REarEKE
RERREMENRARBEEIE
A R # 14,500,000 7 (2023 £
AFR#30,020,0007T) °
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(e) Leasing arrangements
Certain investment properties are leased to tenants
under long term operating leases with rentals payable
monthly. Minimum lease payments receivable on leases
of investment properties are disclosed in Note 28(b).

The period of leases whereby the Group leases out its
investment properties under operating leases ranged
from 1 year to 5 years.

Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgements

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are evaluated and based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that may have a significant effect on the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Revenue recognition on properties sold

Judgement on recognition method

The Group recognises revenue from sales of properties at a
point in time when the buyer obtains control of the completed
property. The Group may not change or substitute the
property unit or redirect the property unit for another use
due to the contractual restrictions with the customer and
thus the property unit does not have an alternative use to
the Group. Whether there is an enforceable right to payment
depends on the terms of sales contract (by written or verbal)
and the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply to the
contract. Such determination requires the use of judgements
interpretation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B P RRMEE (R)

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

(@

Revenue recognition on properties sold
(Continued)

Judgement on recognition point

Management has also made judgement on when control of
properties are transferred to customers. Control of properties
are transferred to customer upon which the construction
of relevant properties has been completed and upon which
the properties has been handed over to the customers, the
Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable, usually all considerations received
before handover of the properties to customers.

The judgement on the right to payment associated with
the property sales transaction and the transfer of control of
properties would affect the Group’s profit for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 and the carrying value of
completed properties held for sale.

Land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC and
it is one of the main components of the Group’s tax provision,
and is levied on the sale of properties at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation of land
value. The Group estimates the provision for LAT in relation
to the sales of properties based on the allocation of revenue
and cost of sales among different property types and the
estimated total sales of properties less total deductible
expenditures of the relevant property. This estimation
incorporated judgement around classification of property
types, and the application of deductibles, which includes
lease payments for land use rights, property development
costs, borrowing costs and other development expenditures,
based on management’s understanding and interpretation of
the relevant tax rules and regulations.

However, the implementation and settlement of these taxes
varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC,
and the Group’s land appreciation taxes calculation and
payments are subject to finalisation with local tax authorities
in the PRC. The final tax outcome could be different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and deferred income
tax provisions in the periods in which such taxes have been
finalised with local tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

(©

Income tax and deferred income tax

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises tax
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on a single
best estimate of the most likely outcome approach. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers to be probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax
losses can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different.

Provision for impairment of properties under
development and completed properties held
for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and completed properties held for
sale according to their net realisable value based on the
realisability of these properties, taking into account estimated
costs to completion based on past experience (properties
under development only), variable selling expenses and
estimated net sales value based on prevailing market
conditions. Provision is made when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
realised. The assessment requires the use of judgement and
estimates.
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Revenue from Contracts With Customers

and Segment Information

The Executive Directors of the Company have been identified as
the chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”). Management
determines the operating segments based on the Group’s internal
reports, which are then submitted to the CODM for performance
assessment and resources allocation.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segment based on a measure of profit before income tax and
regard these to be only one operating segment — property
development. Accordingly, segment disclosures are not presented.
No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority
of the assets and operation of the Group are located in the PRC,
which is considered as one geographical location in an economic
environment with similar risk and returns.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no
transaction with a single external customer that amounted to 10%
or more of the Group’s revenue.

The revenue from contracts with customers recognised during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are sales of properties
in the PRC, all of which were recognised at a point in time.

The revenue from external parties is derived from numerous
external customers and the revenue reported to the Executive
Directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

REFEFENNRERDHE
#
ARRHTEECRER AL BEEREE
([EBEEREE]) - ERERIEAEED
MBREETEEDH - 2 RRRTFERE
ERFE AT EE R BT -

WITEEREBERAEHRANENT EFFEEE
DERRIR - AR Z mME—mZE DR - Al
MR - Bt - RIVBEEDBEEE
£t o AR ANEBERARD EERLEMRH
B (148 B AL BB AR GURL i K [B] 3 1 48
RIFTOIERE) - #ORTIRIZBE D
DT o

HE2024F 202312 A1 A ILFEE © #
EE—INIRFR S E BB ASEE KRS
AI10%Bk A _E o

HE2024F 202312 A1 A I FE AR
REREFEINARWEAEFTENYE
SHEWA - FTEZSWAL N AR 20
REAINFE TR THRRAEINBES -
B ERTFHITE BN TR BGA PR
X—BHAAE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLELEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Sales of properties YIS HE 8,254,197 17,579,219
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

5 Revenue from Contracts With Customers 5 REZEFSHNWNERDIE

and Segment Information (Continued) (&)
(a) Details of contract liabilities (@ BXHNEEFE
As at 31 December
M2A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Contract liabilities related to sales of HYEHERANEHNERE

properties (Note) (FF&E)

2,746,401 8,694,513

Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, contract liabilities
represent advanced payments received from customers
for properties that have not yet been transferred to the
customers. Decreased in contract liabilities during the
year ended 31 December 2024 represents recognition of
advanced payments received from customers to revenue.

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2024 related to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year:

st © 20245 22023512 A31H » &
HEBEERHARBERETERFNY
¥MEFWEBRELMR - BHE
202412 A31B IFFEHMALHE
ERLIEERBREPHEZEK
i

HEHNEEERENEERRE
TREINEZE2024F12A31HILFE
HETRRELE SN B EMBENIK

3z
= o
g

FRAA KR B DB -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETFT
Sales of properties YIEHE 7,946,790 16,924,525
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

5 Revenue from Contracts With Customers

5 REFFENNKZERDEE

and Segment Information (Continued)
() Unsatisfied contracts related to sales of
properties

#HE&E)
() ERYEFEERBHABITEN

As at 31 December

#W12A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREETIT
Sales of properties MEHE
Expected to be recognised TR T HERR
— Within one year ——&FR 2,281,206 11,260,012
— After one year ——%F1% 508,062 151,341
2,789,268 11,411,353

(d) Assets recognised from costs to fulfill a
contract
In addition to the contract balances disclosed above, the
Group has also recognised sales commission as an asset
in relation to costs to fulfill the contracts with customers.
This is presented within trade and other receivables and
prepayments in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(d) BEAKRARERNEE

B EXFIEA DRI - ARETE
HRAHEMERERBETEEPANZ
RANEVEE © LEIRE ISR A
B 5 I H 8RR A R TR TR T
o

As at 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Sales commission recognised from costs BB AEE K AP RER S
incurred to fulfill a contract (Note 18) HEME (FFE18) 54,023 103,626
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5 Revenue from Contracts With Customers

and Segment Information (Continued)
(e) Accounting policies on revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivables for the sales of properties in the PRC
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Sales of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the purchaser. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time.
Control of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

o Provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the purchaser; or

o Creates and enhances an asset that the purchaser
controls as the Group performs; or

o Does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the purchaser obtains the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

6 Expenses by Nature 6 EMEITHEEXZ
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREEFIT
Cost of properties sold — including EEVEXT(BIERE

construction cost, land cost, capitalised KA~ EHIAAR « EARE

interest expenses FERZ) 7,753,001 14,430,210
Provision for impairment of properties R MERBFELER

under development and completed B TR RERE

properties held for sale 609,886 670,566
Other taxes and surcharges HE KM e 16,641 89,654
Employee benefit expenses (Note 7) 1B B @ FZ (fFEE7) 110,594 202,188
Management and consulting services fee B NEEARTEE (Fis@)

(Note (a)) 45,339 58,037
Donation B = 237
Advertising and promotion expenses BEREERSY 51,174 119,191
Office expenses PANER 53,935 62,340
Depreciation on property, plant and M WE - mER

equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 12) FREEETE (MFE12) 21,888 26,836
Entertainment expenses EEBERY 14,023 26,913
Expenses related to short-term and R REEBEHEERA

low-value leases - 3,704
Recruitment fee BEEA = 88
Motor vehicle expenses HEEA 1,171 5,446
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR = B

— Audit services — BT AR 1,020 3,000

— Non-audit services —IEE AR = =
Legal and professional service fees FEEMEERGER 12,246 24,898
Travelling and transportation expenses ERERBEA 3,654 6,363
Sales commission SHEMS 64,266 139,039
Others =) 18,117 1,849
Total cost of sales, selling and marketing THE AR - HE R &R

expenses and general and administrative LAR: — M RATIER A 52

expenses 8,776,955 15,870,559

fiiE(e) - 2 RIRAE TIFERE SRR R E
=HXNERMERBRENEER
ARG ER o

Note (a): The amounts represent the fees paid to certain non-
controlling interests shareholders and third parties in relation
to the management and consulting services provided by them
for the property development projects.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EERINBEX(SIEEEEHE)
Directors’ Emoluments)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BHLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARBFT
Wages, salaries and other benefits I% - e hEmEH 96,563 174,890
Pension costs — statutory pension BRERA —ETERINE 14,031 27,298
110,594 202,188
Pensions scheme - statutory pension BREFE - ZERKE
Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required AEERTEKBARIESAS IS TR
to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme FERREENTERETRINGE - AEER
administrated and operated by the local municipal government. WHRBNEARIZEESF e TEA LEHE
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are IR R IR - LAAME B R IRE IR
calculated on certain percentage of the employee salary to the B o
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
The Group recognises employee benefit expenses in the following REERGEE2ERERERATERNNE
categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive SRMFX
income:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12831HLLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAT 37,243 68,088
General and administrative expenses —RR R ITERBE 73,351 134,100
110,594 202,188

142 Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EEEFNBEX(BIEESEHE)

Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued) (8)
(@) Directors’ emoluments () EXiNE
The remuneration of the directors of the Company are RAGIESHFMAT -

presented as below:

(i) For the year ended 31 December 2024 () BEZE2024F12831BLFE

Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of
director's other
services in
Employer's connection
contribution with the
Allowance ~ toaretirement  management
Discretionary and benefit benefit  of the affairs of
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme the Group Total
kEEER
ERALH
SHNERE
{52150 ST e 1]
ESte k3 B RERL ZERENAE BRHENGR Hfthe it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR  ARETR AR#TR  ARETR ARHTR ARETT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HENUE2RMALER

Executive directors Higs

Mr, LuiMing EEEE - 1,052 - - 17 - 1,069
M, Lui Chi Chung Jmmy Bxlis - 1,025 - = 163 = 1,188
M, Lui din Ling BERRE - 1,021 - - 163 - 1,190
Non-executive directors FirES

Mr, Lui Wing Nam AL - 631 - - - - 631
. Lui Wing Mau BAREE - 631 - - - - 631

Independent non-executive directors BUFAES

M Chan Pak Hung REsEE 144 - - - - - 144
Ms. Tang Lo Ner HElat 120 - - - - - 120
M. Wong Tung Yuen (Note ) TREAEM)) 110 - - - - - 110
Total it 374 4,366 - - 3 - 5,083
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 ESEFEX(BIEESMD)

Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

(ii)

(4&

@ EHME(E)

v

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (i) BHZE2023F12A31HILFE
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of
director’s other
senvicesin
Employer's connection
contribution with the
Alowance  toarefirement management
Discretionary and benefit benefit  of the affairs of
Name of directors Fees Salaries honuses in kind scheme the Group Total
S
st
SHNLRR
EEEEA  BREEL
Bt k3 £t BERD MREAME  REEGHOER Aol &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NREFT ARETT NREFT NRETT NRETT NRETT NRETT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HENBE12RMALEE
Executive directors HiTEs
Mr, LuiMing BMLE - 1533 - - 51 - 1,584
Mr, Lui Chi Chung Jimmy RElLE - 1433 - - 160 - 1593
Mr. Lui Jin Ling BERRE - 1433 - - 160 - 1593
Non-executive directors FanEz
. Lui Wing Nerm BXERE - 674 - - - - 674
Mr, Lui Wing Mau BAGAE - 674 - - - - 674
Independent non-executive directors BukanEs
i, Chan Pk Hung RERLE 0 - - - - - 202
M. Guo Shaomu DN 275 - - - - - 15
Ms Tang Lo Ner #alat 103 - - - - - 193
M, Wong Tung Yuen (Note f) TR () 9 - - - - - 9
Tote it 679 5147 - - 37 - 6,797
Note: M3t -
()  Mr. Wong Tung Yuen was appointed as the () FEHRIRETER2023F12A1H

Company’s independent non-executive director on 1
December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued)

(b)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries’ undertaking for the year ended 31 December
2024 (20283: same).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to any former employers of the
directors for making available the services of them as a
director of the Company during the year 31 December 2024
(2023: same).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favor of the directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: same).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 29, no significant transactions,
arrangements, and contracts in relations to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company has a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

7 &

(&

(b)

SEANFAX(BREEH)
)
ERRMENRBERER

HZE2024F12A31BIEFE » TAE
EMEREEARFNEMBARER
9 L fth BR 75 1 JE 32 1<) sk FE M (A 3R AR A8
F(20234F : 4B[F) °

BERHEEREMOAE=S
RERE

B ZE2024F12 A1 B ILFE - #ER
EERTARQRERMEESNEMRAT
B £ ZAHEAFIA (20234 « #HF) °

ﬁ@%%% EREHINEE
HEEERASRANE
f%k HUERREMRSHNE
#}
HZE2024F12A31BILEE - B8
B SELHALEREBEERES
ZmAME LAMEMER - BUERK
K H 35 5 (20234 : #HA) ©

EERRS - KFHREHTH
EPN &

BRI EECORTIRE B S - MBE2024%F
12 431 B L4 [ 4 5 o £ fa] 45 D 3 A
FREADREL A REELT S8
EAMAAREFEELHERGEA
BRZRP - RHRAH(2023F : 17
) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EEEFBEX(BIEESEHE)
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued) (,,%'-E)
(f) Five highest paid individuals  ERESHMMAL
There are three directors’ emoluments included in the five @zi2024¢12ﬂ S1THLFE - KEE
individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group AREEBHMA LBTE=BE = H
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: there are three (2023%F : REBRAAESHFMALE
directors’ emoluments included in the five individuals whose EZRZEFH) - HZE2024F12H31
emoluments were the highest in the Group). The emoluments HIEFE B8 T248(20234F : 2
payable to the remaining 2 (2023: 2) individuals during the ZINTHEEIT -
year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEFE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREETIT
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE& - HekEMET 2,505 3,392
Pension costs — statutory pension BARESEA—ETRKS 34 33
2,539 3,425
The emoluments of these remaining individuals of the Group KEEZEHRTALT ZHFHHBEDT -
fell within the following bands:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEFE
2024 2023
Number of Number of
individual individual
AB A&
Annual emolument bands: FENEE -
- HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 —1,000,001/87tE
1,500,000/ 7T 1 =
- HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 —1,500,001/ 87L&
2,000,000/ 7T 1 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

Other Income and Other Gains, Net 8 HMWAREfMW R FERR
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T AREFT
Fair value gains/(losses) of financial assets at RARBESEEHEFSTA
fair value through profit or loss - listed T =NEREEAREE
trading securities Wt/ (B1E)— LM 55B5 = 239
Gain/(losses) on disposal of property, plantand  HEWE - ME &KEEN
equipment Wz, (E518) 170 (5,662)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARREE
(Note 31) (F7E31) = (13,104)
Gain on termination of leases LIEHEm S - 151
Management and consulting service BIE REEAREUA (i FEa)
income (Note a) 8,025 20,851
Compensation in relation to delivery B EBBOHE
of properties (8,777) -
Charges for tax payment extension AR B (8,480) -
Rental income HelA 18,054 20,146
Others Hih 1,568 4,437
10,560 27,058

Note (a): The amount mainly represents the management and

consulting services provided to the Group’s joint ventures and
associates in relation to the property development projects.

Fi7E(a)

(AT BRERYEFEAE MR

TAREEAELERBEARNEE
KerE RS

BETHRBEREARIR FH2024

147



148

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

9 Finance Costs, Net

9

BB RN FER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12831HLLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Finance income BB WA
— Interest income from bank deposits —IRI T B (4,493) (12,738)
(4,493) (12,738)
Finance costs BhE AN
- Bank and other borrowings —IRIT REMIER 388,531 535,108
— Amounts due to associates and a joint —ENBERARIREE
venture TEFIA 31,430 13,098
— Amounts due to non-controlling interests — FET IEIE B 2 T B - 757
— Lease liabilities (Note 13) —HEaE(MFE13) 3,921 4,558
— Less: capitalised interest — : BAEFE (330,251) (461,396)
93,631 92,125
Finance costs, net BhE A F R 89,138 79,387
10 Income Tax Expenses 10 FriS®ipx
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Current income tax: BNERAFT1S A -
— PRC corporate income tax — M 267,474 534,196
— PRC land appreciation tax — P B+ IS 36,749 86,533
304,223 620,729
Deferred income tax (Note 16) BIEFTSHL(MIEE16) (1,679) 206,965
302,544 827,694
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

10 Income Tax Expenses (Continued)
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profit/loss of the consolidated entities as follows:

10 PR (&)

AEEB AN RBAA RN ERREERE
45 M, 5 18 P PR ) DA TS B R M S H Y
BwaE o BT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
(Loss)/profit before income tax FriS R R (E18), & F (679,612) 1,546,137
Adjust for share of results of joint ventures and ~ FLAT 23RFEE A L0 3 ML
associates reported net of tax NRIZEEEFAR(FORTIER) 18,996 24,029
(660,616) 1,670,166
Tax calculated at applicable corporate HEACEMSHMETERN
income tax rate HIE (154,391) 454,378
Effect of income not subject to tax BARBMARNTE - (31)
Effect of expenses not deductible AAHB A MR 2 10,763 5,402
Effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIELEFTSHEER
as deferred income tax assets HMEEENTE 502,578 263,785
PRC land appreciation tax deductible for AIHIFTAS 351 B AR B+ 3 (E 7Y
income tax purpose (9,187) (21,633)
Effect of withholding tax on undistributed RO ERFTENBFE
profits (83,968) 39,260
Corporate income tax EEH 265,795 741,161
PRC land appreciation tax MR+ IR E R 36,749 86,533
302,544 827,694
PRC Corporate Income Tax RE TSR

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in the PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the
estimated assessable profits for the year, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the group entities
located in Mainland China is 25% according to the Corporate
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “CIT Law”).

REBEF T EEB L LA RNAEHERT
RIBRARBE - 2B REMSE FHMh
FHERBSMIRERREMmAE -

RSP EARKMBEEMRETOEN B
PRSBUE]D) - IR B R R E B R FTE
R EFEHRIRER265% ©
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10 Income Tax Expenses (Continued)

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

Pursuant to the requirements in relation to LAT in the PRC, all
income from the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights,
building and their attached facilities in the PRC is subject to LAT
at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation
value, with an exemption provided for sales of ordinary residential
properties if their appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the
sum of the total deductible items.

The Group has made provision of LAT for sales of properties
according to the aforementioned progressive rate.

Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and, is exempted from Cayman Islands
income tax. The Company’s direct subsidiary in the BVI was
incorporated under the BVI Business Companies Act of the BVI
and is exempted from BVI income tax. The Group’s subsidiaries in
Hong Kong are subject to profits tax at the rate of 16.5%.

PRC withholding tax

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued on 6
December 2017, dividends distributed from the profits generated
by the PRC companies after 1 January 2008 to their foreign
investors shall be subject to this withholding income tax of 10%, a
lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the immediate
holding companies of the PRC subsidiaries are incorporated
in Hong Kong and fulfill the requirements to the tax treaty
arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.

On 21 December 2020 and 2 June 2023, the immediate holding
companies of the PRC subsidiaries have obtained the Certificate
of Resident Status from the Inland Revenue Department and fulffill
the requirements to the tax treaty arrangements between the PRC
and Hong Kong. Therefore, a lower 5% withholding tax rate shall
be applied to dividend distribution thereafter.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of
approximately RMB88,817,000 (2023: RMB172,785,000) have
been provided for at applicable tax rate 5% (2023: 5%) in respect
of temporary differences attributable to undistributed profits of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries.
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mE MR Rk M ()

10 FriSHiR s (&)

B £ it 3R AR ([ £ it 3R {ER )
RIERE I EDRRIARE - PR 8
SR EEA L ERE - B R
SR HE R M AR IR B FE A I 30% ZE60% T
%7 REBEBN DI RER - HBETE
1B20% 0PI HIRIE B M2 R EEME Y
E A TR -

REBERE LR ZERXHEHEMERN
THIRET -

BIMNTEH
AAFRAS BB RIEFN SR B A AER
R BRHEBRAT - WRHEENHE
BBFEH - FATAREBEBABRBNE
EHBARDRELBRBREE 2 HBE
BREBHEARDEIMRY - LERRH
MEBEBRBBAHEH - AEEREBN
P B R 16.5% OB SR B FIS Bt =

R EIFEINHE
RIEFR2017F 12 A6 BB EMERE
EHIEG) - ©2008F1 B181% - LAFEAT]
ELRGEFNMEGIMEEE D IRMR S IEE
10% R B R EAMTEHFTSH - W BB A
AN EEERARERSTIMA L RFEH
PR B MBI E - A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

11 Earnings Per Share
(@) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted

11 BREF

(a) B
BRERBRIZRNARES AEERET
BRUASFEDBITL BARM INE 92

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the =1E o

respective years.

Year ended 31 December

BZE12AB1ALEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the BEFERNARRER A
Company during the years (RMB'000) FEMR (E518) &
(ARBETFIT) (658,244) 147,972
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E Rk A i
shares in issue (in thousand) (F1%) 1,621,799 1,621,799
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (RMB) BRER(EE) BT
(AE#E) (0.41) 0.09

(b) Diluted

(b) #8

The Company did not have any potential dilutive shares
outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023. Accordingly, diluted (loss)/earnings per share is the

same as the basic (loss)/earnings per share.

B 20244 2 2023F 12 A1 HILEE
PN/ e CIN R 58 g p Nk = K e
oh o EI - SREEE(BR), BN RS
RREAK(ER),BFIHER o
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12 Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

12 Y% - BERRZE

Computer
Right-of-use Leasehold and office Motor
assets improvement equipment vehicles Total
HENE ER
FREEE %1 BORE AE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR¥ETR AR¥TR AR¥TR ARETR
At 31 December 2023 20235128310
Cost B AN 65,197 15,283 25,641 7,347 113,468
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (11,422) (8,834) (17,104) (5,117) (42,477)
Net book amount REFE 53,775 6,449 8,537 2,230 70,991
Year ended 31 December 2024 B Z2024F12A31H
LEE
Opening net book amount HBREFE 53,775 6,449 8,537 2,230 70,991
Additions NE - 2,223 6,409 190 8,822
Disposals e - - (388) (709) (1,097)
Depreciation e (9,406) (5,760) (5,446) (1,276) (21,888)
Closing net book amount HARREFE 44,369 2,912 9,112 435 56,828
At 31 December 2024 20245128310
Cost B 65,197 17,506 31,856 7,182 121,741
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (20,828) (14,594) (22,744) (6,747) (64,913)
Net book amount REFE 44,369 2,912 9,112 435 56,828
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

12 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 12 #1% - BERHE (&)

Computer
Right-of-use Leasehold and office Motor
assets  improvement equipment vehicles Total
HEME )4
ERERE & PRRME AE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETR ARETT ARETR AR%T:

(Note 13)
(K3E13)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12/831A
Cost AR 107,504 26,200 39,598 12,660 185,962
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (40,676) (8,733 (22,336) (8,252) (79,997)
Net book amount REFE 66,828 17,467 17,262 4,408 105,965
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ2023F12A31H
LEE
Opening net book amount HEmFE 66,828 17,467 17,262 4,408 105,965
Additions NE 1,037 - 1,921 44 3,002
Disposals HE (2,401) (4,583) (2,783) (1,373) (11,140)
Depreciation e (11,689) (6,435) (7,863) (849) (26,836)
Closing net book amount HRREFE 53,775 6,449 8,537 2,230 70,991
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12831H
Cost BA 65,197 15,283 25,641 7,347 113,468
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (11,422) (8,834) (17,104) (5,117) (42,477)
Net book amount FHFE 53,775 6,449 8,537 2,230 70,991
Depreciation expenses has been charged in the following WEBRERNGREE2AKRERIZATERN
categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive B
income:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREETTT
Cost of sales HEXA 341 418
Selling and marketing expenses HE M AR 546 669
Administrative expenses TR 21,001 25,749
21,888 26,836
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

13 Leases

(i)

(i)

Amount recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

13 #HE
() RESBHRERERNSLE

FAMBHRRARBER N EEERHZ
e K

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETFTT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties (Note 12) M (fIEE12) 44,369 53,775
Lease liabilities HEAE
— Non-current —IERE 39,587 48,200
- Current — nEh 8,613 8,018
Total lease liabilities HEAEEE 48,200 56,218
Amount recognised in the consolidated (i) REEEHBEREINEEE
statement of comprehensive income
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows REEEKREREBR NIHEEESHE
the following amounts relating to leases: SRR :
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Expenses related to short-term and FRRAMEEEREEZR
low-value leases (Note 6) (FftzEs) - 3,704
Depreciation charges of right-of-use FREEETEEZER
assets (Note 12) (FF3E12) 9,406 11,689
Interest expense on lease liabilites (Note 9)  FAE & EF &2 A (fizX9) 3,921 4,558
Amount recognised in the consolidated (i) REFEBREREREANESE

statement of cash flows

During the year ended 31 December 2024, cash outflows
relating to leases, including short-term and low value leases,
amounted to RMB8,130,000 (2023: RMB16,512,000).

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

14 Investment Properties 14 REYZE
Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31HILLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Opening net book amount EAfIERE HE 153,000 183,020
Fair value loss NREEEE (14,500) (30,020)
Closing net book amount HREREDFE 138,500 153,000

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 IRAEREVIRNIKRE
Equity Method

(@) Investments accounted for using the equity (@) BAREmIESIREVIRE
method
()  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement () REREMBARZERBRAE
of financial position as “Investments accounted for using HRPIIRMRE MBI

the equity method” are as follows:

As at 31 December

M12A318

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Joint ventures BN 762,668 782,552
Associates /NS 558,570 557,682
1,321,238 1,340,234

Movement of investments in joint ventures: REREELENES) :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T ARETFT
At 1 January ®w1A1H 782,552 801,874
Share of results FEIE AR (19,884) (19,322)
At 31 December ®12A31H 762,668 782,552
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the

Equity Method (Continued)
(@ Investments accounted for using the equity
method (Continued)
()  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position as “Investments accounted for using
the equity method” are as follows: (Continued)

Movement of investments in associates:

15 SRARERIESIBRRVIRE (&)

() LAz EPIERAVIRE (&)

() REAMBIRARERSI KA
m/ﬁﬁ\JEEE’J?xﬁJE”]%Z%EQDT :
(%)
RENBE RRIHEE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
At 1 January M1A1H 557,682 562,389
Share of results FEIhEE 888 (4,707)
At 31 December w12A31H 558,570 557,682

The Group’s joint ventures and associates are principally
engaged in property development business. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group has performed
assessment on impairment of the investments in
joint ventures and associates taking into account the
pre-sales of the properties of the joint venture and
associates, the current and future market condition for
sales of properties and the budgeted development cost
and expenses, no impairment on the investments in
joint ventures and associates is considered necessary.

(i)  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income statements as “Share of
results of joint ventures and associates” are as follows:

AEBOEAEDERBENFE
EREEHEREER - 12024
¢&2023¢12ﬂ315 rEEE
A**ﬁ%&ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ?ﬂ’]&ﬁi&
ﬂmﬁmﬁ EREEEES
EhERBENRINME - ﬁ%
%%E’Jiﬁﬁf&ﬂi}(ﬁiﬁ&%ﬁ;ﬁ%
BREAARFAS REBEEDLER
B N RIRIRE BERE -

(ii) BEERERERRIEEE
5% HLH

WNCIE Stk nfe -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Joint ventures BETE (19,884) (19,322)
Associates L l/NG] 888 (4,707)
(18,996) (24,029)

(b) Set out below are the principal joint ventures and associates
of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The place
of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of
business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BREREGZETIBENIRE (E)
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
(i) Joint ventures: iy E&EE:
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership

Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group

ARER HRRIHE ITERED HRIE AREELFERERE DL
2024 2023

Haimen Jinjia Property Co., Ltd PRC Property development Equity method

BIREEXARAA hE HIES oy 30% 30%

Zhangjiagang Free Duty Zone Yaohui Real Estate PRC Property development Equity method

Development Co., Lid. i ESE Rk

FRERHERERDEFEARAT 18.5% 13.5%

Nantong Zhuosu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

LREHREREERLT HE HIELE &k 125% 12.5%

Yixing Jiayu Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

BRTRERNERSARAA hE NEER Bt 20% 20%

Changshu Zhuoyang Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

ERERERERAA HE NEER E&k 25% 25%

Nantong Fuliteng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

AT RRAERSERAT ke NELR Bt 2% 20%

Nantong Chongtong Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

BRFBEZRRAA il NEER e 33% 33%

Changzhou Jiahong Cailing Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

ENEEREERERERLA HE NEER B 2021% 2021%

Taixing Ronghe Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

REATHNEEERAT HE NEER ez 3% 33%

Zhejiang Gangda Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

MIBEEZERAR HE NELR Bt 49% 49%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BREAREGSETIBENIRE (E)
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (o) (&)
(i) Joint ventures: (Continued) i)y B&ELE: (E
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership

Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group

AER MR IHE IEEHED HE s AREELFERERE DL
2024 2023

Huzhou Ganghong Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

WIETELERAR b NE%E sk 0% 0%

Changshu Meolong Real State Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

EARERNERRERAA hE NEER Bk 50% 50%

Suzhou Zhengxi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

HNIBRHERSERAT hE NEER ik 33% 33%

Rugao Ganghua Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

MREEEERRAA hE NELR Bz 24.99% 24,99%

Nanjing Jinjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

R kEHEREERAT hE MEER ik 25% 2%

Nantong Gangxuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Investment holding Equity method

BRRREXERAA hE RERR oy 49% 49%

Changzhou Shenmai Investment Co., Lid. PRC Investment holding Equity method

ENREEERABRAR il RERR B 41.25% 41.25%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BREREGZETIBENIRE (E)
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
(i) Associates: (i) BEQT:
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
ARER SR IERHRED HEAE AREELFERERE DL
2024 2028
Nantong Country Garcen New District Property PRC Property development Equity method
0o, Ltd. (Notg HE NELR Rt
ERMEEENREFARAN D) 15% 1%
Haimen Zhongnan Jinguan Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
EEREERERAT el NEER B 30% 30%
Yancheng Xinbi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
BN ERNERSERLT il NEER &k 30% 30%
Yancheng Shunbi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
EATEERHERSERAA ke HIESH Bt 20% 20%
Jiangyin Hecheng Real Estate Development PRC Property development Equity method
Co., Ltd. (Note) HE ESE Bk
TETAHRPERERRAA (M) 15% 15%
Rugao Xinbi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
EMFERNEREERAT ke HIESH ey 30% 30%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M B RRMEE(E

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BREAREGSETIBENIRE (E)
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (b) (#&)
(i) Associates: (Continued) (i) HEAT: (&)

Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
AER HRRIHE IEEHED HEAE ARERGAEREREA

2024 2023
Changshu Jin'an Ruichen Real Estate PRC Property development Equity method
Development Co, Lid. h VIELHE Bk

BAmE TRREEREARAT 25% 25%
Changzhou Mudan Jungang Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
BINHAEAEEARAR hE VELHES oy 24.5% 24.5%
Lianyungang Ganglong Property Co., Lid. PRC Property development Equity method
BERTRRERARLT ol IESHE Bt 20% 20%
Shanghal Yinwang Property Co., Ltd. PRC Investment holding Equity method
LEREEERRAA hE REAR i 30% 30%
Changzhou Kaize Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
BMmEEEARAR hE IESHE i3y 30% 30%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the
Equity Method (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(ii) Associates: (Continued)

15 BRAERIASIBRRVIRE (&)

(b) (&)

(i) HEAT: (&)

Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
ATER MR IEEHRED HRAE ARBELFERERE DL
2024 2023

Guangzhou Wangyuan Industrial Investment PRC Property development Equity method

Co., Ltd. (Note) i mx%E Rt
BMREEZREERAR M) 10% 10%
Yangzhou Jiuhe Property Co,, Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
BANNESERAR HE NEER Rk 24% 2%
Yangzhou Economic and Technological Development PRC Investment holding Equity method

Zone Ruiiang Business Administration Co., Lid. HE RERR BRiE
ANEERIRSERE THERARAA 49.60% 49.60%
Guangzhou Kewang Investment Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
ENHRERRAA hE NELE &k 20% 20%

Note:

The English names of PRC companies referred
to above in this note represents management’s
best effort in translating the Chinese names of
those companies as no English name have been
registered or available.

These entities had three to five shareholders,
where the Group held 10% to 15% equity interests.
Pursuant to the articles of association of this entity,
the Group is entitled to appoint one director on
these entities’ Directors’ Board. Therefore, the
Group has power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the entity pursuant to
the articles of association.

B

BT

AP RE b SRt b B R
EXEHMAKREEEENSE
ERERRM R XA
AYEAX LD MR
HERI -

HEERBE=-ZRAKRE
MAKEFERFN10%E
15% A - RIBFZERNHA
BERAY - AEEEER
ZEERNEEERI %
B - Fit REABER
WA AREAEE2EZE
BRI RS EBREORE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M B RRMEE(E

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BRI EDIBRMIRE (&)
Equity Method (Continued)

(c) Summarised financial information for ) BEQATIREEDLEMIIEE
associates and joint ventures R E
The directors of the Company consider that none of the RATEZRE  MEBEARREE
associates and joint ventures were significant to the Group CEHALEMEBEK - FHITER
and thus the individual financial information of the associates B E R RN ERNFTEER -

was not disclosed.

(i)  Set out below are the summarised financial information (i) MATEINERmEEAREELT
of joint ventures, which are individually immaterial to the BRNEEENMTEEREE
Group.

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T AREFT
Loss for the year FRNETE (19,844) (19,322)
Other comprehensive income Hin 2 mias - -
(19,844) (19,322)
(i) Set out below are the summarized financial information (i) ATEFERMS HAREBRL T
of associates, which are individually immaterial to the FANBE AT BERE o
Group.
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREETTT
Profit/(loss) for the year FNEF(EE) 888 (4,707
Other comprehensive income Hiah 2 miias - -
888 (4,707)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

16 Deferred Income Tax 16 IEIEFTEH
(a) Deferred income tax assets (a) EEMSHEE

As at 31 December

M2H31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
The balance comprises temporary EHREREUTEEN
differences attributable to: R
— Tax losses —IEEE 75,180 163,899
— Deferred land appreciation tax — R HIG(E R 110,328 105,267
— Lease liabilities —-HEaRE 11,092 13,826
Total deferred income tax assets EEFSHEERA 196,600 282,992
Set-off with deferred tax liabilities 1R BR IR S AR SR AT
pursuant to set-off provisions FristiasE (23,096) (33,691)
Net deferred income tax assets BIEFTSHIEE TR 173,504 249,301
Movements of deferred income tax assets without taking into RIEFTEHEEZ & (W Mt R E—H
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax BEERANERIEE) T

jurisdiction is as follows:

Deferred land

appreciation Lease
Movements Tax losses tax liabilities Total
=) BEEE BEELHBER HEaE #mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTFT ARBTFT
At 1 January 2023 202351 A1H 355,653 74,591 16,216 446,460
(Charged)/Credited to the (®B)/ fdAEE
consolidated statement of 2HEKER(FIFE10)
comprehensive income
(Note 10) (191,754) 30,676 (2,390) (163,468)
At 31 December 2023 and M2023F12A31H K
1 January 2024 2024F1H1H 163,899 105,267 13,826 282,992
(Charged)/Credited to the (% 8) /G ARE
consolidated statement of 2HEKER(FFE10)
comprehensive income
(Note 10) (88,719) 5,061 (2,734) (86,392)
At 31 December 2024 A2024F12H31H 75,180 110,328 11,092 196,600
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

16 Deferred Income Tax (Continued)

(@) Deferred income tax assets (Continued)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of RMB487,945,000 (2023:
RMB190,458,000) in respect of tax losses amounting to
RMB1,951,780,000 (2023: RMB761,833,000), that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. These tax
losses will expire up to and including 2029.

(b) Deferred income tax liabilities

16 IRALFTISHE (&)

(a) EELEMESHEE (&)

EEFTS R EE DA EAAERER D
ERlpeB B A BERT M BB M
Frises 2 BB E 1B 1ETERR o 20244
12A31H » REBEIWEFLA] T AAE LA
HIERRERMBANTEBEAR
5 487,945,000 70 (2023 F : AR ¥
761,833,000 T ) HERIELEFTIS T EE
AR #1,951,780,0007C (20234 = A
R #190,458,0007T) - Z S IEEE
1820294 (BIEABRAEZ ) BIEM ©

(b) ELFFEBIEE

As at 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
The balance comprises temporary EHRBIEA TS IENE R
differences attributable to: ZF
— Withholding tax on dividends for — R F A I B TE R
undistributed profits (88,817) (172,7895)
— Fair value gains on investment —EEWMEAREENE
properties (15,603) (19,228)
— Deferred land appreciation tax — IR+ 3B (E R (122,053) (119,797)
- Right-of-use assets —(FREEE (11,092) (13,826)
Total deferred income tax liabilities BIEFTSH B ERRE (237,565) (325,636)
Set-off with deferred income tax assets LRI SE R S IR AE P15 A
pursuant to set-off provisions BE 23,096 33,691
Net deferred income tax liabilities RIEPTS T B % (214,469) (291,945)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

16 Deferred Income Tax (Continued) 16 IRIEFAISHL(E)
(b) Deferred income tax liabilities (Continued) (b) EEMEHEEE)
Movements of deferred income tax liabilities without taking EEFEHRAEEEH (T ET RE—F
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same BEERANESREE 0T -

tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Withholding
taxon Fair value
dividends for gains on Deferred land
undistributed  investment properties  Right-of-use
Movements profits properties tax assets Total
AAMEFIE RENE i1
28 REFENH 2AABEKRE  THEER  KREEE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE  ARETR ARETT ARETR AR%T:R

At 1 January 2023 R2023F181R (133,525) (26,736) (105,662) (16,216) (282,139
(Charged)/Credited to the G EINT

consolidated statement of 2 EYEE (FHEH10)

comprehensive income

(Note 10) (39,260) 7,508 (14,135) 2,390 (43,497)

At 31 December 2023 and 742023128318 K

1 January 2024 2024%1A1AH (172,785) (19,228) (119,797) (13,826) (325,636)
(Charged)/Credited to the (I%a),/ tA&Es

consolidated statement of 2 EYEER (FH3H10)

comprehensive income

(Note 10) 83,968 3,625 (2,256) 2,734 88,071
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 (88,817) (15,603) (122,053) (11,002) (237,565)
The analysis of deferred income tax accounts are as follows: RIEFTEHHERE T -

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Deferred income tax assets: EIEFBHREE .
Recoverable after 12 months AT A1 218 A &I 173,504 249,301
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFBHESE
Recoverable after 12 months Al A1 21E A& Uk E] (214,469) (291,945)
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17 Properties Under Development and

Completed Properties Held for Sale

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

17 FEPYRRIFFHENE R

TH=

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Properties under development I 11,082,948 17,705,994
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEND BT YE 2,794,819 3,509,779
13,877,767 21,215,773

Properties under development and completed properties held for
sale of the Group are all located in the PRC and expected to be
completed and available for sale within normal operating cycle.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the capitalisation rate of
borrowings is 9.7% (2023: 10.4%).

Write-downs of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale to net realisable value amounted to
RMB609,886,000 (2023: RMB670,566,000). These were
recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December
2024 and included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2024, the provision for impairment of
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale amounted to approximately RMB1,364,815,000 (2023:
RMB754,929,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

17 Properties Under Development and
Completed Properties Held for Sale
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of Group’s properties held for sales and
properties under development pledged as collateral for the
Group’s borrowings are set out as follows:

17 FEPYERRIFFHENE R
T (&)

EREAAEEERNER RN AEERFE
HENMERREFODENREENT

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFT
Carrying amounts of completed properties FIEHEND R TMER
held for sale and properties under FE R Y RMIREE -
development:
- Pledged as collateral for Group’s borrowings — — IEf{E A&7 &2 B {E 7 HY)
i 7,717,624 7,216,003
Properties under development BHExchyy %

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to the sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business, less all necessary selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to completion based on prevailing marketing conditions.

Development cost of property primarily comprises land use rights,
construction costs, borrowing costs and professional fees incurred
during the development period. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond normal
operating cycle. The normal operating cycle is usually between 2
to 3 years.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties remaining unsold at the end of reporting
period are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises development costs attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business,
less all necessary selling expenses, or by management estimates
based on prevailing marketing conditions.

B3 R W) AR A AR S ] 3R R VR
EOR - TRRHEZZENEBEBBRESD
EEMENHERSIR  REMALHIHE
ERX BB TRA - RIEERHTSHRT

B -

MENFREKRATEBRERLERE - 25
A BRRARERERRREENERE
- MERNRTHEREFELENDRT
E

FRIFTRRIB R MR IA R MEEREN —
REBRES  DARETPVEIRASRDE
E - —REEBHBT R2E3F -

FEHENSRIYE

RIS EIRE R TR IR &2 A
820 R FET MBI ETIR - RABIER
EMEREENBERRA - TRRFESER
AHELBIET D EMENHEFRSHE
WEFE BB BERITEE - K ERER
R TIBIOR G -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

18 Trade and Other Receivables and 18 B R HMEWEIERTE(

Prepayments

IE

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Trade receivables from third parties REF=FNE ZEKRE
(Note (a)) (Ffz£(a)) 131,309 42,011
Other receivables HnfE R IE
— Deposits for property development projects —¥EMREIER RS 731,502 680,504
- Receivables from banks and bank card — FEUERTT R SRTT R ARG (L1
service providers [EEeE 45,230 28,579
— Refundable deposits for property —MERFIBENRELRS
development projects (Note (b)) (P 5% (o)) 73,966 73,966
— Others —HAth 31,236 38,529
881,934 821,578
Less: provision for impairment of other A B RN IE R E R
receivables (85,647) (41,552)
796,287 780,026
Prepayments FEARE
— Prepayments for property development — ¥ ¥FEIEE BN KA
projects 501,260 505,170
— Prepaid value added tax and other taxes —TEHGET K AT 927,019 845,045
- Contract acquisition costs (Note (c)) — B HERUR A (M 5E(c) 54,023 103,626
— Others —H 42,984 32,509
1,525,286 1,486,350
Total trade and other receivables and BESRHEAMBEWRIEUR
prepayments B FREAEE 2,452,882 2,308,387
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

18 Trade and Other Receivables and 18 BZ R HMEWEIERTE(

Prepayments (Continued) I ()

(@) Trade receivables from third parties () XEE=FNEZEWRFE
Trade receivables are denominated in RMB and mainly B REINRIBAAREAE  TERBE
arise from sales of properties. Proceeds in respect of sales SHEME o WEMEMSIE—RIRE
of properties are generally received in accordance with the EEREIIBAGE - —RWE - I
terms stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. This is EREEERTFEES-

generally no credit period granted to the property purchasers.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the B 5 RBGRIENFE & B B
consolidated statement of financial position date based on HEZEHHEZI DR OMIOT -

invoice dates is as follows:

As at 31 December

M2H31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T
0-30 days 0-30H 131,309 42,011
As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables of MR2024%F12A31H » EHEWFIEA
RMB131,309,000 (2023: RMB42,011,000) were overdue but R #8131,309,0007T (20234 : AR
not impaired. 42,011,0007t) B3 HIA #RIBE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

18 Trade and Other Receivables and

Prepayments (Continued)
(b) Refundable deposits for property development projects

represent the amounts advanced to other property
developers in the PRC for the funding of property
development projects. As at 31 December 2024, the balance
were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Management considers the contract acquisition costs, which
represents sales commission paid for obtaining property
sale contracts, to be recoverable. The Group has deferred
the amounts paid and will charge them to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income when the related
revenue is recognised. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the amount charged to consolidated statement
of comprehensive income was RMB64,266,000 (2023:
RMB139,039,000) and there were no impairment loss in
relation to the remaining balances.

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables and
prepayments approximate their fair values and are denominated in
RMB.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2024

and 2023 was the carrying value of receivables. The Group did not
hold any collateral as security.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

19 Cash and Bank Balances 19 RERIWITHEER
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Restricted cash (Note a) SR HIIRE (H7ta) 572,918 1,120,284
Pledged time deposits EEAEEBFR 11 145,711
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBSEED 265,777 570,167
838,706 1,836,162
Note: BIRE -
(@) The Group’s restricted cash mainly comprise of (1) @ AEENZRFBEEIEZBRENEED
Supervision accounts for construction of pre-sold properties; XERIMNEERF  QIRES &
(2) Guarantee deposits for construction; and (3) Supervision QIEIREREERP -
accounts for mortgage guarantee.
The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign 15 A RESHER A RSB INE LA K 8 SNEE
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies out of M2 AR ERAN - B ST BT B
the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign SNEE B B B AR EE AR Rl KRR o
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
The above balances as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 i R 2024 6 ] 20234F 12 A 31 B A 4 4 £
approximate their fair values and are denominated in the following HERABERS @ WETYEEE
currencies:
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Denominated in: BT ERHE
- RMB — AR 835,583 1,835,960
-uUsD —%7T - 50
- HKD — P 3,123 152

838,706 1,836,162
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

20 Share Capital 20 B
Number of Share
shares capital
RBEE [
HK$
BT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 20231818 + 20234F
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 12A31H * 2024F1 A1H
K2024F12A331H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Number of Share
shares capital
RBEE [
RMB’000
ARETTT
Issued: 24T :
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 20231818 + 20234F
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 12A31H * 2024F1 A1H
2024512 A31H 1,621,799,000 14,838
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

21 Share Premium and Reserves 21 R aBR#EE
Share Statutory Other
premium reserves reserves Total
AR E EEE Hithft st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  AREFT AREFTT ARETT
(Note (i) (Note (i)
GELD) (B=EG)
At 1 January 2023 720231 B1H 1,448,564 240,268 289,095 1,977,927
Effect of equity interests swap RiEERNTE - - (4,860) (4,860)
Appropriation to statutory reserves B E AT E - 139,149 - 139,149
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H 1,448,564 379,417 284,235 2,112,216
Appropriation to statutory reserves 8 5 A TF S - 91,455 - 91,455
At 31 December 2024 720245F12831H 1,448,564 470,872 284,235 2,203,671
() Statutory reserves (i) ZERE
In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable BEFEEAMNINEBEE R BRE
to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiary is o hEMBAREE —ERORERAT
required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less BREEF10%(EHRBEETERFE)
than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based CHREBAGEES - MUEREEESZ
on the PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated RrHeEETRRMNB AT 2 EMERZ
total of this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital 50% - Bl % L0 B N B A% B A R
of the PRC subsidiary, the subsidiary will not be required to Ko R KNG AR R R
make any further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be bR ER AN EHE R B
used, upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar IEA o
authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.
(i) Other reserves (i) HitfEs

Other reserves mainly represented the reserves derived from
acquisition of non-controlling interests, the share premium
and the accumulated capital contribution from the then
equity holders of the group companies in excess of the
consideration given in relation to the reorganisation.

e RSP ISR S Al g Sy
R EBRRRERBR A EHB AT
NREFIOENDEERRTE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

22 Borrowings 22 B

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Non-current JEBN A
Bank borrowings HRITIE
- Secured and guaranteed — B R ER 1,433,960 1,166,868
Other borrowings g
— Secured — B 196,562 796,362
- Unsecured — KR - 64,000
1,630,522 2,027,230
Current BHA
Bank borrowings RITHER
— Secured and guaranteed —BHEARER 536,491 1,055,149
Other borrowings EAfER
— Secured — B 1,103,371 542,500
— Unsecured — I = 33,150
Senior notes EBEEE 1,281,556 1,165,828
2,921,418 2,796,627
Total borrowings RS GEE] 4,551,940 4,823,857

(@) Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, bank and other borrowings
of RMB3,270,384,000 (2023: RMBS3,560,879,000) were
secured by certain receivables, equity interests of group
companies, properties under development, completed
properties held for sales and investment properties with
total carrying values of RMB13,059,700,000 (2023:

RMB9,815,385,000).

As at 31 December 2024, certain bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB1,970,451,000 required guaranteed by
subsidiaries of the Group (2023: RMB2,222,017,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

22 Borrowings (Continued)

(@)

Bank and other borrowings (Continued)
Certain group companies in the PRC have entered into
fund arrangements with trust companies and assets
management companies, respectively, pursuant to which
these financial institutions raised funds and injected them to
the group companies. Certain equity interests of the group
companies were held by the financial institutions as collateral
of which the Group is obligated to redeem at predetermined
prices. The funds bear fixed interest rates and have fixed
repayment terms. Thus, the Group did not derecognise
its equity interests in the subject group companies but
treated the fund arrangements as other borrowings in the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December 2024,
these borrowings amounted to RMB1,299,933,000 (2023:
RMB1,338,862,000).

Senior notes

On 6 November 2023, all of the outstanding senior notes
of approximately principal amount of US$145 million was
redeemed in full, and the redemption price was paid in kind
with new notes issued in an aggregate principal amount of
US$164,411,875 which bear interest at a fixed rate of 9.5%
per annum, payable annually in arrears (the “2024 Senior
Notes”).

On 18 November 2024, all of the outstanding 2024 Senior
Notes was redeemed in full, and the redemption price was
paid in kind with new notes issued in an aggregate principal
amount of US$180,551,641 which bear interest at a fixed
rate of 9.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears (the
“2025 Senior Notes”).

22 &K (48)

(@)

IRITR HAERR (&)
AETHEEBARCOREELEART R
BEEEAAVESTH - Bt
ZECHRBEEEASTRAEERA]
TE c EERNRINE TRERS K
BEEEABER  AEEBEMTIR
TEEBRED - Z2EE 2 REETH
EXAF S RRE T HRENR
It REBTRKIEERENZENE
BEATRRE  MERGE M BHRE
NG E & ZHR BEMB R - 7172024
F12A31H » ZEEFNESEAAR
#1,209,033,0007T (20234 : AR ¥
1,338,862,0007T) °

BEERE

1R2023F 11 A6H * " TN A1458
BETHNEMETEINIELRREE
EEED > MEBRENEYSIN AR
BETARES B 164,411,875 TTH
MEE - EIREEFFIERILS%ETE -
BFEREBARI AN —IXF B ([2024F &
KEHE]) -

R2024F11 A18H » B EFZITIEIMY
024 B RBEDEREER - miE
EENEYZ - FRABITASBE
180,551,641 X LM 2% - EizE
EFEMEIS%ETE - BFRERI
—RFNB([2025FBAERE]) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

22 Borrowings (Continued) 22 fEFR(#&)
() The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest-rate (C) AEmEZEAEEHNERRANE
changes and the contractual repricing dates or maturity date FEBHNFHB(UREEAE) WD
whichever is earlier are as follows: T

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Variable rate borrowings EBRER 1,904,022 1,824,430
Other borrowings — repricing date: EMER-EHEEHE
6 months or less 61E A AT 1,146,362 257,370
6-12 months 6-121E A 1,281,556 1,391,829
1-2 years 1-24F 220,000 807,728
2-5 years 2-5%F - 542,500
Total Bt 4,551,940 4,823,857
(d) The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31 (d) M2024%F 220234 12 B31 B &9 N F
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: BHEBRFENT
As at 31 December
M2H31H
2024 2023
Bank borrowings RITHER 5.69% 5.87%
Other borrowings HifE 10.74% 10.90%
Weighted average effective interest rates ~ JiEF 19 BB FI| = 8.56% 8.58%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

22 B (48)
(e) BEmEBRBMT -

22 Borrowings (Continued)
(e) The repayment terms of the borrowings are as follows:

As at 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Within 1 year 1F R 2,921,418 2,796,627
1-2 years 126 996,362 1,830,668
2-5 years 2-5%F 634,160 196,562
Total @zt 4,551,940 4,823,857
(f)  The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in () EReBEEER Ty EEE
the following currencies.
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFTT
RMB AR # 3,270,384 3,658,029
usD e 1,281,556 1,165,828
Total 1@zt 4,551,940 4,823,857
(9) The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximated their (9) M2024% K20235E12 431 H » {E5H
fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 as either the FREEEIEAAEE  JTERELE
impact of discounting of borrowings with fixed interest rates HHBRZ BTN - SERAZEFIE
was not significant, or the borrowings bear interest at floating R o
rates.
(h) During the year, an aggregate principal amount of (h) #=r - Ae@EAARE192,991,000

RMB192,991,000 of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings had not been repaid according to their
scheduled repayment dates triggering an event of default
for the 2025 Senior Notes of aggregated principal amount
of RMB1,281,446,000 (equivalent to US$180,551,641)
and certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounting to RMB931,740,000 becoming repayable on
demand.

TR BERTT R EA BRI RIZETEE
EXOAHESE SRLAcBRBARE
1,281,446,000 7T ( 1 & 7 180,551,641
ETL)R2025F B ARBBHERENEN
NEETHEBRITREMERARE
931,740,00070 & B7BZ BRK(EE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

23 Trade Payables, Bills Payables and Other 23 BZE{(FIE - ENEERE

Payables ftt B TR IE
As at 31 December
M12A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Trade payables (Note (a)) B 3 EAFE (M) 3,210,536 2,581,193
Bills payables (Note (b)) LN EEAGIET (V) 3,021 5,941
Other payables: HthfE{RRIE -
Other taxes payable HAbfEFIIA 81,350 41,704
Payroll payable A 46,092 47,935
Deposits received from potential property BEEEREERENES
purchasers 25,783 24,794
Deposits from contractors and suppliers AR RHEEEES 84,110 85,022
Others Hib 18,932 7,094
Total trade payables, bills payables and EFENTIE  EREER
other payables HibpE(F R IE4 5 3,469,824 2,793,683
(@ The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice @ TRHFIIZFZBHSAOIEREIDH
dates or contractual terms is as follows: B SN RENRR DT
As at 31 December
M2H31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
0-30 days 0-30H 677,840 1,996,901
31-60 days 31-60H 500,004 380,853
61-90 days 61-90H 500,678 202413
Over 91 days 91HE 1,532,014 1,326
3,210,536 2,581,193
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

23 Trade Payables, Bills Payables and Other
Payables (Continued)

(b)

3 EZEAFA

- BUYRBRE

o A 27 ()

The ageing analysis of the bills payables based on invoice (b) TERHIIZHZAHAEHREIDH
dates or contractual terms is as follows: N RERRR T
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
0-30 days 0-30H = -
31-60 days 31-60H - -
61-90 days 61-90H = -
Over 91 days 91BLAE 3,021 5,941
3,021 5,941
There were outstanding litigation commenced by several ©) M2024F12A318 @ FHESBEER

constructors against certain subsidiaries of the Group
claiming construction fees which had been provided and
included in the “Trade Payables” as at 31 December 2024.
As at 31 December 2024, the long outstanding construction
cost payable amounted to approximately RMB650,001,000.
In the opinion of the Company’s management, no further
provision for litigation was required to be made for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The carrying amounts of the trade payables, bills payable
and other payables approximate their fair values and are
denominated in RMB.

HAEEE THBEARIRLRERERE
BERRFD  ZEEADBELE
ATEZENFIA] - R2024F12 531
B B RERAESKAOABARE
650,001,0007T ° XA R EIR[ER A

B 20244 2 2023F 12 A1 HILFE
MR FAMEL E— B -

BS IR  RE R R
EEEERE A A BEE AR
et -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M B RRMEE(E

24 Cash Generated from Operations 24 KREFBIRE

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to

cash generated from operations

(@) FREFEBANERIEEEMER
cpdi ok

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31ALEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATSH A (E18), & F) (679,612) 1,546,137
Adjustments for: BT SIEELAZ
— Depreciation of property, plant and — ¥  BMERREITE
equipment (Note 12) (M7E12) 21,888 26,836
- Finance costs (Note 9) -V Z N =) 93,631 92,125
- Finance income (Note 9) = ONCES)) (4,493) (12,738)
— Share of results of joint ventures and —E(hE e EHEBE AR
associates (Note 15) FAE(FEE15) 18,996 24,029
— Gain on disposal of financial —REZRAREEFERR
assets at fair value through SETABTRNEREE
profit or loss (Note 8) Uz (FiES) = (239)
— Fair value loss on investment —REMEAREBERRE
properties (Note 14) (PfFEE14) 14,500 30,020
— Gains on early termination of leases —REEIEEMRE = (151)
- (Gains)/losses on disposals of property, — —HEWE - HE & RED
plant and equipment (Note 8) (Yezs ) E51B (MI3ES) (170) 5,662
— Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8) —HE—HHERQT]
IR - 13,104
— Provision for impairment of properties —HEAMERBELERN
under development and completed B TYERRERE
properties held for sale 609,886 670,566
— Provision for impairment of — S REEIRRE
financial assets 44,780 56,145
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

24 Cash Generated from Operations (Continued) 24 &&FFEIRS (&)
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to
cash generated from operations (Continued)

(@) BRFTEHANER
T2 B ER (&)

R4 ISR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREEFTT
Operating profit before changes in LiBEE P ERIALE E T
working capital 119,406 2,451,496
Changes in working capital: 2EESEH
— Properties under development and —FABERMERFIELED
completed properties held for sale BRI 5,270,482 10,490,802
— Contract liabilities —&HaE (5,948,112) (11,826,201)
— Trade and other receivables and — B 5 REMERRIER
prepayments Bt RIE (188,590) (541,486)
— Trade payables, bill payables and other  —& S ENIE  EBNZEE
payables T E At S k08 676,141 (1,060,950)
— Changes in pledged time deposits — DA E R 145,700 (90,595)
— Changes in restricted cash —ZRHIIREESH) 547,366 1,793,937
Cash generated from operations KERTSIRE 622,393 1,217,003

(b) Reconciliation of proceeds from disposals of

property, plant and equipment

TH ¥ R

(b) HEWE - BERREEHK

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF T ARETT

Net book amount (Note 12) BREFE(MFE12) 1,097 8,739

Gains/(losses) on disposals of property, HEME - R LRED

plant and equipment (Note 8) Wz (&518) (KizEs) 170 (5,662)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWME  BE MREFEHKE

plant and equipment 1,267 SO
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

24 Cash Generated from Operations (Continued) 4 EERREBES(E)
(c) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities arising (c) MEITHEEMNEEREREHN
from financing activities HER
Amounts
Amounts Amounts due to non-
Lease due to due to joint controlling
liabilities associates ventures interests  Borrowings Total
FEf BN EAFEER

HERE WHEQAIRE AELERR RERE E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETRE  ARETX

As at 1 January 2023 202351 A1H 65,983 653,711 680,499 1,465,986 6,766,204 9,632,383
Non-cash movement FELEH 3,043 - - - (80,270) (77,227)
Cash inflows BERA - 82,933 - 452,770 426,562 962,265
Cash outflows BERi (12,808) - (147,557) - (2,288,639) (2,449,004)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F12 3318 56,218 736,644 532,942 1,918,756 4,823,857 8,068,417
Non-cash movement FREEH 3,921 - - - 115,728 119,649
Cash inflows BeRA - - 21,832 588,239 92,459 702,530
Cash outflows BeRd (11,939) (46,372) = = (480,104) (638,415)
As at 31 December 2024 12024512 A31H 48,200 690,272 554,774 2,506,995 4,551,940 8,352,181
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

25 Amounts Due from/(to) Non-Controlling

Interests

25 FEUR () FEiE R B TR IA

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T AREEFTT
Amounts due from non-controlling interests R FEF5E IS AR 25 TR
(Note (a)) (M5E(a) 3,827,435 3,317,373

Amounts due to non-controlling interests ARER 2 e o]

(Note (b)) (B3E(b)) (2,506,995) (1,918,756)

Notes: IR -

(a)  Amounts due from non-controlling interests mainly represented @ EUCHERERFEEZERETHEA
cash advances to the non-controlling interest of certain RIMIEERER BT NRS - ZERER
subsidiaries. They are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on EIRA - B RIZEREE -
demand.

()  Amounts due to non-controlling interests mainly represented (o) ERIEERERFIEXZEREETHEA

cash advances provided by the non-controlling interests of
certain subsidiaries. All of the amounts due to non-controlling
interests are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

HO SRR SR PR (A ER & B Fﬁﬁﬂ’éé
ﬁ;HEH%%E?ﬂIEi’;JZ%?ﬁiﬁ C RERIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

26 Financial Guarantee

26 BfFSHER

As at 31 December

#M12A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBEFIT
Guarantee in respect of mortgage facilities BETEEENZBERE
for certain purchasers (note (a)) {EH MR (M 5E(a) 6,042,682 7,653,612
Guarantee provided for the borrowings of AEEDEBIZBHMER
joint ventures (note (b) and Note 29(d)) (P37 (o) 2 Mt 5E29(d) 234,170 234,170
6,276,852 7,887,782
(@ The Group has arranged bank financing for certain @ AEEEAMESENNETERERH
purchasers of the Group’s property units and provided TIRITRE - TAZEEEERITEE
guarantees to secure obligation of such purchasers for EBIEREER - WEERKUATERREE
repayments. Such guarantees terminate upon earlier of (i) I (VEEEMERESE  ZE2R%
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will AR M TN TR E=FRA
generally be available within an average period of two to three S Ri)BEESELRBER -EF
years upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the R ARAEEERREMENFAE
satisfaction of mortgaged loan by purchasers of properties. - MYENEERARNSRIERSE
The directors consider that the likelihood of default in BREIEFAATREERD o B AR
payments by purchasers is minimal as the Group is entitled A EEFENTEERLTEXR B 8E
to retain the ownership of the properties, the valuation of REfE -
which is significantly higher than the guaranteed amounts.
Therefore, the financial guarantees measured at fair value is
immaterial and no liabilities was recognised.
() Amounts represented the maximum exposure of the (b)) SHECFRAHAGELEREER

guarantees provided for the borrowings of the joint ventures
and associates at the year-end date. The directors consider
that the likelihood of default in payments by the joint ventures
and associates is minimal and therefore the financial
guarantee measured at fair value is immaterial and no
liabilities was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

27 Financial Instruments by Category 27 EAE S NEMITE

As at 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREEFIT
Financial assets SRIEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: REHENAT RN S REE
— Trade and other receivables —B 5 REMERFIA 927,596 822,037
— Amounts due from associates — PR &R RIFRIE 131,078 124,229
— Amounts due from joint ventures — A EDERIR 248,624 155,181
— Amount due from non-controlling interests — FEUR RS M 2 SR B 3,827,435 3,317,373
— Restricted cash —XREIERE 572,918 1,120,284
- Pledged time deposits —BEMEHTR 11 145,711
— Cash and cash equivalents — R LR EEEY 265,777 570,167
Total #aEt 5,973,439 6,254,982
As at 31 December
M12A318
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREETTT
Financial liabilities A=
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHER AT RS RLEE
- Trade payables, bills payables and other —EBZEMRE - ENRIE
payables RE M FET IR 3,342,382 2,704,044
— Lease liabilities —fEa®E 48,200 56,218
— Amounts due to associates — FEEE & R RIFRIE 690,272 736,644
— Amounts due to joint ventures —ENEERERIE 554,774 532,942
— Amount due to non-controlling interests — B IR AR A IR SR 2,506,995 1,918,756
- Borrowings —fEx 4,551,940 4,823,857
Total st 11,694,563 10,772,461
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

28 Commitments 28 H&ih
(@ Commitments for property development (a) YIRS AR

expenditures

As at 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Contracted but not provided for BRI AMEREE 3,733,793 4,245,972
The amount represented capital commitment for construction ZeEEREE A TR BT RR
contracts and agreed proposed development contracts BRRMENERFE S NNEAAGE
determined based on current estimated budgets.
(b) Operating leases rental receivables — a group b) KEHERKWEE KB QA
company as lessor AEEA
The future minimum lease payments receivable under non- IRIBET A HHAS & 10 B A R R R
cancellable operating leases are as follows: MERNTET

As at 31 December

A12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Within one year —FR 4,923 5,257

Later than one year but no later than Bl —FE T ERRE

five years 11,545 12,828
Later than five years B AF 409 4,095
16,877 22,180
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RE MR R aR M ()

29 Related Party Transactions
(@) The uttimate holding companies of the Company are Huaxing (@) ARFAMBKEP AT AEMEREER

Development Co., Ltd, Hualian Development Co., Ltd and
Hualong Development Co., Ltd and the ultimate controlling
shareholders of the Company are Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Wing

29 B A X5

A EMERARARRERERE
[RAF] o RRBMREZIZEBRERSEH
oA AKEEE  AaFIREE B

Nam, Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui AR EKEKTLE -
Wing Mau.
Transaction with related parties (b) EREAEEF VRS
Year ended 31 December
BZE12B31BLEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Lease payments to Mr. Xie Jian Qing HAEBRAEYER
in respect of the leased office HREEEL TS
premises (Note) (FfF5E) = (116)
Interest expense to associates and e AR RAEERE
a joint venture FEMZ (31,430) (18,098)
Income for rendering of management and ~ [A1& S EIRHEE R
consulting services to joint ventures AR HUA 4,021 11,027
Income for rendering of management and ~ [AE& AFIEMHEE R
consulting services to associates ARG A 4,004 9,824
Note: Mr. Xie Jian Qing is a senior management of the Group sk © B E2024F 12 A31BIEFE « &

during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

AEXRERTEENSREEA
8 (2023%F : 8[) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

29 Related Party Transactions (Continued) 29 B AR 5H (18)
(c) Balances with associates and joint ventures (c) HEENTRESETENEE
As at 31 December
A12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 Nature
AR®F T ARETT e
Amounts due from joint ventures  EWRA S 1ER Non-trade
(Note (i) (FEEG) 248,624 155,181 IFZEH
Amounts due to joint ventures ENAEZERER Non-trade
(Note (ii)) (B 3EG)) (554,774) (532,942) kB
Amounts due from associates JE U B N B FRIE Non-trade
(Note (iif)) (P (i) 131,078 124,229 HFES
Amounts due to associates AR YNGR C Non-trade
(Note (iv)) (B EE(iv)) (690,272) (736,644) B 5
Notes: Bk -

U

(i)

(i)

)

Amounts due from joint ventures represents the cash
advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
As at 31 December 2024, provision for impairment of
RMB10,064,000 was recognised (2023: RMB8,126,000).

Amounts due to joint ventures represents the cash
advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from associates represents the cash
advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
As at 31 December 2024, provision for impairment of
RMB5,214,000 was recognised (2023: RMB6,467,000).

Amounts due to associates represents the cash advances
for project development. The balances were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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ElRAEG¥ERBABEEREN
BEBR - EHAEEEE 28
W B FAEE - KR20244F
12A31H  BRREREBEARE
10,064,000 7© ( 2023 F : A R #&
8,126,0007T) °

EREECERIBABRRENR
SRR - EHBEERE  RETA
BEKFLAEE -

UG E N RIFIEAEE AR
SRR - BHRAEIEF RBYA
BERTLAERE ° 1R2024F12 A31
A - ERREREARES5214,000
T0(20234 : AR¥6,467,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

29 Related Party Transactions (Continued)
(d) Guarantee provided by the Group for related

parties

29 B H R 5 (58)
(d) AEEREBSRHENER

As at 31 December

A12831H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFT
Carrying values of the borrowings of EREEEEEFNIRERE
joint ventures guaranteed 234,170 234,170

(e) Key management compensation

Key management compensation are set out below:

() EREEASHM
EEEEABHHRIIMT

Year ended 31 December

HZ12B31HILEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREEFTT

Key management compensation FTEEE A BF

— Salaries and other employee benefits — & REMIEE R 3,241 6,632
— Pension costs —RIRE AR 212 552
3,453 7,184
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30 Transaction with Non-Controlling Interests

On 12 January 2023, Jiangsu Zhengchang Zhongrunfu Investment
Development Co., Ltd.* (I&# ISR HEEREZEREGR A R) (the
“JV Partner”), Anhui Gangfan Real Estate Co., Ltd. (Z#/&MN
BEAMR AT (an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), Anhui Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (ZHIBEE XS
FR /A &) (an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company),
Huangshan Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (BEIUBREEEAR
A2 7)) (“Huangshan Project Co”) and Guangde Gangxing Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (EEmEEE ZEGR A A (“Guangde Project
Co”) entered into an equity interests swap agreement, pursuant to
which the JV Partner agrees to transfer its 30% equity interests in
Huangshan Project Co to Anhui Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd.;
and Anhui Gangfan Real Estate Co., Ltd. agrees to transfer the
100% equity interests in Guangde Project Co it held, to the JV
Partner (the “Equity Interests Swap”) (Note 27(a)). No gain or loss
on disposal was recognised as “Other income and other gains,
net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Following the completion of the Equity Interests Swap, (i) the
Company no longer held any equity interests in Guangde Project
Co, which ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and the
Guangde Project Co was no longer consolidated into the financial
statements of the Group; and (ii) the Huangshan Project Co
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 12 January 20283, fair value of 30% equity interests
of Huangshan Project Co from the JV Partner and 100%
equity interest of Guangde Project Co were approximately
RMB152,170,000.
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mE MR Rk M ()

30 FEIERERRR S

R2023%F1A12H  IHLERHEIREH
BAERDB([AERERMN])  TRBNE
¥ERAB(ARAHEEZENBAR) * &
BEREXBRAR(ARAHEEEZEAWE
naE)  BELEREEEERAR([EILIEE
AR REEMEEEEXFR AR EEE
BRADFIZREERGZ Bt - %D
ERNRERLESEEEARAREER
HAEREILER A RIB0%ME M TZEEN
BEXERAFRAERNSECEBHERER
BEWEREIEE ARI100%MKE ([REER])
(FIsE27(0)) - BN ERE 2 HEIRER A H
b I B B s 25 5 58 | P RE R U A Bk
18 -

TRBEEERE  (ARATBRERERE
B AREARE - ETBRARRNMER
A BEEAB AR TERAREMEREK
hERa AR RiFELIEB ARKAAEE
MEEHBAR -

R2023F1 A12H ' A& CEBHBFTENS
ILIE B A R)30% M M EEEE A F1100%
AEIER A A EEL A AREE152,170,0007T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

30 Transaction with Non-Controlling Interests 30 FEIZpRiEZSTH (&)

(Continued)
The following table summarises the effect of these acquisitions: TREMZZFWENTE
As at
31 December
®12H31H
2023
RMB’000
ARETIT
Total carrying amounts of non-controlling interest FEIZERR R MY B AR B 147,310
Less: fair value of non-controlling interests W SEER SRR A (EE (162,170)
Total difference recognised within equity PRI TR A =58 (4,860)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Guangde Project Co as EEBEERARANLERNEERBENE
at the date of disposal were as follows: ZHERAT -
RMB’000
AREFIT
Properties under development FEE 2 154,842
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE Ko E At g W sk IE 1,922
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBRESEEY 59
Trade and other payables B 5 MHEMFERFRIA (4,653)
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFHE 162,170
RMB’000
AREETFIT
Gain/(loss) on disposal: HEWRE (BR) :
Fair value of non-controlling interests acquired Fri g R FEIE IR E R A EE 152,170
Less: net assets attributable to the Group disposed of B AEEENEHEEEFE (1562,170)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8) HE—REH B A RS, (E518) (Ff3E8) =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed BEHERSMASEEY (59
Cash consideration received BUERENRE =
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNBAREENRESRLFHE (59
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31 Disposal of Subsidiaries — Nantong Project

Co.

Disposal of a subsidiary — Nantong Jiuhe Real
Estate Co., Limited (“Nantong Project Co.”)

On 2 April 2023, Jiangsu Ganglong Huayang Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (T&rBEEIZEEBEMR AT (the “Vendor”) (an indirect
and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Nantong Jiuhe
Property Development Co., Ltd. (EBAFMBEMERZERRE A
7)) (the “Purchaser”) and Nantong Jiuhe Real Estate Co., Ltd. (&
BAKE 2 AR AR (the “Target Company”), among others,
entered into the equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which the
Vendor agrees to sell, and the Purchaser agrees to purchase the
35% equity interests in the Target Company held by the Vendor,
at a consideration of RMB173,000,000 (the “Disposal”), with the
consideration being settled by off-setting the Group’s payables to
Nantong Project Co..

As a result of the disposal of the 35% equity interests in the Target
Company, a loss on disposal of the Target Company amounting
to RMB13,104,000 was recognised as “Other income and other
gains, net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Following the completion of Disposal, the Target Company ceased
to be a subsidiary of the Company.
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31 HENB AR -HERE QT

HENBAR —MBANEXESR
FRAR([mEER AR ])

R2023F4 A28 @ T BREELGEEERA
RITER] ARRHE2EWBRAR) - /@
BANEHERZEERAR(ES ) RER
AMBEARAR(BEAR)ET LI
i Bt BEARBEREMEFRE
BESHTHAENEZARSREE  REA
AR #173,000,0007C ([ HEEIH]) - KB
BN SEEMREBEE QARFKEZ TR
XfF e

RAEITHE BIZRRI3%EE - HERE
NAEEEARE13,104,000 TR REA S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

31 Disposal of Subsidiaries — Nantong Project 31 HEKMEBAT -EEEE AT
Co. (Continued) (#&)
Disposal of a subsidiary — Nantong Jiuhe Real HEMB AR —HBANMEXS
Estate Co., Limited (“Nantong Project Co.”) FRAal([mE@EEE AT (8)
(Continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Target Company as at

BREARRLERSNNEERABENERR

the date of disposal were as follows: RBlEAR
RMB’000
AREEFIT
Property under development ek gashy/ES 836,317
Prepayments and other receivables A FRIE K H A KGRI 665,380
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS FEEY 70,714
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMFER A (21,339)
Borrowings B (246,000)
Contract liabilities AHaE (773,339)
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFRE 531,737
Less: net assets attributable to non-controlling interests B IEIERR RS R (R B E R (345,633)
Net assets attributable to the Group AEBEELEEFRE 186,104
RMB’000
AREF T

Loss on disposal: HEBE :

Written off of payables to Nantong Project Co. HisH (< R IE B A B FIE 173,000
Less: net assets attributable to the Group disposed of B AEEENEHEEEFE (186,104)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8) HE—RENBAREE(ES) (13,104)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed EHEReRASERBY (70,714)
Cash consideration received BEWERERE =

Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE B A RELN
R F8E (70,714)
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mE MR Rk M ()

32 RATHHKAER GBS
(@) QB EFBMRE

32 Statement of Financial Position and

Reserve Movement of the Company
(@) Statement of financial position of the

Company
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries WBARIEE 1,753,548 1,753,548
1,753,548 1,753,548
Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments H Ao R IE R FE R F0E 3 3
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSHT B A RIFIR 739,841 743,305
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESEED 888 887
740,732 744,195
Total assets EEHE 2,494,280 2,497,743
Equity s
Capital and reserves EERREE
Share capital A% A 14,838 14,838
Reserves 5 1,020,982 1,138,166
Total equity EREEE 1,035,820 1,153,004
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables E e 5RIE 17,460 19,467
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERIHT B A RIFIE 159,444 159,444
Borrowings B 1,281,556 1,165,828
Total liabilities EERE 1,458,460 1,344,739
Total equity and liabilities EEREEAR 2,494,280 2,497,743

The financial statements were approved by the Board of
Directors on 28 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

KRR AR K ER2025%3 F28H
EEESiE  YHTIALTRERES

BHRE o
Mr. Lui Ming Mr. Lui Jin Ling
BHKE BERKE
Director Director
EE EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

32 Statement of Financial Position and 32 ZAXATRBMBIRAEREZEEE

Reserve Movement of the Company
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company

(%)

(b) ARFIRFEEEB

Share Other  Accumulated

premium reserves loss Total

RAEE HAbfEE RitEE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT ARETFT ARETFT

As at 1 January 2023 202351818 1,448,564 670,011 (833,241) 1,285,334

Loss for the year FREE - - (147,168) (147,168)

As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 1,448,564 670,011 (980,409) 1,138,166
Loss for the year FREE

= = (117,184) (117,184)

As at 31 December 2024 2024512 A31H 1,448,564 670,011 (1,097,593) 1,020,982
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries

33 EEMMEBRRFE

Date of Place of
incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
DEER HMAY/AIRY  REsfEE  EE/Run¥  IEER ih/ERARE BEn it L 3sbt]
2024 223
Directly owned:
EREA:
REEGERERLA 9 October 2018 Limiedliabiity ~ British VirginIslands  Investment holcings 850,000 Uss100 100% 100%
Ganglong Huayang Development company (equivalent to (equivalent to
Limied RIB345,000) RIB590)
2018F10A9R ARAA ZBEEREE  REER 50,0057 10057
(BERMARESB000T)  (RERAREG0T)
Indirectly owned:
g
LERHEERIEREARAT 28 May 2014 Limted lebiity ~ PRC Property development RMB150,000,000 RMB20000000  5000%  50.00%
(Hita) company
Shanghal Chongming Yushang Real
Estate Development Co, Lid. (Note (a)
2014%5728R BRLA i ERE AREI50000000  ARH20,000,0007
BuEEERERAR (ML) 26 August 2021 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB800,000,000 RMB800000,000  100.00%  100.00%
Foshan Ganglong Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
(Note (0)
2021%8A26H BRAR hE nER% ARE800,000000  AR800,000,0007
HRANEFARAT 2November 2020 Limtedlablty ~ PRC Property development RIB191,666,700 RMBSSG,I70000  6000%  60.00%
Nanjing Gangli Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
200%11 A28 BRRE i ESE ARE191666,700T  AR886,170,0007
EREURERSARAANEE)  4December2019  Limitedlabiity  PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RVBIOOO00000  50.00%  50.00%
Nanjing Ganghong Real Estate company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (a)
019%F12A4R BRLT hE UEET ARH1000000007  AE100,000,0007C
BRZTEHERSARLAHE)  10Mach 2020 Limited fiabity PRC Property development RMB150,000,000 RMB150,000,000 40.00% 40.00%
Nantong Liangcai Real Estate company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (a)
221%3A108 BRAR e nER% ARE1500000000  AR¥150,000,0007
ERTAEEARLA(HE) 26 September 2019 Limted fabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000  28.00% 28,00%
Nantong Xinhe Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
(Note (a)
201959A2%6R BRRE i eSS ARE50000000  AR50,000,0007
ERAMREERARAR(HR) 16January2020  Limitediabilty ~ PRC Property development RVB200,000,000 RMB200000000  2601%  2601%
Nantong Haimen Ganghua Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (a)
2020%1A16A BRAT hE nERE ARH2000000007T  AFE#200,000,0007C
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RE MR R aR M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

33 FEMBRABFEE(E)

Date of Place of
incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment ~ activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
DEER HMAY/AIRY REsfER  EE/Huny  IEER iHh/BRAREA BéEn fERREILA
2024 2023
EEREELERDT 11February 2019 Limited ity PRC Property development RMB71,428,500 RMB71,429,000 70.00% 70.00%
Nantong Ganghua Enterprise Ltd. company
2019527118 BRLE g UESES ARETI428500T  ARETI429,000T
NEEREFERLA 28 June 2019 Limited fiabilty PRC Property development RMB51,000,000 RMB28,051,000 51.00% 51.00%
Rudong Gangrui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
201956288 BRAT s hxE% ARH51000000T  ARH28051,0007
WFEEELERLT 25 July 2019 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000 51.00% 51.00%
Rudong Gangda Real Estate Co., Ltd. company
201957A25R BRLE g UESES AREE0000000T  AR%50,000,0007
ZHEEERERLA 9 Qctober 2020 Limited liabilty PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RMB200,000,000 60.00% 60.00%
Anhui Gangfeng Real Estate Co., Lid. company
200£10A9R BRAT G hxE% ARH2000000007T  AR%2000000007T
BRAEERERLT 13January 2020 Limitedlabiity ~ PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RMB141070000  100.00%  100.00%
Yixing Gangheng Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
200051 A13R BRLE g UEEES ARH2000000007T  AEH141,070,0007
ENTHBEFERAA 30 Aprl 2019 Limited lebilty ~ PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RMBnl  51.00% 51.00%
Changzhou Kaiyang Property Co,, Ltd. company
2019548308 ARAA G hxE% ARH20,0000007 NEEET
EHEREERSERAT 25 May 2021 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB241,000,000 RMB40,000,000 50.00% 50.00%
Changzhou Hengvu Real Estate company
Development Co, Ltd.
A21F5A5H BRAR e IS ARB2410000000  AR40,000,0007
ENRZEZARAA (k) 6 August 2019 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development R\B350,000,000 RMB30,000000  40.00% 40.00%
Changzhou Gangjia Real Estate Co., company
Ltd. (Note (g))
2019%876H BRLT il UES ARHB00000007  AR%3500000007C
FAREEFARAT 4 January 2016 Umitediablty ~ PRC Property development RVB10,000,000 RMBAl  10000%  100.00%
Changshu Ganghua Property Co,, Ltd. company
201651 A4R BRLE e hxE% ARH10,0000007 NREET
BIERESERAR (M) 140cober 2020 Limitediabilty ~ PRC Property development ~~ RMB2,000,000,000 RMBnl  6000%  60.00%
Guangzhou Gangke Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (o))
ANFI0AMR  HBAF il UESES AKH2,000,0000007 AEEET
SNTEERHERSERAA Tduly 2017 Limited fiabilty PRC Property development RMBS0,000,000 RMB50,000,000 51.00% 51.00%
Guangzhou Gangke Real Estate company
Co, Ld.
017%7A7H BRAR hE nER% ARE0000000  AR50000,0007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

33 FEMBRARFEE(E)

Date of Place of
incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment ~ activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
DEER HMAY/AIRY  REsfER  EE/Hun¥  IEER ith/BRARE BiEx fERREILA
2024 2028
RALHEI FHERSERAA 130ctober2020  Limited fabiity ~ PRC Property development RMB300,000,000 RMB300,000,000 55.00% 55.00%
Chengdu Mingyang Meichuan Real company
Estate Development Co, Lid.
A0FI0A13R  BRAF nE nERE ARE000000007T  AR300,0000007C
NEZEEERLA (M) 16.June 2021 Limited fabiity ~ PRC Property development RVB400,000,000 RMBA0000000  6000%  60.00%
Yangzhou Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (o)
2021465 167 BRLT i EmE ARHA000000007  AEH400,000,0007
TNFEESERAR(MEH) 10 August 2018 Limtediabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB£0,000,000 RMB40,000,000 25,00% 25.00%
Hangzhou Chenrui Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (3)
201887108 ARAA G ESE ARH40000000T  ARE40,0000007
RelEESERLA SNovember 2019 Limtedlablty ~ PRC Property development USD15,000,000 USD7,650000  51.00% 51.00%
Dongtai Jinteng Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company (equivalent to (equivalent to
RMB103,458,000) RMB52,764,000)
2019511858 BRLE g ESES 15,000 000%70 76500007
(ER (BER
ARB103458000T)  AFR52,764,0007C)
HAZEEERAR 9 August 2013 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Jengsu Ganghua Property Co,, Lid company
201358A9R BRLA & UEEE ARH10,0000007 AREET
THEENRERERAT 10 Aprl 2018 Limitediabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB112,562,200 RMB62,562000  100.00%  100.00%
Yangzhou Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
2018F4A108 ARAA G ESE AREM2562200T  AR62,5620007T
AL HEFERAR OFcoray2010  Limtediablty ~ PRC Property development 306,800,000 USD5,000000  100.00%  100.00%
Jiangsu Ganglong Mingyang Real Estate company (ecuivalent to (equivelent to
Co, Ltd. RMB46,901,000) RMB34,486,000)
2010£2A9R BRLE I ESES 6,800,000 5000 000%70
(ER (ER
NEE46901,00070)  ARH34,4860007)
EARESERRAR 13 August 2007 Limtedliabilty ~ PRC Property development 1SD42,857,000 USD42857,000  100.00%  100.00%
Jiangsu Ganglong Reatty Group company (equivelent to (equivalent to
Co, Ltd. RMB295,593,000) RMB295,593,000)
2007F8A13R BRRE g ESES 1857005 T 48570008 T
(ER (BER
ARH2955930007)  AEH295,593,0007T)
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RE MR R aR M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

33 FEMBRABFEE(E)

Date of Place of
incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment ~ activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
DEER HMAY/AIRY  REsfER  EE/Hun¥  IEER ih/BRARE BiExn it 1 dst]
2024 2023
IEAREREZERAT 20Novemoer 2012 Limted bty PRC Property development USD53.061,000 USD1600000  100.00%  100.00%
Jiangsu Ganglong Huayang Real Estate company (equivalent to (equivelent to
Co, Ltd. RMB365,972,000) RMB11,036,000)
2012113208 BRA e VIELES 53,061,005 7 1,600,002 7
(ER (ER
NEESB5972000T)  ARE11,086,0007)
IERRIEZERAA(HE) 25February 2019 Limited liabifty PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMB67,000,000 34.00% 34.00%
Jiangsu Tongganghong Property company
Co., Ltd. (Note (a)
201927254 BRA e VLS ARE100000000T  AR67,000,0007
FNERLEEARAA 9December 2019 Limtediablty ~ PRO Property development RMB200,000,000 RMB200,000000  60.00% 60.00%
Taizhou Gangxinzheng Real Estate company
Co., Ltd.
2019%12A9A BRLT i UES ARH2000000007  AEH200,000,0007C
FNEZEZERAR (Hita) 17 May 2021 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB700,000,000 RMB700,000,000 34.00% 34.00%
Taizhou Ganghua Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
(Note (3)
2001%5R17R ARAA G hxE% ARHT000000007C  AR7000000007C
AREREZERAT %6November 2013 Limftediabiity ~ PRC Property development RMBS0,000,000 RMB10000000  100.00%  100.00%
Luoyang Ganglong Property Co., Ltd. company
MIENARA  HBAF g ERE AREB0000000T  ARE10000,0007
BERREZARAT(MEY) 3 February 2021 Limited fiabilty PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000 24.00% 24.00%
Hai An Hai Tai Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
(Note (a)
221%2A3A BRAR hE nER% ARE1000000007T  AR100,000,0007C
ERTARNERSARAA(NEE)  290ctober2018  Limtedlabity  PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RMB20,000000  2550% 25.50%
Hual'an Guochuang Real Estate company
Development Co., Lid. (Note (@)
WIFI0ANR  ARAF e hxE% ARE200000T  ARE200000007
ERMEEERARAA 7 August 2020 Limited fabiity ~ PRC Property development USDB6,730,000 USD29.093000  100.00%  100.00%
Huai'an Ganghua Real Estate Co., Ltd. company (equivalent to (equivelent to
RMB£60,250,000) RMB206,868,000)
20058A7R BRLE g UESES 66,730,005 299980005
(FER (FER
AR%4602500007)  ARH206,868,0007)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

33 FEMBRARFEE(E)

Date of Place of

incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
DEER HMAY/RIRY  REfER  EE/Hun¥  IEER iHh/ERAREA Bign fERREILA

2024 2023
BNETRLEERBERLE W) 5 Februay 2018 Limited liabilty PRC Property development RB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 25,00% 25.00%
Huzhou Haiwang Kangshan Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (a)

0185258 BRAA e I ARE10000000  ARE10,000,0007
SMSTRUEEERERAANER) 24 0ctober2017  Limtedliablty  PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RMB200,000000  25.00% 25,00%
Huzhou Haiwang Kangshan Property company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (a)

WITEI0AUR  HRAF i UESE ARH10000000T  ARH200,000,0007
BERTEEERAR (i) 24 July 2020 Limited fiabity PRC Property development RMB240,000,000 RMB240,000,000 35.00% 35.00%
Liyang Gangzheng Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (g)

200057 4R ERAE i ESE ARH2400000007T  AR%2400000007T
AEAREZERAT 19 September 2019 Limiedliabilty ~ PRC Property development R\B20,000,000 RMB20,000,000  50.00% 50.00%
Shaoxing Gangtong Real Estate Co., company
Ltd.

2019697198 BRAA e I ARE20000000T  AR20,000,0007
FRERELERAT 24 June 2019 Limited iabifty PRC Property development RWIB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000 70.00% 70.00%
Shaoxing Gangxing Property Co., Lid. company

201956A24H BRAR e NER% ARE100,000000  ARE100,000,0007
EEMABEZARA 4September 2020 Limited labllty PR Property development RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000  60.00% 60.00%
Yiwu Ganghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company

2059848 BRAA e VI ARE10000000  ARE10,000,0007
EREEEEARAA 19.June 2020 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMBnl  60.00% 60.00%
Wuhu Gangehun Real Estate Co., Ltd. company

200056A19R ARAA G EEE NR600000007T NEEET
ERERE M FERTNERLE 19 May 2020 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development R\B20,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Wuhu County Gangsheng Enterprise company
Management Consuting Co., Ltd.

200057198 BRAE e hxE% ARH20,0000007 NEEET
BNERRERERAA 19 June 2020 Limited fabiity ~ PRC Property development RMB70,000,000 RMBnl  6500%  65.00%
Wuhu County Gangda Real Estate company
Co, Ltd.

2000567198 BRLA g ELTS NRE70000 0007 AREET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

33 FEMBRABFEE(E)

Date of Place of
incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
DEER HMAY/AIRY  REsfER  EE/Huny  IEER iHh/ERARE BéEn fERRELA
2024 2023
HiEERuEERAA (i) 4 September 2019 Limited liabifty PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000 34.90% 34.90%
Suzhou Ruixing Real Estate company
Development Co., Lid. (Note (a)
201959748 BRAA e I ARE100000000  AR%100,000,0007
BiiEzE2ERAA 21 May 2018 Limited labiity ~ PRC Property development R\B100,000,000 RMBI00,000,000  100.00%  100.00%
Guizhou Ganghua Property Co,, Litd. company
201855A21H BRAR e nER% ARE100,000000  ARE100,000,0007
BEETAZERERLA 16 May 2016 Limted lebilty ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Lianyungang Ganghua Property company
Co, Ltd
201655A168 BRLE Gk hxE% ARH10,0000007 NEEET
ShEREZARLA 13 August 2020 Limited lebilty ~ PRC Property development R\B149,253,731 RMB149.254000  57.00% 57.00%
Fuyang Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. company
2000587138 BRLE e UESES ARB1953 731 \R%149,054,0007C
BIREEEERAA (i) 16 Aprl 2021 Limited fiabilty PRC Property development RMB540,000,000 RMBnil 34.00% 34.00%
Jingjiang Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (g)
2001547168 ERAE e hxE% ARE5400000007 NEEET
BYMSEERIRNERRERAT 17 ine 2021 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB400,000,000 RMB280,000,000 40.00% 40.00%
(Kt company
Yancheng Funing Gang Tong Hui Real
Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (Note (g))
2001%6A17R BRRE e hxE% ARE400000000T  AR280,0000007
BTENERRERLARLT 17December 2018 Limitedlabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RVB20,000000  10000%  100.00%
Yancheng Funing Gang Tong Hui Real company
Estate Development Co, Lid.
WSFIRAITA  HBAF i ELES ARE0000000T  AR%20000,0007
ElEEERERAA 4 August 2020 Limited fiabilty PRC Property development RMBS0,000,000 RMB50,000,000  100.00%  100.00%
Huangshan Ganglong Real Estate company
Co., Lid.
202048748 BRAR hE nER% ARE0000000m  AR50000,0007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M B RRMEE(E

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

The English names of PRC companies referred to above in this
note represents management’s best effort in translating the
Chinese names of those companies as no English name have
been registered or available.

Notes:

(@)

The Group has controlled these companies through agreements
entered into with certain non-controlling shareholders pursuant
to which the Group has the right to make decision on relevant
activities including but not limited to budget, pricing and
promotion strategies of these companies. As the Group has
exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with
those companies, and has the ability to affect those returns
through its majority voting position and the existing rights to
direct the relevant activities, these companies are thus accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The percentage of attributable equity interests presented is the
beneficiary interests held by the Group. The equity interests in
entities legally held by the Group are lower than the beneficiary
interests because of the existence of Type Il trust financing
arrangements, which involve transfer of equity interests in the
project companies to the lender and the Group will redeem
our equity interest in the relevant project companies at a
predetermined price affixed by the then valuation report in a fixed
term or an earlier date if certain business performance target are
achieved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B P RRMEE (R)

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
341 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (Note
34.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of financial position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This
is generally the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights, except for joint
arrangements as detailed in (c) below. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.
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mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
341 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends
on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and joint
ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured
long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
341 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Equity method (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 34.8.

Structured entities

For structured entities, the Group assesses whether
they should be consolidated based on the contractual
terms as to whether the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Third-party beneficiaries’ interests in the consolidated
structured entities with a limited life and are classified
as liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, and net profits or losses attributable
to third-party beneficiaries are recorded in consolidated
statement of profit or loss as “finance costs”.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
341 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(f)

Changes in ownership interests (Continued)
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in
carrying amount recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate
is reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B P RRMEE (R)

34 HMSFTBERME ()
34.2 EKE B

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.2 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable
assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred;

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as a bargain purchase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)

34.2 Business combinations (Continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to
their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount
rate used is the Group’s incremental borrowing rate, being
the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained
from an independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value
at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

34.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwiill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
34.4 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The CODM,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as the executive directors of the Company that makes
strategic decision.

34.5 Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year
end exchange rates are generally recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a net basis within “Other income and other gains,
net”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or
loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial
position

° income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates
of the transactions), and

° all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

()

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, as part of the gain
or loss on sale.

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation and any impairment loss. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements
HEMERE

Computer and office equipment
NS NG

Motor vehicles

o

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 34.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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34 HE st BERBIE (&)

347 REME

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.7 Investment properties

Investment properties are held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied
by the Group. They also include properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties. Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, included related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. Subsequently they are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined at each reporting
date by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market
prices, and adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the
information is and uses alternative valuation methods such
as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are presented in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of
a valuation gain or loss.

34.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.9 Financial instruments

(@)

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through OCI or through profit or loss), and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sale of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the assets. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

()

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction cost of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

—  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the statement
of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
34.9 Financial instruments (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains, net. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains, net and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains,
net in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

()

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other gains, net in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for
further details.
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mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
3410 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

3411 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
properties sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. See Note 34.9(d) for
impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies 34 HE#h&stBFEMHE (&)
(Continued)

3412 Contract assets and liabilities and costs for U SHEEREBBUNEESH

obtaining contracts

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from customer and
assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or
services to the customer. The combination of those rights
and performance obligations give rise to a net asset or a net
liability depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. The contract is an
asset and recognised as contract assets if the measure of
the remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is
a liability and recognised as contract liabilities if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer within prepayments if the Group
expects to recover these costs.

3413 Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash

and pledged time deposits

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less. Bank deposits
which are restricted to use are included in “restricted
cash” of the consolidated statement of financial position.
Time deposits pledged for notes payables of the Group
are included in “pledged time deposit” of the consolidated
statement of financial position. Restricted cash and pledged
time deposit are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back
or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company as treasury shares until the shares
are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are
subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the
related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to
the owners of the Company.

3415 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 HE st BERBIE (&)

34.16 18 FX R A8 TR AN

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
3416 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)

34.17 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries and associates and
joint ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely amount
or the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.

(o) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
3417 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
on the basis that the property will be recovered entirely
through use.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
3418 Employee benefits

(@)

(b)

()

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after
the end of the period in which the employees render the
related service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when
the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as
current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

The group companies incorporated in PRC contribute
based on certain percentage of the salaries of the
employees to a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan organised by relevant government authorities
in the PRC on a monthly basis. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations payable to all existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions made. Contributions to these defined
contributions plans are expensed as incurred.

Housing benefits, medical insurances and other
social insurances

PRC employees of the Group are entitled to participate
in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurance and other social insurance plan. The
Group contributes to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of these employees on a
monthly basis. The Group’s liability in respect of these
funds is limited to the contribution payable in each
period. Contributions to the housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurances are expensed as
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the
following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the
entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditures to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period.
The discount rate used to determine the present value, is
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.20 Earnings per share

(i)

(i)

Basic earnings per shares
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per shares

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

3421 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

34.22 Management and consultancy service income
Management and consultancy service income is recognised

in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.23 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Dividends
are recognised as other income and other gains, net in the
consolidated profit or loss when the right to receive payment
is established. This applies even if they are paid out of
preacquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of an investment. In this case, the
dividend is recognised in OCI if it relates to an investment at
FVOCI.

34.24 Leases

The Group leases various properties to operate as its office
premises. Property leases are typically made for fixed
periods of one to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain various different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets (included
in property, plant and equipment) and the corresponding
liabilities at the date of which the respective leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 HMSFTBERME ()

UUFHE(E)

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
3424 Leases (Continued)

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

o amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)

3424 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received. Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs, and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its
land and buildings that are presented within property, plant
and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-
use buildings held by the Group.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2024

34 HMSFTBERME ()

3424 HE (48)

HENFRAEER SR X T AR
R o WEEEEXMNE(REENEE
—REUHREN)  AIERREALE
e - BMERIAFE AR ULER
BRI - IR R R HEARS
HEMEEEEERUNEEMRES
WA ST o

REEEEBFKNE - HAl1T - AEE
SR ERNABASOIESHE=TT8
BIERILEE  UELRABRARKRAE
BE=NRENRBE GRS - 1
ENFRASEBERARNZBIELD
e o BERAEEE RN BRI -
ALK HEM A ERE IR E—
B o

EAREERNAE  BEATSE
15 :

o MHEABMVIFHEDH

o ARG BHSZ AT ERIEMIAE
BN REFRGNEMEER
B

o (EMIMEEEAA : K

o {BIEPNA ©

EREEE MRABREREEZ A
FHEBERME 2BREERE © A
SERAERTESTRBEEREE 8
EREEERABEEE 2 AFHT
E - -BEAEEHEZINYE  BE
RN L RBFEITEHEE -
BHEBEEIEMIEAKREMFAELZ
EREETZEE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies 34 HE#h&stBFEMHE (&)
(Continued)

34.24 Leases (Continued) U214 FHE (1)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of less than 12 months.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in
the consolidated statements of financial position based on
their nature.

34.25 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of:

° the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.
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Financial Summary

MBERE

(Amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) | (R4S RIFERRSN - SEEM AARE)

Results e
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARE®ETT ARETT ARETT AR®ETR
Revenue from contracts with customers ~ RERFA KU = 4,171,331 10,368,685 11,892,348 17,579,219 8,254,197
(Loss)/profit before income tax BREEEAI(BE),/ 57 1,023,623 1,503,803 1,075,388 1,546,137 (679,612)
Income tax expenses HiESyitaba (381,684) (401,622) (494,233) (827,694) (302,544)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive FN(EE)/ G REE
(expenses)/income for the year (F%), ez e 641,939 1,102,181 581,155 718,443 (982,156)
Attributable to: PATR A&
Owners of the Company ADREEA 960,748 480,936 121,886 147,972 (658,244)
Non-controlling interests FEERE R (318,809) 621,245 459,269 570,471 (323,912)
641,939 1,102,181 581,155 718,443 (982,156)
Assets and Liabilities LERAE
As at 31 December
W2A318
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TR
Total assets BEAS 46,246,196 56028274 46513298  31,608401 23,313,984
Total liabilities BERTE (41759,503)  (45,750,522)  (35,385,752) (20,260,215 15,235,843
Net assets BESH 4486693 10277752 11,127,546 11,348,186 8,078,141
Owners of the Company ADREARA 3,694,014 3,841,872 3,950,572 4,093,684 3,435,440
Non-controlling interests JEIR GRS 792,679 6,435,880 7,176,974 7,254,502 4,642,701
Total equity M 4486693 10,277,752 11,127,546 11,348,186 8,078,141
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